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Preface

I am intrigued and amazed to learn all of this about my family. In my heart, this is a sad conversation, but we all own who we are. The Wallises were not on the right side of history in the case of James Collins Johnson. But this case helped to get a lot of people thinking about the wrongfulness of slavery, and for that much we can be happy.

—Philip Severn Wallis, a member of the Princeton class of 1981 and a direct descendant of Philip Wallis (1793–1844), the enslaver of James Collins Johnson

James Collins fled slavery in Maryland in August 1839. He changed his name to James Collins Johnson along the way, apparently to obscure his identity. A few days after he fled, Johnson reached Princeton, New Jersey, where he obtained a job at the College of New Jersey, now known as Princeton University. Johnson worked on the college’s campus without incident until 1843, when disaster struck: Johnson was arrested on suspicion of being a fugitive slave after a student recognized him and alerted Johnson’s owner. Johnson’s owner came to Princeton and had Johnson seized and detained for trial as a runaway slave. Johnson was adjudged a slave and slated for return to slavery. However, he was redeemed from slavery by a local white woman who had significant ties to Princeton.

Johnson spent the next several years repaying the funds advanced for his purchase. He went on to become one of the best-known vendors over his six-decade career on campus. At his death, Johnson was described as “the oldest Negro in Princeton.” He was buried near what was then the whites-only section of the local cemetery, lying only a few feet away from some of the region’s and the country’s most prominent citizens. Alumni and students took up a collection for Johnson’s burial and erected a gravestone whose epitaph pays tribute to him as “the students’ friend.”

[image: Image]

Gravestone of James Collins Johnson, Princeton Cemetery. (Photo credit: Daryl Inniss.)

This is the story that I heard from a Princeton graduate as I sat sunning in the plaza in front of Firestone Library early in my freshman year at Princeton in 1979. As a stereotypical Los Angeles native, I was friendly, relaxed, and eager to talk to anyone who approached me. I was also a black woman who was the first in her family to attend college, and I had come to Princeton sight unseen. I wanted to learn all that I could about the university, and about the town surrounding it. So when the elderly white man in a vivid orange-and-black-striped reunion jacket asked if I wanted to hear the story of an “old-time colored man” at Princeton, I smiled and said, “Yes!” The story that I heard that day stayed with me for decades. A lover of fairy tales, I enjoyed the story’s happy ending. Then, as now, I relished the generative force of the tale to convey a particular sense of Princeton history and belonging, and I turned it over and over in my head.1 But understanding that few people’s lives can be so neatly summed up, I vowed to someday learn more about James Collins Johnson.

My research has shown that the truth of Johnson’s life both before and after his arrival in Princeton was likely far less sanguine than most stories suggest. While his life as an ostensibly free man was clearly an improvement over slavery in Maryland, neither the association of his Mid-Atlantic enslavement with oppression nor the association of his escape north to Princeton with freedom is likely accurate. Johnson’s life in Princeton was one of tremendous vicissitudes. In one interview he evidenced bitterness when he complained about a white Civil War veteran who had been given a campus vending permit, thus encroaching into his fiefdom. When told that his anger was misplaced because the white veteran had fought for Johnson’s freedom, Johnson sharply retorted: “I never got no free papers. Princeton College bought me; Princeton College owns me; and Princeton College has got to give me my living.”2 If Johnson was in fact unhappy at Princeton, one might wonder why he remained in the shadow of the university from his arrival in 1839 until his death in 1902. The answer lies perhaps in an observation of Lea VanderVelde, in writing about Dred Scott and his family: slavery and freedom are not clearly opposite poles. Instead, there are “gradations of liberty, security, and autonomy.”3

The story of Johnson’s trial, known at the time as the Princeton fugitive slave case, captured local and national popular imagination. Most accounts of Johnson’s trial and fuller life story agree on the basic details. Students, alumni, and other college figures framed Johnson as a puckish, picayune, and relatively minor figure who lived a humble, respectable life of service. For these narrators, Johnson symbolizes a fondly remembered earlier time at Princeton. His life is seemingly a counterparadigm for the so-called Great Man Theory that was popularized in the 1840s just as Johnson reached Princeton. According to this theory, history can be explained in substantial part by the impact of “great men”: highly influential individuals who are historically meaningful because of their power, intelligence, charisma, or wisdom. But the counternarrative argues that the people who constitute the broader society, the lesser-known individuals, are at the heart of the historical moment. By this reckoning, Johnson is much more than a minor historical glyph that appears in the background of better-known figures in the larger panorama of Princeton University history.

Princeton University was founded in Elizabeth, New Jersey, in 1746 as the College of New Jersey. This is the name by which it was known for 150 years, through its move to the town of Princeton in 1756 and until 1896. From its inception, it served the sons (and, beginning in 1969, the daughters) of America’s social, political, and economic elite. Through the generations, Princeton University became a site of memory and part of the American patrimony. Princeton was the alma mater and the ideological home of many of the nation’s founding fathers and of other key political and social figures in U.S. history. From June through November 1783, when the Continental Congress met at Nassau Hall, Princeton was the capital of the United States. Scholars at Princeton helped foster the growth of American ideals of political, intellectual, and religious freedom from the mid- and late eighteenth centuries until the early nineteenth century. At the same time that these ideals of freedom were flourishing at Princeton University, James Collins Johnson and other persons of African ancestry, both slave and free, lived in narrowly circumscribed social and political spaces in its shadows. Johnson’s presence at Princeton is a reminder that slavery and universities, though seemingly disparate topics, have long been intertwined. This book is part of a burgeoning area of inquiry: slavery and the memory of slavery in the context of universities.

The impact of the African slave trade and the enslavement of African-ancestored people in relation to institutions of higher education in the Atlantic world is an especially contentious thread in history. This contention occurs because the values and high ideals of academe are often framed in implicit but substantial contraposition to the horrors of human bondage. Enslaved people were often the backbone of the laboring class at eighteenth- and nineteenth-century college campuses.4 Related to the presence of this enslaved workforce, scholars at such institutions often shaped the content of proslavery thought and ideas, doing so in a manner that was coherent, organized, and evidence-based so as to legitimize the practice of slavery.5 Some educational institutions, such as the University of North Carolina, Brown, Harvard, the University of Alabama, the University of Virginia, Columbia, and the College of William and Mary, have in recent years considered their own involvement in the institution of slavery. Many of these institutions have united in a group of over three dozen colleges and universities called the Universities Studying Slavery consortium.

In addition, a growing number of scholars have also begun to address slavery in the higher education context. In one book, Ebony and Ivy: Race, Slavery, and the Troubled History of America’s Universities, Craig Steven Wilder discusses how leading colleges and universities in the United States depended on slavery for economic sustenance and how these academic centers sometimes promoted proslavery ideas.6 A set of edited volumes, Scarlet and Black: Slavery and Dispossession in Rutgers History, offers essays on Rutgers University’s (earlier known as Queen’s College) involvement with slavery, providing valuable discussions of slavery and higher education in New Jersey.7 A recent volume of the journal Slavery and Abolition discussed various aspects of slavery at several colleges and universities.8

Besides the way in which it centers the engagement of colleges and universities with slavery, Johnson’s story of emancipation by purchase is also part of a larger story of slave redemption. Antebellum manumission of slaves is often framed as the magnanimous act of a kind slave master. However, some research shows that a large number of emancipations occurred when owners were paid to free their slaves, with the payment often coming from slaves themselves. In 1839, the same year that Johnson escaped from Maryland slavery, over 40 percent of the free blacks in Cincinnati, Ohio, purchased their own freedom. In traditional accounts of his story, Johnson is framed as the fortunate beneficiary of a series of generous and just actions crowned by the indulgence of owners willing to accept a price for Johnson’s liberty. However, for James Collins Johnson the man, these acts of “generosity” and “justice” may have been part of the harsh reality of a world where slavery was a vital economic engine and where every enslaved person represented an investment.

As Edward Baptist shows in The Half Has Never Been Told: Slavery and the Making of American Capitalism, U.S. slavery, beyond being a brutal system of physical, social, and psychological oppression, was also crucial to the country’s geographic and economic growth.9 Johnson’s owners, the Wallises, were in a financially precarious situation at the time of the case. The family had descended from one of the wealthiest families in Maryland, one with roots in the early colonial history of the state. In 1843, at the time of Johnson’s fugitive slave trial, the family patriarch, Philip Wallis, lived on a farm in Yazoo City, Mississippi. The purchase of the farm was funded by the sale of the remnants of a greatly diminished family empire of slaves and land in Maryland. Rather than an act of generosity, the Wallises’ act of allowing Johnson to achieve emancipation by purchase is perhaps better seen as an act of economic pragmatism.

The nature of buying freedom is two-sided. While some slave owners such as the Wallises may have felt an economic compulsion to accept money for a legally enslaved James Collins Johnson, it is also the case that the antislavery activists who often funded emancipations by sale saw the practice as a way to quickly conclude what might otherwise have been a long and contentious battle with aggrieved slave owners. However, while emancipation by purchase was a potent tool for effecting freedom, it raised moral concerns: Did not paying the slave owner both validate and perpetuate the institution? The moral and ethical dilemmas such purchases evoke also arise in the context of modern-day human trafficking. While buying freedom is often framed as an antebellum phenomenon that lost its coherence as a legal and moral undertaking in the postemancipation world, contemporary slavery has made it relevant again.

One question raised in this book is the extent to which Johnson may have dissembled to hide his true feelings or engaged in strategic relationships with those around him. Some accounts reported that Johnson was a jovial, beloved campus friend to all. The seeming ordinariness and easygoing nature of those relationships is remarkable when one considers that many of the students at Princeton were slave owners, often heartfelt proslavery sympathizers from the South. Indeed, the claims of ongoing warm relations between Johnson and the white students he was surrounded with in the middle and late nineteenth century seem incredibly unlikely in what was then small-town, semirural Princeton.

That Johnson was a perennial good fellow who engaged in mirthful, warm relations with students may have been part of what James C. Scott has termed a public transcript: the visible, open interaction between the oppressed and those who dominate them.10 Johnson’s public persona may have been a stylized public performance crafted to negotiate the perils of an antebellum and, later, a postbellum world. Johnson appeared to embrace the respectability politics described by Cheryl D. Hicks in Talk with You Like a Woman, her account of black women in the criminal justice system in New York in the late 1800s.11 These efforts at uplift often dominated the lives of striving freedmen and their children, efforts, sometimes strained, and not always successful, to live better, do better, and be better. Indeed, a closer look suggests that all was not well between Johnson and the students. The students on their part often acted out a barely disguised disdain for Johnson through the rough jocularity that they aimed at him. As for Johnson, it is possible that he was a beleaguered, overburdened man who wore a mask of good-natured bonhomie to cover fatigue, bitterness, and anger. The process of unmasking Johnson to expose his real thoughts and feelings offers a look at the larger function of “Happy Negro” myths that were part of the social and legal justification for slavery and for the postslavery subjugation of blacks.12

Another intriguing question that research into Johnson’s life raises is the identity of Johnson’s betrayer. Several accounts identify one man as the person who revealed Johnson’s whereabouts to his master. However, there is a substantial amount of evidence, including details offered by Johnson’s owner and purportedly by Johnson himself, that the man most commonly identified as the betrayer was not, in fact, the betrayer. This part of Johnson’s story not only makes for an engaging whodunit in the context of his life but also addresses the broader questions of informant narratives, vulnerability, heroism, and culpability. Are those who expose persons who may be wrongdoers under the letter of the law but innocent victims in moral terms (such as escaped slaves or, in a contemporary context, undocumented aliens) to be lauded as good citizen whistleblowers or reviled as ill-motivated informants or collaborators?13

Perhaps one of the most intriguing questions this book addresses is whether Theodosia Ann Mary Prevost acted alone when she paid Johnson’s slave price. Most accounts agree that Johnson was redeemed from slavery by purchase and suggest that Prevost advanced the funds, either in whole or in part. But at an institution filled with the sons of many of the wealthiest men in the United States, it is curious that an unmarried woman of unexplained means would play so significant a role in such a matter. Prevost and her family had a long and close association with Princeton and with many of its principal figures. Even long after Johnson’s trial and redemption, she easily accessed and seemingly commanded persons in power at the college. Might Prevost have been a straw person in the transaction between Johnson and his owners, the public face of a college that, for numerous reasons, did not wish to involve itself directly with slavery? Johnson’s redemption thus addresses some of the ways that gender, race, and class governed institutional and legal interactions and cultures.

Research about James Collins Johnson reveals information about black food vendors who plied their wares at or near Princeton University in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Crucial figures in and around Princeton, these men dwelt in the margins between the black and white communities. Black vendors like Johnson and those who came before and after him were often seen as motley fools and framed as the butt of campus and community jokes. Johnson was certainly not the first; men such as Cezar Trent and Peter Scudder were two predecessors of Johnson who were well known in their time.

In the early decades of the college, Trent cut and hauled wood and performed other tasks for students, faculty, and administrators. In 1787, for example, Trent received money from Princeton for scrubbing the entrances to campus housing areas and cleaning the “back campus” and “necessary house”—the campus outhouse. Trent was a longtime resident of the town of Princeton and lived on what was known as African Lane, or more pejoratively, Nigger Lane, and now called Witherspoon Street. Trent was described in one account as a “native of Africa” and was remembered by one college figure as a jovial clown who entertained the public at holidays.14

Most such “natives of Africa” in the United States arrived as slaves in the antebellum period; Trent was born in Africa and was likely a slave for some period in his life. Given his close association with Princeton, one wonders whether Trent was the same enslaved Cezar purchased by Princeton president Aaron Burr Sr. in 1755 and who served him at his campus home when Burr took up residence in 1756. Trent in turn may have himself held slaves; advertisements in the 1790s show him as the advertiser in an advertisement seeking a runaway and as the seller of an enslaved person in another advertisement.15 Scudder, another late eighteenth-century Princeton servant, was sometimes called Peter Polite. He worked at the undergraduate college near the time of its founding and by 1801 was employed at the seminary. Scudder was described as a former slave. It seems that he was with the college for several decades; an 1827 note shows a Peter Scudder acknowledging receipt from John Maclean for $22.67 in satisfaction of “all demands.”16

Partly because he was the first of these vendors to live in the age of photography and widely disseminated media accounts, James Collins Johnson was by far the best known of these men. Much Princeton University history notes Johnson as such, and it is Johnson’s story that is at the center of the present book. But for all his notoriety, Princeton history has in many respects treated Johnson as an amalgam of what could be called the black Princeton vendor archetype: a lovable, laughable, and interchangeable cog in a system that valorized black obeisance in the guise of wandering food purveyor. Hence, in filling in the details of Johnson’s life, this book performs a conscious process of disaggregating him from and dismantling a facile archetype. The lives of Johnson and other black food vendors, especially those who came after Johnson, showed these men to be less fools than the idiomatic antithesis: sages or savvy knaves.
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Johnson standing with basket over his arm in posed scene with painted backdrop; circa 1872s. (Historical Photograph Collection: Individuals series, Box AC067. SP001, Folder 040; Princeton University Archives, Department of Rare Books and Special Collections, Princeton University Library.)

One vendor who came after Johnson was Archibald Campbell “Spader” Seruby, born some sixty years after Johnson on August 5, 1877, in Pennington, New Jersey.17 Seruby’s nickname, Spader, was said to grow from his similarity to a black vendor named Conover Spader who had visited the Princeton University community to sell foodstuffs sometime in the 1880s.18 Seruby was believed to have been attached to university service from his early youth; a photograph from around 1890 was said to show Johnson as an old man posed alongside a teenager said to be Spader.19 Seruby was clearly viewed as Johnson’s successor, as an item in the February 14, 1903, Princeton Alumni Weekly noted:
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Archibald “Spader” Seruby, 1920. (Historical Photograph Collection: Individuals series, box AC067.SP001, folder 080.001; Princeton University Archives, Department of Rare Books and Special Collections, Princeton University Library.)

We have the pleasure in introducing to the alumni and all Princeton visitors Mr. Archibald Campbell Seruby. He stands under the west arch of the University library, ready to sell you peanuts, and anxious to prove a worthy successor—as much as anyone can be—to the late Jimmy Johnson, Purveyor in Ordinary to the sweet tooth of Princeton, whose stutter and caramels will long be affectionately remembered by all old graduates of Nassau Hall.20

Like Johnson, Seruby was regularly present at athletic events at Princeton University.21 However, Seruby had a wider reach than Johnson and worked at public and private venues throughout central and southern New Jersey and beyond. Reports about Seruby often described him as a good-natured clown, much as Johnson was described.22 But Seruby’s public persona as a fun-loving harlequin was often belied by a more somber public presence. He was, for instance, known as an astute man with cash holdings and real estate who deftly avoided fully disclosing details of his financial status. More archly, Seruby was involved in frequent minor conflicts with police, courts, and other legal authorities. He was on several occasions arrested, charged, fined, or jailed for unlicensed food sales, disorderly conduct, and other infractions.23 Accounts of Seruby’s lawbreaking show him to be a man acting with an air of pleasant and pliant defiance, determined to succeed in the face of myriad barriers. Seruby died on September 24, 1935, leaving yet another void for Princetonians seeking itinerant food vending services.24
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William Taylor, undated, Nassau Street, Princeton, New Jersey. (Historical Photograph Collection: Individuals series, box LP1, image no. 294; Princeton University Archives, Department of Rare Books and Special Collections, Princeton University Library.)

Seruby’s absence was filled by William Taylor, also known as the Jigger Man. Taylor also served in the dual role of mascot and food vendor to members of the Princeton community. Born around 1872 in Virginia, Taylor served the Princeton community from 1904 until his death in 1949. Taylor and his predecessor black vendors were frequently compared, sometimes confused, and often linked.25 Like Johnson and Seruby, Taylor plied his wares from a pushcart that he wheeled throughout the town when not stationed at the university. And like both Johnson and Seruby, Taylor’s genial “Jigger Man” university persona obscured a serious and more reserved demeanor that is little revealed in most writings about him.

These black vendors, Johnson chief among them, served as models of success for the wider black community. Forays in entrepreneurship provided blacks in Princeton with some measures of economic independence and dignity from the mid-1800s until the dawn of the twentieth century. This sense of pride was sorely needed, for the twentieth century brought as many downs as ups for Princeton’s blacks.

Princeton University came into a new era of national and international renown at the end of the nineteenth century. Around the same time, the town of Princeton attained fame as a place of genteel social sensibilities, and large spacious homes and esteemed new residents (such as former U.S. president Grover Cleveland) appeared in the town.26 But while blacks in Princeton were well ingrained in the life of the town and at the university at the beginning of the twentieth century, relatively few blacks thrived. In the shadows of the noble buildings of the college and of the fine homes and residents of the town, black Princeton residents had few educational opportunities, were employed at scarcely better than subsistence wages, and frequently lived in squalid housing.

Five years after the death of James Collins Johnson, a 1907 Princeton Alumni Weekly article noted plans to provide bathing facilities for black servants employed in the dining halls and to make workplace bathing compulsory because “not ten percent of the two thousand negroes of Princeton have access to ordinary bathing facilities.”27 However, it appears that these plans never came to fruition and that blacks were fired on a mass scale; the premise was that they presented a danger of contaminating students.28 In 1917, fifteen years after Johnson’s death, Arthur Evans Wood, a University of Michigan sociologist, portrayed the Princeton black community as one where disorder, poverty, and illness were rampant.29

Wood conducted a house-by-house inspection of the black and immigrant white communities and chronicled what he described as conditions of extreme poverty, filth, allegations of immorality, and contagious disease. Wood’s study followed investigations conducted by David C. Bowen, the sanitary inspector for the state of New Jersey; Andrew C. Imbrie (Johnson’s principal biographer), a Princeton alumni trustee and financial secretary; and Lucy F. Friday, sanitary inspector of the university. All three reports were based on surveys that included areas of the town where black residences were clustered.30 Bowen’s report focused on the living conditions of black employees of the university.31 Perhaps most dismaying about the early nineteenth-century residential conditions for many blacks in Princeton was the way in which conditions had markedly declined since 1855, when Ann Maria Davison surveyed the living conditions of several black Princeton families and found that many lived in comfortable, clean, and even relatively prosperous conditions.32

Despite the attention to housing in the black community, little improvement occurred over the next ten years. In 1929 Baker Street, the core of Princeton’s black neighborhood, was demolished to make way for the Palmer Square development project. Some blacks who dwelt in this central area were relocated to other black areas of town.33 Though contemporaneous accounts of the 1929 removal highlighted efforts to find new homes for those dispossessed, a few decades later it was clear that this alternative housing had left some black Princeton dwellers in more dire straits. In the 1950s, after several months of investigation of the black community that had been partially relocated when the Baker Street area was razed, student reporters from a Princeton University magazine decried the crowding and decrepit housing.34 Some of these poor conditions abated in the next several years, but part of this improvement was tied to the influx of wealthier and often white residents.

The inexorable march of “progress” over the last few decades has caused significant erosion to Princeton’s historic black community. By the early 1980s there were clear signs of gentrification, as white families purchased homes in what had been a principally black area for decades.35 In the mid-1980s the black population in the town of Princeton was 15 percent, down from 20 percent in the 1970s.36 At the beginning of the twenty-first century, blacks in the town of Princeton were the only demographic group to see a loss of population.37 This loss occurred because of increasing taxes, pressure to sell from people seeking what were some of the last affordable housing units in town, and the ongoing spread of commercial interests.38

With the decline in the number of blacks in the town of Princeton in the past few decades has come some acknowledgment of the important role that people like James Collins Johnson played in the Princeton community and of the ways that historic and ongoing racist practices limited opportunity for blacks in the town and at the university. The Presbytery of New Brunswick researched historic racially animated harms to the traditionally black Witherspoon Presbyterian Church and in February 2015 promulgated a report recommending efforts at reconciliation and making financial amends.39 In November 2015 the Presbyterian Synod of the Northeast gave $175,000 to the Witherspoon Presbyterian Church so the church could redeem mortgages on the Robeson House, the birthplace of Paul Robeson and the parsonage occupied by his father, the Reverend William Drew Robeson, when he was pastor of the church.40 The Presbytery of New Brunswick also issued a formal apology for asking black members of the congregation to leave the predecessor of what is now Nassau Presbyterian Church in 1836 and expressed regret for the removal of Reverend Robeson from his post in 1900.41

The city has also taken actions to acknowledge the historic and contemporary importance of the black community in Princeton. In 2016 the Princeton City Council created the Witherspoon-Jackson historic district in order to help preserve a traditionally black section of town.42 The Princeton City Council also that year reinstated a long-dormant Civil Rights Commission and charged it with seeking informal resolutions to complaints of discrimination.43

Like the town of Princeton, Princeton University has also made efforts to offer address, if not redress, for some of its history of antiblack racism. Princeton enrolled no black undergraduates until the late 1940s. A handful of black students were enrolled in the 1950s and early 1960s. One such student, Dr. Robert Rivers, class of 1953, was the son of parents and grandparents who had worked at Princeton in the generations before he enrolled.44 In January 1962 there were only seven “American Negroes” enrolled on campus.45 Princeton articulated a plan to seek out a critical mass of black students beginning in 1967 and nine years later awarded 8.5 percent of bachelor’s degrees to black students. But despite a stated commitment to admitting black students, the percentage of blacks declined in subsequent years.46

Besides admitting black students, Princeton also made attempts to address the historic exclusion of black students once they arrived on campus, and what some have considered the historic diminution of black student concerns. For instance, on June 4, 2001, Judge Bruce Wright was awarded an honorary degree at Princeton as part of what was termed an apology for Princeton’s 1939 revocation of Wright’s admission after learning that he was black.47 In 2015 black students engaged in a series of protests over racist practices and conditions on the campus. One claim of the student protesters was that retaining Woodrow Wilson’s name on campus buildings constituted endorsement of Wilson’s role in maintaining the bar on black students at Princeton, and of his other racist actions. Princeton undertook a study to consider whether Wilson’s name should be removed.48 Although the Board of Trustees ultimately declined to remove Wilson’s name, the process of considering Wilson’s legacy led to some changes.49 A wall-sized portrait of Wilson in one of the dining halls was, for example, removed after being noted as “unduly celebratory” in view of Wilson’s mixed legacy.50 Perhaps the greatest achievement of this study was a statement by the trustees, however understated and subtle, acknowledging the fraught history of race relations at Princeton: “The committee acknowledges that over the course of Princeton’s 270-year history, there have been people connected to the University—influential alumni, generous benefactors, and celebrated professors—who have espoused views that are antithetical to our values today.”51

Besides efforts to address the historic exclusion of black students, Princeton also incorporated blacks into the faculty during the twentieth century. In 1955 Princeton appointed its first black tenure-track faculty member, Charles Twitchell Davis.52 In 1964 Carl Fields came to Princeton as a student aid administrator and in 1968 became the university’s first black dean. In the late 1960s Princeton hired Henry Drewry and Cecilia Hodges Drewry, a married couple, to serve as administrators and to offer black studies seminars. In 1973 Princeton hired Howard F. Taylor as a tenure-track professor in the sociology department. Taylor remained on the faculty until his retirement some twenty-five years later, and during those decades Princeton saw an increasing number of black faculty members, including renowned faculty figures such as Cornel West and Toni Morrison, esteemed university administrators such as Ruth Simmons and Valerie Smith,53 and the creation of a department of African American studies.54

A recent example of addressing historic racial injustice at Princeton was the creation of a course on Princeton University and slavery taught by the history department.55 The course was a precursor to the 2017 unveiling of the Princeton and Slavery Project, launched to investigate the university’s involvement with the institution of slavery.56 Most striking of all, Princeton University added the name of two formerly enslaved persons to campus architecture, including naming an arch after James Collins Johnson.57

Perhaps one of the most poignant and unanticipated aspects of this book on Johnson’s life has been the identification of some contemporary direct descendants of Johnson’s enslaver, Philip Wallis (1793–1844). Johnson also had direct descendants, but the trail runs relatively cold after the death of his youngest child, a daughter named Emily, and the early deaths of two of her children. Part of this absence of information is due to the paucity of public and private documents recording the lives of Johnson’s family. In contrast, the descendants of Johnson’s enslaver are relatively easier to trace, for, as one of the early settling European families in the United States, Wallis family history is discussed in several public and private sources. Among the numerous descendants of Philip Wallis are at least three Princeton alumni.58 In a trenchant irony, one of the youngest of those descendants, Philip Severn Wallis, class of 1981, shares the names of Johnson’s enslaver Philip Wallis and Wallis’s co-enslaver, son Severn Teackle Wallis. Though I did not know him at the time, Philip Severn Wallis was a schoolmate of mine, having been on campus for two of my Princeton undergraduate years.59 Near the end of my research on this manuscript, I had the chance to speak with him. While he knew something of his family’s history, he was unacquainted with much of his family’s Maryland connection and with the story of James Collins Johnson. The twenty-first-century Philip Wallis expressed dismay at learning the role that his ancestors had played in Johnson’s story. But he looked forward to sharing the story with his family and with incorporating this new knowledge into his thinking about issues of U.S. culture and race more broadly.

These efforts at recognition and reconciliation are hopeful signs for black-white relations in Princeton’s contemporary town and gown climate. These changes may be harbingers of hope well beyond Princeton University and its environs, in much the same way that the story of James Collins Johnson is a tale that exceeds its own boundaries. Johnson’s story is one of slavery in the Mid-Atlantic, of slavery in the context of universities, of antebellum black life in New Jersey and the northern United States, and of justice and law more broadly.


Timeline





	1600s–1700s




	1696

	The town of Princeton is settled.




	1746

	The College of New Jersey is founded in Elizabeth, New Jersey, by the Presbyterian Synod.




	1747

	Jonathan Dickinson is appointed first president of the College of New Jersey in April.

The college moves to the Newark parsonage of Aaron Burr Sr. after Dickinson’s death in October.




	1748

	Aaron Burr Sr. becomes the college’s second president.




	1756

	Nassau Hall and Maclean House (the president’s house) are completed.

The College of New Jersey moves from Newark to Princeton.




	1758

	Jonathan Edwards becomes third president of the College of New Jersey.




	1768

	Rev. John Witherspoon is installed as sixth president of the College of New Jersey. Witherspoon is a direct ancestor of Johnson’s benefactor, Theodosia Prevost.




	1777

	George Washington drives the British from Nassau Hall at the College of New Jersey.




	1783

	The Continental Congress meets in Nassau Hall, which served as the capitol of the United States from June to November.




	1793

	The Fugitive Slave Act of 1793 is enacted.




	1795

	Samuel Stanhope Smith, the maternal grandfather of Johnson’s rescuer Theodosia Prevost, becomes seventh president of the College of New Jersey.




	1798

	Betsey Stockton is born a slave in Princeton, New Jersey. Her owner is Robert Stockton (1703–1805), a quartermaster in the Revolutionary War.




	1800s

	



	1801

	Theodosia Ann Mary Prevost is born in New York City on January 10.




	1802

	Nassau Hall is gutted by fire and rebuilt.




	1804

	A New Jersey law provides that children of slaves born after July 4, 1804, are nominally free but must serve their master or the master’s agent for several years.

John Bartow Prevost, the father of Theodosia Prevost, becomes the first judge of the Superior Court of the Territory of Orleans. He serves from 1804 to 1808. Prevost and his family move to New Orleans.




	1812

	Samuel Stanhope Smith resigns as president of the College of New Jersey after an acrimonious battle with the trustees. He is given a house and a pension.

Ashbel Green, the enslaver of Betsey Stockton, is installed as eighth president of the College of New Jersey. Stockton lives with Green and his wife, Elizabeth Stockton Green (possibly a half-sister of the enslaved Betsey), on the Princeton campus.




	1816

	Severn Teackle Wallis, the son and co-owner of Johnson, is born on September 8 in Maryland.

James Collins, later James Collins Johnson, is born on October 2 in Maryland.




	1818

	John Bartow Prevost is appointed as an American commissioner to examine the state of Spanish colonies in South America. He moves to Peru, taking his two sons with him but leaving his two daughters, Theodosia and Frances, in the United States.




	1819

	Samuel Stanhope Smith dies on August 21.




	1822

	Betsey Stockton, one of the best-known enslaved people to live on the Princeton campus, is freed and allowed to travel to the Sandwich Islands (later Hawaii) as the first unmarried woman of any race to serve as a missionary there.




	1823

	James Carnahan becomes ninth president of the College of New Jersey.




	1831

	Nat Turner leads a rebellion of slaves in Virginia. In response, Maryland enacts a greater number of laws to control slaves and slavery.




	1835

	The Snow Riot, cited as the first race riot in Washington, D.C., takes place in August, incited in part by the man who was dispatched to arrest Johnson.




	1836

	Johnson marries for the first time to a woman named Phillis, who lived in Church Hill, Maryland.




	1837

	Philip Wallis, James Collins Johnson’s co-enslaver and father of Severn Teackle Wallis, moves to a plantation near Yazoo City, Mississippi, taking many of his Maryland slaves with him.




	1839

	James Collins Johnson escapes from slavery in Maryland and travels to Princeton, New Jersey, in early August.




	1842

	U.S. Supreme Court decides Prigg v. Pennsylvania on March 1, which narrowed the procedural rights of escaped slaves on trial.




	1843

	James Collins Johnson is captured on July 28 in Princeton. Johnson’s trial takes place on August 1.




	1844

	Philip Wallis, one of Johnson’s enslavers, dies on October 23 in the explosion of the steamboat Lucy Walker.




	1846

	First Presbyterian Church of Princeton (Colored) is formed for black Princetonians




	1850

	The Fugitive Slave Act of 1850 is passed on September 18 as part of the Compromise of 1850.




	1851

	Johnson purchases a house at 32 Witherspoon Street in Princeton.




	1852

	Johnson’s first wife, Phillis, dies, likely on July 17. Johnson marries Catherine McCrea on December 23.




	1854

	John Maclean Jr. installed as tenth president of the College of New Jersey.




	1855

	Nassau Hall is gutted by fire again and rebuilt again. James Collins Johnson establishes himself as a campus vendor after the fire.




	1857

	U.S. Supreme Court rules on Dred Scott v. Sandford on March 6.




	1861

	Civil War begins.




	1864

	Theodosia Prevost, Johnson’s benefactress, dies on December 13 in Englewood, New Jersey.




	1865

	Civil War ends.




	1868

	James McCosh of Scotland elected eleventh president of the College of New Jersey.




	1880

	Catherine McCrea Johnson dies on June 22.




	1888

	Francis L. Patton becomes twelfth president of the College of New Jersey.




	1895

	James Collins Johnson marries Anetta Webb Warden.

Emily Johnson Sorter Gordon, daughter of James Collins Johnson, dies.

Alexander Dumas Watkins becomes the first black instructor at Princeton University.




	1896

	The name of the College of New Jersey is changed to Princeton University. Professor Woodrow Wilson provides Princeton’s informal motto: “Princeton in the Nation’s Service.”




	1898

	Scholar, athlete, actor, and political activist Paul Robeson is born in Princeton on April 9. Robeson’s father, William Drew Robeson, was, like James Collins Johnson, a fugitive slave.




	1900s

	



	1901

	Belle Da Costa Greene, born Belle Marion Greener, begins working at the Princeton University Library. Greene, who later gained fame as the librarian for J. P. Morgan, was from an African-ancestored family and passed for white during much of her adult life.




	1902

	Woodrow Wilson, class of 1879, elected thirteenth president of Princeton University in June.

James Collins Johnson dies on July 22.







But perhaps the black man best known to the longest list of graduates is the now celebrated Jim Johnson. He will be found on the campus to-day, in silver spectacles and golfing-stockings, and he was there 50 years ago. He has bought the cast off clothes of the students for a half-century. When the author of this volume was in college, Jim used to furnish oyster suppers, and many a good pair of trousers has passed into his shop to square an account for a feast already eaten. Jim stuttered badly, and still stutters; and the students used to give him a shilling to say “Philadelphia” and other long words which threatened to suffocate him. Jim remembers every graduate, and called him by name; a shade of sorrow passes over his ebony face, fringed with gray beard, if the old friend does not “come down with a quarter.”

—James Waddel Alexander, Princeton—Old and New: Recollections of Undergraduate Life


Introduction

You would find daily on the walk between Whig and Clio Halls, a little old Negro with his push cart and his offering of molasses candy. He was small, shabby, insignificant, but not at all deserving of his malodorous sobriquet, Jim Stink. No one knew his real name or where he lived, but he was always there and in his day a pattern of industry and humility. There was always a smile under his battered derby. But when your mouth watered for his sweets and you asked the price just to hear his stuttered reply, it was always—“Ppppppenny ppppppiece Sir.”

—William H. Hudnut, class of 1886

The story of James Collins Johnson, like that of many lesser-known historical figures, suffers from the problem of factual scarcity. This paucity of information is especially true for enslaved persons. As the historian Annette Gordon-Reed wrote in describing the difficulties of seeking to “know” enslaved persons and the institution of U.S. slavery, a complex set of sources is required to paint a full picture: recollections of the enslaved, records of white enslavers, and information about the larger historical context.1 Little is known, for instance, of Johnson’s life in Maryland before he reached Princeton. Although some accounts tell us that Johnson had a “kind” master and that his enslavement was of the gentler sort, few facts about Johnson’s pre-Princeton past come across in most accounts. As for Johnson’s life after his arrival at Princeton, several stories describe him as a contented, jovial soul who reveled in his role as campus food purveyor and mascot. Johnson was creatively if not well dressed, often sporting the clothes of students who had sold or traded their attire to him.2 However, Johnson was also a much-changed man near the end of his life. By the end of the nineteenth century, Johnson was a familiar presence on campus, but one about whom little was known except the offensive nickname that followed him throughout his relationship with Princeton University: “Jim Stink.”

Although Johnson could apparently read and write, he appears to have left behind no writing of his own about himself.3 Thus Johnson’s life in Maryland before arriving in Princeton must be drawn from the broader social and legal context of life for enslaved persons in Maryland. Information may also be gleaned from drawing inferences about Johnson from the lives of his Maryland enslavers. Like Sally Hemings and her family, who were enslaved by Thomas Jefferson, Johnson was kept in bondage by the Wallises, a family well known within and outside Maryland.4 Johnson’s story after arriving in Princeton is far better documented. However, information about Johnson during this period is seen in the writings of persons who frequently had only scanty knowledge of the close details about Johnson, so again, the broader social and legal context must be used to construct what Johnson’s life was like in Princeton. Not surprisingly, even where there are archival materials, it is difficult to find first-person accounts of Johnson there. As Erica Armstrong Dunbar wrote about her search to document the life of Ona Judge, the escaped enslaved woman held by George Washington, it is difficult to find our subjects in the archives.5 Instead, powerful white men often gave voice to these subjects only incidentally through their own self-reflections. Because there is an absence of primary writings and material artifacts that Johnson generated or that originated with him, it is necessary to give existing written sources a close, critical, and often interlineal reading. It also calls for focused methods and the use of framing themes that help elucidate the life of James Collins Johnson.

Sources, Methods, and Themes

This work draws on a plethora of documentary materials: the minutes of Princeton college trustee meetings, federal and local census records, newspapers, photographs, family records, local histories, and other documents to reveal Johnson’s life story. Perhaps the most crucial source of information is records left by students themselves. Many Princeton students left direct and indirect references to James Collins Johnson in their student records. Student information sheets containing family information preface most of these records. These sheets, so painstakingly completed by Varnum Lansing Collins, help link students to each other and to Johnson. Collins was a graduate of Princeton, class of 1892, and served as the university’s secretary from 1917 to 1936. Collins had a lifelong passion for Princeton’s history and wrote several works on that theme.6 A significant number of undergraduate files contain handwritten notes and typed letters from Collins requesting that graduates and their families complete the biographical data forms. These forms and the letters that often accompanied them are a treasure trove of information.

Although the material records of the past found in archives, demographic materials, and published narrative accounts are presented in different rhetorical styles and may be interpreted through several methodologies, two methods are especially valuable: viewing Johnson’s story as a slave narrative and using a genealogical approach.

In addition to materials compiled during their student days and as part of student records, several students wrote nonfiction accounts of Johnson that offered a look at his life. Some of these, such as George R. Wallace’s Princeton Sketches: The Story of Nassau Hall, make passing references to Johnson.7 Two other nonfiction accounts, however, give vital information about him. The first is Andrew C. Imbrie’s biographical article on Johnson that appeared in 1895.8 The other is Marion Mills Miller’s 1948 “Jimmy Johnson, D.C.L.,” in which he recounts anecdotes about Johnson.9 Both of these student biographies of Johnson, though short, may be said to constitute slave narratives.

What counts as a slave narrative has been the focus of much debate over the years. Generally stated, slave narratives recount the personal experiences of African-ancestored people who escaped in antebellum North America.10 Although some accounts focus on Caribbean or Latin American slavery, for the most part the genre is centered on enslaved blacks in the southern United States who escaped slavery and made their way to free territory, typically in the northern United States or Canada. Some of the best known of these accounts are autobiographical in nature; perhaps the best known and most influential is Narrative of the Life of Frederick Douglass, an American Slave (1845).11 Other accounts consisted of stories that former slaves told to others, sometimes years after their enslavement. While these narratives typically centered on the enslaved person, they were often framed by the words of white interviewers or biographers and validated by testimonials, letters of reference, or other documents attesting to the veracity and reliability of the black subject and of the authenticity of his or her claims. The story of James Collins Johnson, especially as told to some interviewers later in his life, could be viewed as a slave narrative.

Sometimes validations by whites occurred not only at the time of publication but also many years after the account was written, as in the case of the 1968 republication of Solomon Northup’s 1853 narrative, Twelve Years a Slave, which details his 1841 kidnapping and enslavement and the dozen years he spent in servitude.12 The republication of Northup’s narrative was framed by the validation of white editor David Wilson at the time of its original publication, and over one hundred years later, it was validated again by Sue Eakin and Joseph Logsdon, who researched and retraced Northup’s account and pronounced it accurate. Similarly, an 1861 memoir by an escaped slave named Harriet Jacobs, Incidents in the Life of a Slave Girl,13 was not only supported by appended references from prominent whites at the time of publication but was also closely studied and validated by Jean Fagan Yellin in her 2004 publication, Harriet Jacobs: A Life.14 This confirmatory testimonial framing of many slave narratives was often deemed necessary because of concerns about the truth of such narratives and, especially in earlier times, about the intellectual capacity of the enslaved or formerly enslaved people who related these narratives. While the scholarly genre of the slave narrative is often enriched by such endeavors, the original work is altered by the double narrative.15

A subset of the genre of slave narratives, fugitive slave narratives, has been subjected to even closer scrutiny than the narratives of slaves who remained in the South until the general emancipation of slaves during the Civil War and after. There were sometimes similarities in the accounts of formerly enslaved persons who fled slavery, and it is possible that some fugitive narratives were influenced by others’ narratives. Johnson’s account of his flight from Maryland, for example, bears some similarities to accounts seen in the work of Frederick Douglass. Johnson’s narrative as it appears in the accounts of Imbrie and Mills also bears some resemblance to claims made in the account of another Maryland fugitive slave, Samuel Ringgold Ward, the author of Autobiography of a Fugitive Negro: His Anti-Slavery Labours in the United States, Canada, & England.16 Though Johnson’s story varies from Ward’s in many respects, there are some similarities. Both men described a three-day journey from Maryland to New Jersey in August, though Ward escaped in 1826 and Johnson in 1839. Like Johnson, Ward and his family escaped from Maryland and spent many years in New Jersey.

The narrative of two other Maryland fugitive slaves, James Watkins and Alexander Helmsley, also resembles Johnson’s narrative in some respects, such as leaving on a weekend and going in the middle of the night to bid good-bye to family and friends.17 These types of similarities sometimes caused critics to doubt the veracity of some slave narratives. However, similarity in certain details may simply be the result of common methods of escape. Moreover, even where some details in the accounts of fugitive slaves may be subject to challenges regarding veracity, intentional obfuscation was likely necessary to protect not only the escaped slave but also those who provided assistance and those who followed the escapee into freedom. Such intentional ambiguity may also have been used to preserve any truce, however uneasy, that may have been reached between the escapee and his enslaver or their heirs. This may be the reason that while many escape narratives portrayed the harshness of slavery and the crisis that fueled the narrator’s decision to escape, other narratives, like Johnson’s (who is known to have reached a freedom settlement with his enslavers), avoid describing specific details of servitude and painting it in a harsh light. Despite ambiguities, similarities, or missing details, many accounts of formerly enslaved persons have been deemed authentic and worthy of historical regard, even where some details may be subject to challenge.18

The story of James Collins Johnson is also revealed in fictional accounts by former Princeton students. It has often been the case that the stories of escaped or former slaves are explored through the medium of fiction.19 Samuel Bayard Dod wrote one of these novels, Stubble or Wheat?, in 1888. Dod was a member of the Princeton class of 1857. The book focuses on the undue pessimism of its Princeton-educated hero. In the book, a character called James, who closely resembles Johnson, is described as “easily located in his true ethnic relation to the second son of Noah. He was Hamitic without any doubt.”20 Another such book was His Majesty, Myself (1880) by William Mumford Baker, class of 1846.21 Baker’s book includes an account of the arrest of Caesar Courteous, a fictional character with close similarities to the real-life James Collins Johnson. The arrest of Caesar Courteous was said to draw on actual details about Johnson’s arrest that many nonfiction accounts omitted.22 Jesse Lynch Williams (Princeton class of 1892) wrote The Adventures of a Freshman (1899) and Princeton Stories (1916),23 both of which described James Collins Johnson. Other fictional books that included references to characters that resembled or were based on Johnson are A Princetonian (1899),24 by James Barnes (class of 1891); Mr. Christopher Katydid (1864), by Joseph Tuisco Wiswall (class of 1851);25 and Deering at Princeton (1914), by Latta Griwald (class of 1901).26 That James Collins Johnson, or characters closely based on him, lived in both the nonfictional and fictional renderings of these former students speaks to the role Johnson played in the realities and the imaginations of many students.

One important mechanism I use for learning about Johnson and the people who surround him is a genealogical approach. Here I am not referring to the methods of Michel Foucault and other critical theorists and philosophers. For Foucault, genealogy is not the search for origins or the identification of a linear historical development; his genealogy seeks to show the plural and sometimes contradictory pasts that reveal traces of the influence power has had on truth.27 Although this sort of critical methodology could be useful and indeed applicable in my work here, I mean genealogy in the more traditional sense: understanding and mapping the family lineage of James Collins Johnson and other figures in this book.

To do this work, I looked at the direct biological antecedents of many persons in this book along with biological collateral figures where it was relevant to do so, drawing chiefly on sources of demographic data such as censuses, birth and death certificates, immigration records, and other administrative records. The aim of genealogical research is to establish the origins and relationships of families and persons, who are often metaphorically depicted as trees and branches of trees. Some genealogists prefer the term family history to genealogy because the latter term implies a genetic connection that may not be real because of questionable parentage. While much contemporary genealogy is done by amateurs and purely for self-knowledge and amusement, the historical point of departure for detailed genealogical work was the nineteenth century, when it became clear that property transfers based on familial relationship were legitimate only in a context where there was certainty of ancestry. As people moved beyond small towns in circumscribed regions, such certainty could not be assumed. The irony of a genealogical approach here is that the biological antecedents of the book’s principal figure, James Collins Johnson, are unknown.

Genealogy and kinship commonly play a crucial role in the structure of societies, determining both social relations and group relationship to the past. For example, using links of kinship determined by marriage and descent, I explored the lives of the persons who are suspected of having betrayed Johnson. Genealogical exploration of the figures surrounding the incident revealed them to be either in kinship relationships or other close social relationships with each other. Similarly, a genealogical background helps illuminate the life of Theodosia Ann Mary Prevost, the woman who is most commonly described as Johnson’s primary benefactor.

Usages

In this work I refer to the College of New Jersey as the college and as Princeton or Princeton University. The College of New Jersey was the official name of the institution now known as Princeton University from 1746 until 1896, when it changed its name, underwent great physical and programmatic expansion, and officially became a university. Some historical documents cited also refer to the school as Nassau Hall after its iconic founding building, as Old Nassau, as Princeton College, and, more rarely, as New Jersey College. Because of the decision of Trenton State College to change its name to the College of New Jersey in 1996, the possibility exists for confusion with Princeton University’s predecessor institution. However, because most of my work is in the context of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, well before the college now known as the College of New Jersey (formerly Trenton State) came into existence, there is little probability of confusing the two institutions.

Because I often refer to the original College of New Jersey as Princeton, I distinguish between the college and the town of Princeton when necessary. Though European settlement of what is now the town of Princeton occurred in the 1600s, the first official use of the town’s name was in 1724.28 For decades, many parts of the municipality now known as Princeton were seen as separate geographic locales such as Stony Brook settlement, an area in the southeastern part of town at the intersection of Princeton Pike / Mercer Road and Quaker Road. Similarly, portions of what is now the northeastern section of the town of Princeton were formerly known as Queenstown and as Jugtown.29 As some early colonial documents cited in this book show, much of what is now known as Princeton was also referred to as Prince’s town and Princetown.30 In 1813 the borough of Princeton was incorporated as a municipal entity. In 1838 the contemporary geographic and governmental boundaries of Princeton began to take shape when Mercer County was formed from parts of Somerset and Middlesex Counties.

Some words recur with particular frequency in this book: may, likely, and probably. These words reflect some of the contingency of writing about history and law in a context where the book’s main character, like many African-ancestored enslaved persons, has little personal documentary history and lives at the margins of the events and in the shadows of many better-known figures.

Many of the figures in this book are connected to each other through biological kinship or close social ties. This is unsurprising in an eighteenth-and nineteenth-century world in which the U.S. upper classes consisted of relatively few European-descended families, knowledge of black people’s ancestry (especially of their white forebears) was often intentionally suppressed, and whites and blacks were strictly separated socially. Interestingly, while Johnson was apparently unrelated biologically to the elite white people surrounding him and was on the outside of their formal social circles, he was often the link between the people around him. This might have been a testimony to what was likely Johnson’s charismatic personality and his intense desire for freedom and independence. Even more intriguingly, Johnson often seems no more than a few degrees away from some of the most renowned and written-about people in U.S. history.

Indeed, one might playfully yet earnestly hypothesize a game called Six Degrees of James Collins Johnson, a takeoff on the parlor game Six Degrees of Kevin Bacon.31 In a hypothetical game of Six Degrees of James Collins Johnson, there is an inversion: naming any famous person who lived from the colonial period onward yields a link of only a few degrees to Johnson. Consider, for example, the first U.S. president, George Washington. Washington is linked to Johnson in a few ways: Washington’s wife, Martha Dandridge Custis Washington, was a cousin by marriage of Johnson’s enslaver Severn Teackle Wallis and his mother, Elizabeth Custis Teackle Wallis. In addition, Washington’s step-grandson and adopted son George Washington Parke Custis attended the College of New Jersey during the term of President Samuel Stanhope Smith, who took a close personal interest in young Custis.32 Smith was the grandfather of Johnson’s benefactor Theodosia Ann Mary Prevost. A similar link of a few degrees exists between Johnson and King Edward VIII.33 Yet another set of links exists between Johnson and Francis Scott Key and between Johnson and U.S. Supreme Court Justice Roger Taney.34 While such links create a useful framework from which to draw information about Johnson, there is little choice but to remain in the realm of contingent language, speculating on the specific details of Johnson’s mostly unrecorded life.

It should also be noted that I often eschew the more current expression African American in favor of black or African-ancestored. In keeping with the customs of the times, I sometimes use the words Negro (sometimes in lowercase) and colored. I also frequently use the word black to refer to people who themselves originated in or for whom a significant number of whose ancestors originated from the continent of Africa and who embraced contemporary social customs and norms associated with this ancestry. Just what to call such persons has long been a subject of some debate. The transition from Negro and colored to black and African American was the result of the efforts by persons of African ancestry in the 1960s to achieve a sense of racial pride.35

Ultimately, however, the word black, having become acceptable in public discourse, has remained as the most popular choice in written accounts and conversation. It has been estimated that African American is used only one out of three times over black by blacks themselves and even less often by nonblacks.36 Two likely reasons for the preference for black are the relative brevity and discursive adroitness of the word. I choose black for these reasons and for a third reason: black is not as historically or geographically limiting as African American, yet it is equally as or more culturally defining than the term African American.

Similarly, I use the lowercase word white to designate European-ancestored persons in the United States, as many other scholars have.37 The boundaries of whiteness are less stringently drawn in the contemporary United States as a result of the inclusion of pan-European identities. Racial mixing among whites and certain racial minority groups (chiefly Asians and Latinos) has also resulted in an expansion of whiteness, as these hybrid identities are embraced as white identities.38 But in the main, white throughout this work refers to the people descended chiefly from European forebears.

I often use as ideological and material contrasts derivatives of the words free and slave. By free and its derivatives, I typically mean the absence of legally sanctioned physical restraints and compulsions (either in the property sense or in the criminal law sense). Free would seem to need little explanation in the context of the antebellum United States, where human captivity was a legal and social reality for millions of people. However, slavery and freedom in the context of the U.S. antebellum world were not always at distinctly opposite poles. Indeed, as with the case of James Collins Johnson during parts of his life, there were often varying degrees of liberty, autonomy, and security depending on age, geographic location, and the social class of the whites with whom he interacted. This was no less true after his emancipation than it had been before.

It is common for many recent writings to refer to slaves as “enslaved persons.” This is a linguistic mechanism used to reinvest humanity in persons whose servitude often stripped them not only of autonomy but also of human dignity. I use both slave and enslaved interchangeably at times in this text. While “slave as chattel” was fundamental to the system of U.S. slavery, more crucial than the property aspects of slavery are the psychological and ideological factors embedded in the slavery system that dehumanized individuals. These factors acted to render the master authoritative and the slave subservient both within and outside the master-slave relationship. Understanding the enslavement and emancipation of James Collins Johnson thus requires an understanding that he ceased to be a “slave” not necessarily when his master ceased to pursue his claim over Johnson but when Johnson himself was able to control his own fate and forge a self-directed life of familial, civic, and social connections.

The word slave, which seems to need no explanation, is also subject to varying understandings, especially in a legal context. As Jean Allain notes, while there are many shared understandings of the legal definition of slavery in both historic and contemporary terms, especially centering on a property paradigm, the historic legal definition of slavery has nonetheless often been subject to numerous debates.39 It is mostly used here to refer to persons of primarily African ancestry in the United States who were legally held in bondage without compensation. However, as some scholars have observed, in many systems of slavery, and that includes the system under which Johnson worked, key attributes are also natal, civic, and social alienation: a sense of kinlessness, rootlessness, and social ignominy.40 These multiple forms of alienation often helped sustain and maintain the chattel relationship. Using the lesser status of “slave” as it appears in U.S. laws moves slavery away from its most facile description as a system wherein one person owns another.

Given the contested social acceptability and even morality of slavery, it is perhaps not surprising that many slave-owning whites in the North, especially at the college and in the town of Princeton, often referred to their slaves as “servants.” The goal of this euphemized term was to alter or obscure the perspective of both the enslaved and the enslaver, causing the former to envision a liberty that did not exist and allowing the latter to deny an ongoing oppression that very clearly did exist. As is evident from the life of Johnson and other such enslaved and formerly enslaved persons, slavery was recognizable regardless of varying linguistic forms that were used to obscure its existence.

Outline of the Book

This book consists of a preface, an introduction, and seven chapters. The preface addresses the general topic and the goals of the book, and offers an “ending at the beginning” view of life in and near Princeton University after the death of James Collins Johnson. The introduction frames the text by comparing similar genre works, defining some terms, discussing limitations and scope of the book, and describing methodologies and approaches to the materials. Chapter 1 discusses the life of James Collins Johnson in Maryland, along with the how and why of his escape. Chapter 2 details Johnson’s arrival in Princeton and his engagement at the college, providing a rarely seen picture of antebellum life at Princeton. This chapter also addresses the harrowing slave-like conditions of some aspects of life at the college and in the town of Princeton. Chapter 3 addresses the major conflict of Johnson’s young life: his betrayal and arrest. Although the typical story told identifies one student as the culprit, there are at least two other persons who may have been responsible for or involved in Johnson’s betrayal. Chapter 4 considers Johnson’s fugitive slave trial and offers a look at the lawyers and jurors who participated. Johnson’s young co-enslaver Severn Teackle Wallis was himself a lawyer, one who became one of the most prominent public figures in the South, and this fact may have helped shape the proceedings of the trial. Chapter 5 discusses Johnson’s redemption from slavery and seeks to shed light on how Johnson achieved his freedom. Particular attention is given to the woman typically described as Johnson’s benefactor. An enigmatic figure, she was affiliated with some of the most illustrious persons and families in the country. Chapter 6 describes Johnson’s life after the trial, filling in biographical details and challenging the image of Johnson as a happy-go-lucky figure with little existence independent of the college. Finally, the conclusion summarizes some of the book’s main points.


1

James Collins of Maryland, and His Escape from Slavery

For fifty-six years this old negro has been a familiar figure about the Princeton campus; he is known by nearly every living alumnus, and hundreds whom he saw graduate have long ago passed away. Myths and traditions have clustered about him, rumors have sprung up which in after years have been accepted as true, and stories are told which I fear cannot always be “mentioned in the presence of Mrs. Boffin” as Dickens would say. And yet, no one has ever undertaken the task of “writing him up.”

“Now wh-wh-wh-what d’ yo’ want?”

“Your history, Jim—your personal history. I have no doubt, Mr. Johnson, that there are few men in this country who can point to a career more interesting than yours, few men who can look back upon a life more adventurous and romantic—” “Ye-ye-ye-yes, sah,” he replied slowly, scratching his head reflectively. “But I neber tol’ nobody ’bout dat. Hones’ly, sah, I neber did.” “Will you tell me, then?” “Ye-ye-ye-yes, sah. I guess, den, I’d better begin at ’bout de time I was b-b-b-born.” I quietly assured him that such would be a very satisfactory starting point.

—Andrew C. Imbrie, from his 1895 interview with James Collins Johnson

Who was James Collins before he arrived in Princeton and became James Collins Johnson, and why and how did he flee Maryland in 1839? Details about Johnson’s Maryland life are sparse. As was true for many enslaved persons, few contemporaneous writings described his life during servitude. Even in the stories written about Johnson after his escape, including writings where he was interviewed, little was said of his early life. Though many enslaved families passed down oral histories, some of these stories tended to be lost due to forced family dissolutions after sales of the enslaved, escapes by the lucky few like Johnson, and by the even broader dispersal of some families after the general emancipation of enslaved blacks. Just as there is little information about Johnson’s life in Maryland, it is also difficult to know the precise cause for Johnson’s flight from Maryland and the details of his journey to freedom in New Jersey. Some indicators of Johnson’s ancestry and about his escape do remain, however, and these clues, taken together with the broader context of what is known about the lives of his enslavers, and the lives of other enslaved persons in Maryland, help provide a picture of Johnson’s early history and his flight.

Johnson’s Origins

James Collins (he was known as Collins while in Maryland and later added the surname Johnson) was born near Easton, Maryland, on October 2, 1816. His parents’ names are unknown. According to the account that Johnson gave to Andrew C. Imbrie, a member of the class of 1895, Johnson’s parents were owned by “Colonel Wallace.”1 This is a reference to Philip Wallis, the family patriarch when Johnson was born. By this same account, James Collins Johnson was given as a “gift” to Severn Teackle Wallis, one of the sons of his owner.2 Johnson apparently served the younger Wallis as both companion and body servant. Johnson’s fate was not unusual; enslaved children were sometimes presented as gifts to young white children.3 Though Johnson asserted that his parents were also owned by Philip Wallis, it is not clear whether his parents and other family members were in proximity in his childhood.4 They may not have been, as it was not unusual for young enslaved persons to be far apart from their families.5 As Frederick Douglass, also a native of the Eastern Shore of Maryland, noted in his writings about his own parentless childhood: “It is a common custom, in the part of Maryland from which I ran away, to part children from their mothers at a very early age. Frequently, before the child has reached its twelfth month, its mother is taken from it, and hired out on some farm a considerable distance off, and the child is placed under the care of an old woman, too old for field labor.”6

There are few other clues to the identity of Johnson’s family. A December 1839 article in the Baltimore Sun notes that Littleton and Emeline Collins, slaves of a P. Wallis, had escaped with “a quantity” of clothing.7 Described as a boy and girl, it is not clear whether they were in fact children or young adults; even adult blacks were sometimes called boys and girls. Because of their common surname, the escapees may have been siblings, spouses, or related in some other degree. The pair might just as well have been unrelated to each other and to James Collins Johnson. Collins was a common enough name, and the pair may have owed their common surname to a shared enslaver. The reference to “P. Wallis,” however, is a likely indicator of Philip Wallis, the elder.8 Wallis appeared frequently in Baltimore papers of the time and was designated often by his first initial only in several listings. If the pair were escaping from Philip Wallis, the “boy and girl” might have been enslaved persons related to James Collins Johnson. Johnson had fled Maryland just a few months before in August 1839; these might have been relatives who, encouraged by Johnson’s success, sought to follow. It is odd that Philip Wallis seems not to have advertised Johnson’s flight. While Wallis appeared fairly frequently in local news stories and advertisements, no mention of Johnson’s escape appears in news accounts until during and after his fugitive trial.

A more narrow clue about Johnson’s family came from what appears to be James Collins Johnson himself. Decades after Johnson’s escape from Maryland, in the aftermath of the U.S. Civil War, a James Collins of Princeton placed an advertisement seeking his brother Henry Collins, who had been owned by a Sarah Harris of Queen Anne’s County, Maryland.9 Perhaps one of the most significant emotional and practical burdens of formerly enslaved people after the Civil War was that of locating relatives from whom they had been separated. One common tool for seeking these family members was newspaper advertisements.10 It is difficult to learn more of Henry Collins, as the name is so common as to yield hundreds of results in a search of records of persons from Maryland born between 1800 and 1830, a period that would likely cover the birth of a sibling of Johnson. Similarly, Sarah Harris is also a common name. There are two possible Sarah Harrises to whom the advertisement might have referred, one married to a Robert Harris and the other to an Edward Harris. Though it does not discount the possibility that either of the Sarahs may have owned Henry Collins, neither they nor their husbands are indicated in slave census records as slave owners in 1860.11 There is also the possibility that Johnson may have misstated either the first name or the last name of his brother’s enslaver. There are, for example, several Harrisons who enslaved laborers in and around Queen Anne’s County.

Another possible clue to Johnson’s ancestry is the 1900 decennial census report, which indicates that Johnson’s parents were born in Africa.12 It is not clear whether Johnson himself made this claim about his parentage or whether some other informant, or census takers themselves, provided this information. If Johnson did provide this information, it is impossible to know whether he was serious: Johnson was known to Princeton students and faculty as a joker. However, census enumeration was a crucial governmental function that few persons, including Johnson, would have treated with levity. Census inaccuracies did sometimes occur, especially around factors such as age, names of informants and their families, or place of origin. Sometimes informants misled demographers to protect their identities or to avoid legal trouble. Johnson was himself using a pseudonymous surname once he reached Princeton, going back and forth between Collins and Johnson in census reports over the decades. Nonetheless, it has been asserted that the decennial census of 1900 was more accurate than any had been up to that period, especially as it concerned age and other background information.13

Even if Johnson had been inclined to joke or give false information to census takers, it is perhaps less likely that he would have done so in the 1900 census, when he approached his middle eighties, was subject to ill health, and had little reason to obscure details of his identity. Moreover, though the 1900 census was the first to ask informants the precise place of their parents’ birth, beginning in 1870 informants were asked if their parents were of foreign birth. While the 1880 census reports that Johnson’s parents were born in Maryland, on the 1870 report the box for foreign parents appears to be checked next to Johnson’s name. There is some ambiguity in these demarcations, however, as there is a check mark right on the line and not directly in the boxes for foreign born. Other persons in the area who indicated that they were born in England or Ireland (as were several persons in Princeton of the late 1800s) had clearly indicated tally marks placed directly in the boxes for foreign-born parents.

While it is possible that Johnson’s parents came from Africa, it not probable that his parents were transported directly from Africa to Maryland. The vast majority of documented arrivals of enslaved persons from Africa to Maryland arrived before 1774.14 However, it is possible that Johnson’s parents arrived from Africa either in a later Maryland cohort or disembarked from Africa in another state and were transported to Maryland. Between 1790 and 1816, scores of ships transported African captives to the United States, with most ships landing in South Carolina, Georgia, and Florida.15 Moreover, there is some evidence that as late as 1859, well after the 1808 ban on the importation of slaves into the United States, captured Africans were brought to the United States to be sold as slaves. The ship Clotilde (or Clotilda) is believed to be the last known U.S. slave ship to bring captives from Africa to the United States. The Clotilde arrived at Mobile Bay in Alabama in either 1859 or 1860 (sources are unclear) and carried somewhere over one hundred slaves.16

In 1836 Johnson apparently married a woman, Phillis, who had been manumitted by her enslaver and who lived nearby in a cottage at Church Hill, Maryland, about thirty miles from Easton.17 Marriages between enslaved blacks and freed blacks were apparently not unusual, as parts of Maryland, especially urban areas, had high numbers of freed blacks.18 Moreover, even when such couples married, they did not always cohabit the same household. This practice of marrying “abroad,” or away from an enslaved person’s primary residence, expanded the potential pool of marriage partners.19 However, such relationships were often difficult to sustain, given the difference in status between spouses, the possibility that the enslaved spouse might be sold or hired out far away, and the logistics of maintaining a regular family life when couples lived apart even when in geographic proximity.20 The little that is known of Phillis comes from Johnson’s interview in 1895.

The identity of Johnson’s family, and the details of his early life in Maryland, may be gleaned only by inference aided by limited clues, analogy, and reasoned conjecture. In contrast, much is known of the family of Johnson’s enslavers, the Wallises. Even with the tensions stemming from the vast status separation between blacks in bondage and their white enslavers, there existed at the same time a requisite physical proximity, as enslaved blacks like Johnson sometimes performed intimate personal care for their white enslavers such as bathing and dressing. This enforced vassalage meant that details of the lives of enslavers were much more known to the enslaved than vice versa.

Johnson’s Enslavers

James Collins was enslaved by the Wallis family, a Maryland Eastern Shore family with landholdings throughout the state. The Wallises were a prominent family with land in Kent, Talbot, and Queen Anne’s Counties, Maryland, and beyond.21 Many Wallises resided in Maryland, though in the middle and late nineteenth century many began moving to the southern United States.22 Samuel Wallis, the father of Philip Wallis, was a descendant of one of the early settlers of the colony of Maryland and one of its largest landholders.

Philip Wallis, the patriarch of the family when Johnson was born, was born May 17, 1793, in Baltimore, Maryland. On January 26, 1814, Philip Wallis married Elizabeth Custis Teackle. At the death of his father, Samuel Wallis, in 1807, Philip Wallis inherited a substantial amount of both real estate and personal property.23 Though wealthy, Philip Wallis apparently did not inherit all of the family property that his father owned. Some have surmised that this was because Samuel Wallis was not married to Philip’s mother, Bathsheba Eagle Cosden, the widow of a man named Jesse Cosden.24 Samuel Wallis’s will stipulated that his son Philip should not sell any of the land included in the estate until he was thirty years old.25 This age stipulation may have been meant to prevent Philip Wallis from too rapidly consuming his inheritance. It is not clear that the stipulation did its intended work, however. Philip Wallis was a teenager at the 1807 death of his father. When he reached the age of twenty-one in 1814, and for the next several years, local newspapers were filled with advertisements for land that Philip Wallis had inherited from his father. One such advertisement mentioned that land would be “sold low, if immediate application be made.”26 Samuel Wallis’s concern with his son’s potential intemperate spending may have been well warranted. Records suggest that Philip Wallis was a sportsman with involvement in horse racing and breeding; his name appeared frequently in listings of thoroughbred horse owners and breeders in the early nineteenth century.27 He was a participant in several races throughout the 1830s.28

Philip Wallis engaged in a variety of professional activities, but no single activity seemed to predominate. Wallis had studied law but never practiced. He was often involved in local and regional politics in roles such as Baltimore councilman for what was then the seventh ward, bank commissioner, and a member of various committees and delegations.29 Wallis apparently felt grievances deeply, and he was frequently involved in lawsuits either to collect on debts, as in the case of foreclosures, or to vindicate himself. He was also apparently a man of sharp words, and on more than one occasion he was involved in legal or other official actions as a result.

For example, in the 1810 case Wheatley v. Wallis, Wallis’s overseer sued him for slander after Wallis accused him of stealing corn and wheat.30 Wallis prevailed when the court found that an employee may be charged with stealing goods belonging to the employer even when the goods have been entrusted to the employee. In the years after the American Revolution, Wallis suffered financial losses that he felt were attributable to French seizures of cargoes in which he held an interest, and he spent years pressing for compensation. Wallis also sought government compensation for private losses occasioned by the War of 1812.31 In 1839, a few months before Johnson’s escape, the Baltimore City Council censured Philip Wallis for making threats against another council member.32 An April 15, 1839, notice in the Baltimore Sun from Wallis indicated that he contested the censure entered against him by the council. Wallis indicated that he wished for the public to reserve judgment in the matter until he had the opportunity to fully refute the claims.33

It is unclear how many enslaved people Philip Wallis held over the course of his life. Besides those he inherited, there is some evidence of his purchase of the enslaved, such as a July 1814 advertisement through which Philip Wallis sought to purchase a “Negro man who has been accustomed to full charge of horses, etc.”34 Wallis offered a “liberal place” for such a slave.35 However, this pledge of liberality may have been less an indication of kindness and more an acknowledgment of the fact that some Maryland enslaved people during this period were allowed a say in their own placements and would have sought fair if not pleasant working and living conditions before making a change.36 In addition, skilled enslaved persons such as horsemen were especially valuable, and obtaining the services of such a person, even an enslaved person, would have required a conciliatory approach to engaging someone. For much of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, enslaved grooms and jockeys had relatively greater autonomy than other enslaved persons, and even sometimes traveled on their own to interstate venues.37

Wallis apparently came into some of his slave ownership through his father’s will, which left slaves to him in 1807.38 At least one of the slaves he inherited from his father fled bondage, as advertisements in April and May 1814 indicate. In these notices, Philip Wallis sought to recover an escaped slave named Abraham, whom he described as having been owned by Samuel Wallis.39 Abraham had apparently escaped while being leased.40 Philip Wallis also parted with some enslaved people by sale, as a May 1815 advertisement shows. The advertisement indicates that Clark Stone had purchased an enslaved man named Jacob from Philip Wallis. Jacob apparently fled captivity after Stone purchased him.41 Besides those he owned, Philip Wallis leased enslaved laborers. In 1815 he had the “use of” an enslaved man, a girl, and a boy belonging to a Frederick Boyer and an enslaved man and woman belonging to a Stephen Boyer.42
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Portrait of Severn Teackle Wallis by Thomas Cromwell Corner, 1896. (Owned by the Maryland Historical Society Museum Department.)

Though Philip Wallis was the nominal head of his home and owner of the enslaved persons in his home, his second child, Severn Teackle Wallis, was frequently listed as the owner or the co-owner of James Collins Johnson in accounts about Johnson’s fugitive trial, perhaps giving some credence to Johnson’s claims of having been presented to Severn Teackle Wallis as a “gift.” Born on September 8, 1816, in Baltimore, Severn Teackle was just one month older than Johnson, and the two spent much of their childhood as playmates. Though Johnson claimed an Easton birthplace, he very likely spent much of his youth in Baltimore, as Philip Wallis and his wife took up residence at their Charles Street home in Baltimore the same year that Johnson was born, and all the Wallis children were born there.43 The 1830 census lists five enslaved people in residence at his house on North Charles Street, opposite the residence of the Roman Catholic archbishop of Baltimore.44 One of these enslaved people could have been a teenaged James Collins Johnson.

While there is no indication that Johnson fared better in servitude than many of his fellow enslaved Maryland workers who were engaged in agricultural or industrial concerns, the work of an enslaved household worker was typically less onerous than that of enslaved people employed in agriculture or heavy industry. Indeed, many of the brief accounts of Johnson’s life in bondage suggest that he had a “kind master.” It is difficult to surmise whether Philip Wallis was an easy or harsh taskmaster. Too often, such accolades were from enslavers and not the enslaved. As the abolitionist Theodore Dwight Weld wrote in 1838, “The old falsehood that the slave is kindly treated, shallow and stupid as it is, has lullabied to sleep four-fifths of the free north and west.”45 Domestic enslavement in Maryland urban areas during the 1830s and 1840s could be as perilous and violent as any other setting of enslavement.

For example, Isaac Mason, an enslaved man owned by Wallis family kinsman Hugh Wallis, detailed horrific beatings while serving a term of leased enslavement as a domestic worker in Chestertown, Maryland, in the 1830s and 1840s.46 Chestertown was the county seat for Kent County and was, according to Mason, “quite a thriving place, having five thousand or more inhabitants,” many of them wealthy families.47 In a counter to common understandings about the harshness of agricultural labor in rural settings relative to the ease of domestic work in urban environments, Mason did not achieve relief from constant beatings until he was allowed to return to rural farm labor.48 After Mason was threatened with being sold south to Louisiana, he escaped, traveling first to Philadelphia (as had Johnson) and eventually making his way to Worcester, Massachusetts.49

However, even if Johnson experienced a relatively less onerous domestic or urban enslavement, this would not have altered the essential fact of being human chattel. Moreover, even if conditions within the Philip Wallis family made Johnson’s enslavement less harsh than that of some other enslaved people, he still contended with wider practices of slavery all around him that, even though sometimes described as benign, were often anything but.

Maryland Slavery in the 1830s

Maryland slavery was a long-entrenched institution; it existed from before 1650 during the colonial period until the state abolished slavery in 1864.50 Maryland slavery was frequently described as benign in comparison with slavery practiced in more southern states. Such descriptions belie the fact that even in its supposedly mild form, enslavement often involved physical violence, psychological trauma, forced separation from family, and the stripping away of identity. Frederick Douglass, a contemporary of James Collins Johnson, addressed the claims of benign enslavement in his autobiography, My Bondage and My Freedom: “It is generally supposed that slavery, in the State of Maryland, exists in its mildest form, and that it is totally divested of those harsh and terrible peculiarities, which mark and characterize the slave system, in the southern and south-western states.”51 Yet as Douglass pointed out, even in Maryland

there are certain secluded and out-of-the-way places … seldom visited by a single ray of healthy public sentiment,—where slavery, wrapt in its own congenial, midnight darkness, can, and does develop all its malign and shocking characteristics, where it can be indecent without shame, cruel without shuddering, and murderous without apprehension or fear of exposure.52

Moreover, slavery, as a system of multigenerational uncompensated labor, was often maintained not only by overt physical violence but also by the “soft” compulsions exerted by inducements to loyalty. These included attempts to promote within slaves “family feeling” for their enslavers, and appeals to the personal integrity or religious duty owed by “good slaves.”53 Enslaved persons like Johnson were often framed as “willing” participants in a well-ordered system in which whites held all the power, thereby making a choice to not serve impossible.54 But even with these efforts to paint a pretty picture of slavery, many Maryland whites knew, even if they did not acknowledge, that Maryland slavery in the immediate antebellum decades could frequently be as harsh as any enslavement.

Some Maryland slaveholders were known to be especially cruel.55 In describing the history of Talbot County, Maryland, the ancestral home county of some of Johnson’s enslavers, Oswald Tilghman was careful to observe that domestic servitude at the home of the plantation owner Edward Lloyd, the owner of the plantation where Douglass worked during part of his youth,56 was of the “mildest and least objectionable character” and that Lloyd was, in his domestic setting, “kindly almost to affectionateness” toward his slaves.57 Nonetheless, Tilghman agreed that plantation slavery such as that practiced by Lloyd58 was likely “rendered in a more heavy and galling manner than he wished them to be, or than they were elsewhere in the county.”59 As in most places where slavery was practiced in the United States, the chains of Maryland slavery were sustained by more than large-scale institutional practices; the quotidian social practices of ostensibly benevolent individual citizens also served to terrorize and subjugate enslaved blacks.

Other Eastern Shore slave owners were also known to be severe with their slaves. One such owner, Ezekiel Forman Chambers, had a particularly harsh reputation.60 Chambers, a staunch proslavery advocate, was adamantly opposed to black freedom and played a major role in state and local efforts to suppress resistance to the continuation of slavery. One of Chambers’s slaves, Harriet Fuller, managed to escape using the Underground Railroad. Of Ezekiel Forman Chambers, Fuller later said, “He is no man for freedom, bless you … he would hire them [slaves] to any kind of a master, if he half killed you.”61

In the midst of the debate about the conditions of Maryland slavery, one fact spoke for itself: many enslaved people fled the state in search of freedom. Little is known of most of these escapees. Other Maryland slaves became the subject of some of the most famous slave escapes in history, with the two best-known escapees being Harriet Tubman and Frederick Douglass. Some of these fugitives, like Tubman and Douglass, offered written accounts of their lives and escapes.62 With the possibility of black freedom visible all around him, Johnson may have longed to join the ranks of the emancipated.

Johnson’s Escape from Maryland—Why, and How?

Johnson’s motivations for escape from Maryland were likely highly unique to his own circumstances, even if his means of leaving were shared by some other enslaved persons. Even given the particular reasons for his escape, his flight from Maryland occurred near the beginning of what would become a steadily increasing exodus of slaves fleeing from the South to the North. Although there were exceptions, the mechanisms of flight, and the reasons for doing so, can be broadly categorized. Enslaved Marylanders in the 1830s found themselves in a peculiar space where enslavement was allegedly benign and where the free black population was growing steadily. Cities like Baltimore rivaled Philadelphia and New Orleans for the number of free people of African ancestry present.63 Attitudes toward slavery often leaned toward emancipation in Baltimore, as some residents adopted the attitudes of some northern antislavery, free labor activists.64 Even whites who supported slavery sometimes used freed and enslaved blacks in the same setting. As early as 1820 Johnson’s enslaver listed both free and enslaved blacks in his household.65 At the same time, Maryland’s rural regions depended heavily on enslaved labor, and increasing numbers of enslaved blacks were being sent farther south to staff plantations cut out of recently opened lands in Mississippi, Louisiana, and Alabama.

The motivations for escape from slavery, while varying from person to person, often began with the slaves themselves. As one commentator wrote: “Among the many weak spots in the system of slavery, there were none like the locomotive power of the slaves.”66 While the fundamental basis of slavery was people as property, slaves were property like no other. Slaves were “things” who could observe freedom all around them, “things” who could dream of a better life, and “things” who could, ultimately, travel north and out of slavery.67 However, some enslavers gave enslaved persons little credit for either envisioning or enacting their own freedom.

Instead, using rhetoric that was seen over a century later to blame black civil rights activism on “outside” agitators,68 enslavers frequently blamed white abolitionists and free blacks for enticing enslaved people away from what enslavers often believed was a contented servitude. This image of the enslaved as pawns of outside forces was far from accurate, however. James Collins Johnson, like other enslaved people similarly situated, may have fled Maryland first and foremost in response to the possibility of unencumbered liberty. According to the U.S. Census, there were over 2.8 million free blacks in the United States in 1840.69 Johnson may simply have wanted to join the rapidly increasing group of blacks living in freedom. Johnson may also have fled because of his fear of being sent farther South. Finally, Johnson may have fled Maryland to avoid the growing thicket of rules and norms that consigned even free blacks and blacks with liberal masters to harsh and immensely circumscribed social and civic lives.

The lure of northern freedom may have been the clearest incentive for Johnson’s flight. As the practice of slavery was inconsistent with American ideals of freedom, it was largely abolished in most northern states well before the U.S. Civil War. Even in northern states such as New Jersey, where the practice of slavery continued in some form long after it had ended in other states above the Mason-Dixon Line, abolitionist pressures led to a drastic reduction in the number of slaves in the North by the 1830s. This diminution in slavery made New Jersey an attractive place for slaves from southern states, especially for Maryland slaves. Maryland slaves such as Johnson were daily confronted with the realities and possibilities of liberty thanks to the steady increase in abolitionist thought in Maryland and the ever-growing number of free blacks in the decades after the American Revolution. From the time of his birth, Johnson experienced the relative nearness of northern freedom and the liberty that local free blacks enjoyed. Johnson and other Maryland slaves like him navigated the tension between the present constraints of slavery and the future hope of freedom.

The fear of being sold farther South was a well-founded fear for many Mid-Atlantic slaves. This was in significant part because in the early and mid-1800s, an increasing number of slaves from the Eastern Shore of Maryland were sold to provide labor for the growing plantation economies of the Lower South.70 While slavery diminished in the North and in the Upper South throughout the decades after the American Revolution, it continued in full force in most of the South and grew substantially in some parts of the Lower South in response to heightened demands for labor after the American Revolution. As many scholars have noted, after the Migration and Importation clause of the U.S. Constitution foreclosed additional slave imports from Africa in 1808, the only legitimate source for additional slaves was in U.S. domestic markets.

This closure of the African slave trade increased prices for U.S. slaves and began what Ira Berlin has called “the Second Middle Passage,” the large-scale movement of slaves from the Mid-Atlantic and seaboard regions to states well below the Mason-Dixon Line and in the interior of the United States.71 This vast movement of slaves helped transform both the economic aspects of slavery in Maryland and other states and the political and cultural milieu of slavery. Johnson may have had particular reason to dread being sent farther south; his owners had acquired land in Louisiana in the early 1830s.72 Philip Wallis apparently complained of financial difficulties shortly after that land acquisition.73 Soon thereafter the family established a Mississippi plantation.

Johnson, having been enslaved in the Wallis household for his entire life, may have been more aware than others of what appears to have been the family’s steady financial decline. In 1828 Wallis sold one of the jewels of his inherited property, a Chesterton mansion that came to be known as the Wallis-Wickes House.74 In 1837 Wallis began the move to a plantation he owned near Yazoo City, Mississippi, following his son and namesake Philip Custis Wallis, who had managed the Mississippi holdings for several years.75 By 1840 the elder Wallis had apparently moved his remaining Maryland slaves south, as he indicated in a newspaper advertisement in March 1840.76 In the advertisement Wallis sought to sell his five-hundred-acre farm called Secale Hall.77 The 1840 census showed Philip Custis Wallis as the owner of twenty slaves of all ages at his Yazoo City farm. The youngest was a female slave under five and the eldest was a woman between the ages of thirty-six and fifty-four.78 As nothing is known of Johnson’s parents or other members of his family of origin, it is difficult to speculate about whether his siblings (if any) or parents are included in these numbers. By 1842 the elder Wallis had listed even his longtime Baltimore home on North Charles Street for sale.79 In 1842 Wallis was also the defendant in a foreclosure suit against one of his Charles Street lots.80 James Collins Johnson likely knew that many of those with whom he had been enslaved were being sent south and may well have sought to avoid this fate.81

Philip Wallis the elder died a little over a year after Johnson’s fugitive slave trial, on October 23, 1844. Wallis was in transit to his Mississippi plantation when he died in the explosion of the steamboat Lucy Walker on the Ohio River.82 At his death in 1844, Wallis had a 320-acre plantation and sixteen slaves.83 Severn Teackle Wallis, as executor of his father’s estate, placed the plantation, its equipment, and its slaves for sale, indicating that “all property, in preference, be sold together.”84 This proviso presumably included the sixteen slaves, who were described as young male and female slave hands, all of whom were of “likely and prime quality” and whose children were “very promising.”85 By 1850 Philip Wallis the younger owned only four slaves, and instead of listing his primary work as agriculture, he listed his occupation as steamboat captain.86 But for his escape to Princeton, New Jersey, Johnson might have been one of the Mississippi slaves placed for sale at the death of his master in 1844.

Maryland Slavery and Law in the 1830s

Besides the lure of northern freedom and the fear of being sent farther south, perhaps another reason for Johnson’s flight from Maryland was the fixedness of slavery and the growing morass of social and legal norms that governed black life in Maryland. When Johnson fled slavery in Maryland, he was leaving a place where he had no immediate hope of attaining freedom through a general emancipation of enslaved people. Maryland, like some other states in the Upper South, experienced turmoil between abolitionists and proslavery forces throughout its history. One result of this ongoing conflict between Maryland antislavery activists and those who embraced slavery was efforts to reduce the number of enslaved blacks in the state; a relatively large number of antebellum emancipations took place in Maryland compared with other slave states. Nonetheless, slavery remained firmly entrenched and widely pervasive until the Civil War, in both Maryland law and society.

Slavery in Maryland relied on legal norms that rendered human bondage conceptually clear and legally supportable. These norms, however, could not entirely eliminate what some viewed as the inherent conflict between slavery and democracy. Thus much formal regulation of slavery in Maryland depended on a Byzantine structure of locally codified practices that often reflected differing opinions on slavery. In this atmosphere of contention over slavery, escapes occurred with increasing frequency. In response, there was greater effort to put into place top-down, territory-wide legislative norms. Hence Maryland laws dating back as far as the 1700s attempted to curtail the number of runaways by restricting the movements of slaves and by levying penalties on those who provided assistance to runaways. By the 1830s the institution of slavery in Maryland, as in most southern states, was under even greater pressure from abolitionist agitation and from growing doubt about the moral and ethical rightness of slavery. Nat Turner’s 1831 rebellion in Virginia raised fear throughout the slaveholding states of widespread slave uprisings, and this fear, coupled with the ever-increasing bans on slavery in nearby northern states, created an atmosphere in which Maryland slavery was under continual assault. To cope with the growing climate of insecurity surrounding slavery during this period, slaveholders first sought to develop what they believed to be a more humane system of slavery that employed sublegal social norms.

This new system allowed enslaved people more personal liberty in and around their places of employ. Some slaves routinely traveled between plantations on their own. Some, like Johnson, even had spouses who belonged to other owners or who were free.87 This seemingly lax social milieu for slaves was constrained, however, by a hefty social counterweight. In this more liberal atmosphere, enslavers relied increasingly on trusted slaves and freed blacks to help police the boundaries of slavery and freedom by betraying blacks who sought to escape or who otherwise violated rules. Maryland slave owners also developed private mutual aid associations that helped protect slave property. One such example was a Kent County “Mutual Aid Society” whereby individual enslavers policed slaves and insured each other for possible slave loss.88

During the same period that enslavers sought more private, informal norms to govern slavery, however, Maryland lawmakers enacted increasingly detailed sets of measures covering a broad range of matters related to slaves and slavery, all of which were also designed to protect and sustain the institution of slavery. Many of these legislative norms were meant to punish infractions, while others sought to induce whites to comply in light of the fact that a growing number of whites were dubious about the institution of slavery. In 1831, in response to Nat Turner’s rebellion, the Maryland legislature barred free blacks from carrying arms, fearing that Maryland free blacks might aid slave insurrections. That year the legislature also actively adopted African colonization as a policy for relocating freed slaves, thereby mollifying some antislavery forces and providing a release valve for freed slaves. Also enacted in 1831 was a law barring the importation of slaves from out of state. While seemingly a measure to ultimately limit slavery in Maryland, the act barring slave imports was subject to numerous exceptions, such as for nonresident slave owners who sought to bring their slaves to Maryland, for slave owners who brought in slaves who had previously lived in Maryland, and for out-of-state slaves married to Maryland slaves.89 Indeed, the measure to limit slave imports into Maryland was so shot through with exceptions that only the barest threads of prohibition on entering slaves remained.

Subsequent Maryland legislation not only sought to penalize those who aided slaves but also offered monetary inducements to those who prevented escapes or helped recover slaves. Both law enforcement officers and private citizens could receive rewards for capturing runaway slaves.90 Some legislative measures sought to articulate the legality of slavery in Maryland through positive law. In 1839, the year of Johnson’s escape, one Maryland act declared affirmatively what had previously been presumed: an owner of slaves was entitled to the slave’s services for life.91

Hence the pull of freedom in nearby northern states, the possibility of being sold south, and an ever-proliferating web of social and legal norms that diminished the lives of both enslaved and free blacks were all potent reasons that likely fueled the escape of Johnson and many other Maryland slaves. While many fleeing slaves were likely self-motivated, this did not mean that they acted without assistance. Most successful flights typically required assistance and planning, and some slaves were able to obtain aid from sympathetic persons. Some help came from small groups of persons who banded together and dedicated themselves to aiding slave escapes. Some of these groups adopted the metaphoric name “Underground Railroad” in reference to the literal railroads that began to cross the country during this period.92

Maryland slaves who used the Underground Railroad often escaped through a route that crossed into Delaware, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and New York. Though Maryland’s proximity to the North meant that there was a steady stream of fugitive slaves from the state, escape was by no means easy, and a number of obstacles had to be surmounted even after an individual reached a free state. Pennsylvania, for example, offered both attractions and dangers for Maryland fugitives. On the one hand, large groups of successful free blacks lived in Pennsylvania, especially in Philadelphia, and they often provided support and community for newly arrived blacks. On the other hand, because of its nearby location, Pennsylvania was typically one of the first places that Maryland enslavers looked for escaped slaves. Maryland slave catchers frequently not only sought actual fugitives in Pennsylvania but were also accused of laying claim to free blacks.93 Similarly, though New York offered a larger population and thus a greater possibility of hiding among the masses, it was also heavily patrolled by slave catchers and kidnappers.94 To combat this danger, in 1835 David Ruggles, a free-born black man, formed New York City’s Committee of Vigilance, a group comprising working- and middle-class blacks and whites.95 Members of the Committee of Vigilance helped thousands to escape, often by sending them farther north to Canada. Members of the organization assisted by keeping a close watch for pursuers, donating money to assist fugitives, and, at times, by physically combating pursuers and kidnappers.96 Hence, while Maryland fugitives who reached Pennsylvania or New York could experience the benefits of freedom in a large urban environment, they also faced heightened perils of apprehension.

An alternate strategy for escaping to far northern locations called for fugitives to blend into smaller communities along the route, as Johnson did.97 The Vigilant Committee of Philadelphia sometimes helped fugitives with this task. The Committee was the secret fund-raising and electoral division of the Vigilant Association of Philadelphia, formed in 1837 by Robert Purvis, a wealthy mixed-race man from Charleston, Virginia. Purvis was a dedicated abolitionist, and he and others helped make Philadelphia an important stop along the Underground Railroad. Purvis and his organization aided fugitives who sought to travel to larger cities or Canada, as well as those who sought to hide in smaller venues.

Did Johnson have help in effecting his escape to New Jersey? Did he use the services of Purvis or another established operative on the Underground Railroad? It is difficult to know the answers to these questions. The Vigilant Committee kept records of the cases the group handled between June 4, 1839, and March 3, 1840, the period during which Johnson would have been traveling from the site of his Maryland enslavement.98 These records indicate that some of the slaves escaping did so during the summer months, as did Johnson, probably due to better weather and more daylight. Most of the slaves the documents refer to are not named, a move likely undertaken to protect them from capture. Hence it is difficult to know if Johnson sought their help. There is one record of the committee from late July 1839 denoting “a man from the Eastern shore of Maryland” sent to “P_____s, Willow Grove.”99 The expenses for the man were fifty cents.100 “P_____s” is apparently the partially redacted name of the person aiding the fugitive. The distance between Willow Grove and Princeton is about eighty miles. This might have been James Collins Johnson.

Perhaps one of the most significant sources of information about Johnson’s escape from Maryland to New Jersey is the account of his escape that Johnson gave in an 1895 interview with Andrew C. Imbrie, a student at Princeton from 1891 to 1895. Imbrie was the son of Charles Frederick Imbrie and Charlotte Martha Clerk Imbrie. He was a member of the third generation in his family to attend Princeton; his maternal uncle, father, and paternal grandfather had attended before him. Via these relatives, Andrew C. Imbrie knew the story of James Collins Johnson long before he actually met him.

Imbrie’s maternal uncle, Andrew Harris Clerk, was a member of the College of New Jersey class of 1888. Clerk, the half-brother of Imbrie’s mother, Charlotte Martha Clerk Imbrie, was an invalid for much his life. Because Clerk was only seven years older than Andrew C. Imbrie, and because his infirmity likely caused him to lead a sedentary life at home, the two may have shared an intimacy and friendship greater than that typical for nephew and uncle. Although there is no evidence that Clerk had any special knowledge of Johnson, Johnson was a large presence on campus during Clerk’s years, and Clerk also may have been the source of some of Imbrie’s knowledge about and interest in attending Princeton and in the life of Johnson.

Andrew C. Imbrie’s father, Charles Frederick Imbrie, was a member of the Princeton undergraduate class of 1870. Johnson was apparently acquainted with Charles Frederick Imbrie while he was a student at the college. Andrew C. Imbrie wrote in a letter to his mother dated March 10, 1895, that he was aware of the story of Johnson, whom he refers to as Jim_____, the blank signifying Stink, a familiar but then obscene name for Johnson.101 On March 24, 1895, Imbrie wrote that he had begun his interview with Johnson.102 On April 7, 1895, Imbrie wrote that he would finish his interview with Johnson on April 8, 1895. Imbrie’s article on Johnson appeared in a campus publication in late April 1895.103

In an earlier letter to his mother, Andrew C. Imbrie wrote that Johnson had told him that he knew Charles Frederick Imbrie during his years at the college.104 Charles Frederick Imbrie’s acquaintance with Johnson is perhaps not surprising given that the elder Imbrie evidenced sympathy for the plight of blacks in other matters. This is seen in some of his recollections as recorded in a volume of Imbrie family history. Charles Frederick Imbrie’s reminisces on the 1863 draft riots in New York and their spread to New Jersey are of particular consequence. Imbrie described “terrified people in New York” and “many colored people—against whom the anger of the mob was directed.”105 Charles Frederick Imbrie recalled that many New York blacks fled to Jersey City, where the Imbries then lived and where Charles Frederick’s father, Charles Kisselman Imbrie, served as minister of the First Presbyterian Church. During the draft riots, the Imbries and other sympathetic whites helped hide fleeing blacks “until law and order should prevail.”106 Charles Kisselman Imbrie, a trustee of the College of New Jersey for thirty years, a member of the class of 1835, a graduate of the seminary in 1839, and a tutor of undergraduates at Princeton from 1838 until 1840, was another potential source of Andrew C. Imbrie’s knowledge of and sympathy for Johnson.107

Imbrie had thus likely learned some details of Johnson’s history through his father, his grandfather, and a maternal uncle before coming to Princeton. Imbrie, apparently intrigued by what he had heard of Johnson and by his own observations on campus, set out to interview Johnson and did so between March 24, 1895, and April 8, 1895.108 Much of what is known about Johnson’s life before arriving at Princeton comes from Andrew C. Imbrie’s writings. Imbrie was a member of Whig Hall, one of the campus debating societies, and was also a member of the Philadelphia Society, a religious organization. Like his father before him, Andrew C. Imbrie was a prolific writer. He was a journalist for the college magazine the Nassau Literary Magazine.

According to the account Imbrie wrote, Johnson escaped Maryland when opportunity presented itself. This happened, Imbrie wrote, when Johnson’s master gave him five dollars for an errand. Instead of completing the errand, Johnson fled on Thursday, August 8, 1839, walking from Maryland to Wilmington, Delaware, a journey of about eighty miles. From Wilmington, Johnson took a steamboat to Philadelphia, and from there he boarded a train to Trenton, New Jersey. From Trenton, Johnson took a train to Princeton, arriving there on Saturday, August 10, 1839.

Did Johnson provide Imbrie with the actual dates of his escape? Was Johnson in transit for only two days, and where did he take shelter during this period? Was Johnson’s arrival in Princeton purely accidental? The latter question is especially intriguing. Despite Johnson’s assertions that he arrived in Princeton almost by chance, it seems more likely that he must have had some plan. Though Johnson shared some details of his escape during his lifetime, he did not tell all. Johnson acknowledged his silence about some of the details of his escape; in an 1895 Maryland newspaper article, he seemed to indicate that he had help in escaping but refused to divulge more.109 It seems improbable that so important and potentially perilous an undertaking as an escape from slavery could have been decided on haphazardly and without some significant degree of prior planning and knowledge of an escape route. There are many gaps in the story of Johnson’s escape, beginning with Johnson’s departure from Maryland.

Though there is some possibility that Johnson’s departure from Maryland may have started at Baltimore, where his enslaver’s family lived for much of Johnson’s early life, in most accounts Johnson’s escape is said to have begun from near Easton, Maryland. Philip Wallis owned a plantation in Queen Anne’s County, and this may have been the site from which Johnson escaped. Johnson indicated that he walked from the farm to Church Hill, Maryland, where his wife of a few years lived. Johnson’s wife, who was probably named Phillis, was a free woman who lived in her own cabin. Johnson visited Phyllis to bid her good-bye and tell her that he would send for her when he reached freedom.

Johnson said that he took the Wilmington road from Church Hill and reached Wilmington, Delaware, at 4 o’clock in the afternoon on August 9, 1839. The steamboat he took from Wilmington that afternoon arrived in Philadelphia in the early evening. He stayed the night in Philadelphia and from there took a train to Trenton, New Jersey, in the morning.110 Johnson remained the rest of the day and the following night in Trenton, hoping to go as far north as possible. When he presented his remaining money for a train ticket, he received a ticket to Princeton, which was as far as the money would take him.

Reviewing the reported details of Johnson’s trip suggests that much of it was possible. The parts of his journey that seem most difficult to envisage are his walks from Easton to Church Hill and from Church Hill to Wilmington. Assuming that the Church Hill mentioned in the Imbrie article is the same as the present-day community of Church Hill, Maryland, the distance from Easton to Church Hill is about thirty miles, not three, as the Imbrie article indicates. This would have meant a walk of nine hours or so. The distance from Church Hill to Wilmington was about sixty miles (though Johnson reports it as forty) and would have required about seventeen hours’ walking time. Though somewhat improbable, the time Johnson reported that he arrived in Wilmington, Delaware (4 p.m. on August 9), does allow time for the lengthy journey on foot, assuming that he kept up a rapid pace and met no opposition.

The steamboat portion of Johnson’s journey is more easily conceivable. In 1839 steamboats to Philadelphia ran frequently from Wilmington. The steamboat Newcastle, for example, made regular round trips between Wilmington and Philadelphia beginning in 1835.111 The steamboat Telegraph carried passengers between Wilmington and Philadelphia in connection with rail travel during this period as well. During the middle and late 1830s there was so much competition among steamboats on the Wilmington-Philadelphia route that the fares fluctuated from as high as five dollars to fifty cents or less.112 Johnson may even have traded work for boat fare: at least one account of his steamboat journey says that Johnson was hired on as a cook on the steamboat, despite his apparently limited skill in this area.113

Johnson’s use of a steamboat for part of his journey may have stemmed from either first- or close secondhand knowledge of such watercraft. Many blacks in Maryland were familiar with steamboats and other watercraft and their routes, as it was the practice for blacks to work as seamen in the region during the early to mid-1800s.114 Blacks formed part of boat crews dating from the earliest days of transit in the Mid-Atlantic region.115 Indeed, blacks made up a large part of the workforce on watercraft in many parts of the country.116 Escape by boat thus proved to be especially attractive to enslaved persons even after the enactment of harsher laws in Maryland that made black boat travelers more subject to scrutiny. Escape by water was popular not only among fugitives from Maryland and other Mid-Atlantic states but also among enslaved people living along waterways in interior regions of the country. It was this reality that caused Maryland legislators to enact laws that required owners of watercraft sailing in Maryland waters to have on board at least one supervising white man over the age of eighteen.117 Failure to abide by this rule resulted in mandatory forfeiture of the craft or the value of the craft; half of the funds went to the state and the other half to the informer.118 Despite such laws, boats sometimes figured prominently in reports of escapes of enslaved blacks who lived and worked along waterways.119

Maryland, like other slaveholding areas close to waterways, saw its own tide of slave flight by watercraft. The flow of slaves out of Maryland through steamboat and train travel grew so large that in 1838 the legislature passed an act prohibiting any slave from traveling on a steamboat or train unless he or she was in the company of a master or had a signed pass.120 Captains and railroads were subject to a fine of $500 for each violation. Owners of runaway slaves could recover full value from a railroad or boat line involved in an escape.121

The best-known Maryland escapee who traveled by boat and train in his bid for freedom was Frederick Douglass. Though in an early account of his flight from slavery Douglass intentionally withheld most of the details of his escape from Maryland, Douglass noted even in his early writings that he made his escape from a plantation in Easton in September 1838.122 In later writings, Douglass offered more details of his escape.123 Unlike Johnson, Douglass took a train from Maryland, his departure smoothed by the fact that he was wearing borrowed clothing and papers that identified him as a seaman.124

Like Johnson, Douglass boarded a ferry from Wilmington to Philadelphia. Douglass, however, continued by train from Philadelphia to New York, where he, like James Collins Johnson, also adopted the pseudonym Johnson before later changing his surname to Douglass. In New York Douglass married his first wife, Anna Murray, who had accompanied him. Murray, like Johnson’s first wife, Phillis, was a free black Marylander.

The similarities in the lives of Douglass and Johnson may have been little more than coincidence, given that the general methods of escape, the choice of a free black spouse, and even the choice of the pseudonym Johnson were common for enslaved persons during this period. However, there is the possibility that Johnson may have had some interaction with Douglass that informed his actions leading up to his escape and afterward. In his later life Johnson claimed that his enslaver’s plantation was near that of Douglass’s enslavers and that he had been acquainted with Douglass during their youth. Perhaps most tantalizingly, Johnson claimed that Douglass had urged him to run away in 1838 but that Johnson had stayed back because of his wife. There is little to substantiate these claims, however.125 Douglass spent much of his youth before his escape at locations in and around the Eastern Shore of Maryland. Johnson was based at times in Talbot County, but likely spent much of his youth in Baltimore, where Philip Wallis moved his family in 1816.

Johnson’s description of the next-to-last leg of his journey, from Philadelphia to Trenton by train, is the least detailed portion of his story. Johnson indicates three travel days from Maryland to Princeton, from August 8 through August 10, but his claim that he stayed in Trenton does not fit with this timetable. Johnson reports spending the night in both Philadelphia and Trenton, but this would have placed him in Princeton on August 11 rather than August 10. This gap could be attributable to a simple error in memory; after all, over fifty years had passed from the time of Johnson’s escape and his telling of the details. The gap could also have been part of an intentional effort to obscure the details. Although many decades had passed since Johnson’s flight from Maryland, it was possible that if he received help, his benefactors or their immediate descendants were still alive. Even in the postbellum United States, abolitionism was sometimes popularly associated with radical social and religious groups and thus was to be eschewed in polite company.126

Even in and around Princeton during the 1830s, antislavery activists were sometimes met with disdain or threats of violence. In an 1835 letter to a friend in Beaufort, South Carolina, Thomas March Clark, then a student at the Princeton Theological Seminary, described the disturbance caused by a man soliciting for an abolitionist newsletter:

The Abolition excitement seems to have burst out of late with great vigor. We hear but little said on the subject in Princeton. There are not a great many slaves in this state but I should think that in this region the blacks constitute about one half of the population. A man was found in a house in Princeton last week endeavoring to obtain subscribers to the Abolition periodicals. A mob of college students & town’s people collected & paraded him through the streets of the edge of the village & then gave him his choice—either to run for it or receive a coat of tar & feathers. He wisely chose the former alternative & was heard of no more.127

As one scholar writes, abolitionism in New Jersey began slowly and fared poorly compared with other northern states.128

The last portion of Johnson’s journey, from Trenton to Princeton by train, was more plausible because of the then-recent installation of the Trenton-New Brunswick segment of the Camden and Amboy Railroad. In 1839 the Princeton stop on the main line from Trenton was about three-quarters of a mile east of where the Princeton branch shuttle train (nicknamed the Dinky or the Princeton Junction and Back) currently stops. The Princeton train stop was originally at what is now called Alexander Road (then called Canal Road), adjacent to the Delaware and Raritan Canal. In 1839 train passengers who disembarked at the Princeton stop either traveled by horse and buggy into the town of Princeton or walked into town, as did Johnson. He arrived in Princeton on Saturday, August 10, 1839.

It is perhaps not accidental that Johnson’s route to freedom took the shape that it did. Many slaves in the Mid-Atlantic region escaped through a route through Delaware, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and New York. While many escaped slaves continued on to Canada, some stayed and blended into communities along the route.129 One example of a Maryland slave who escaped, traveled north, and chose to remain in the northern United States instead of continuing of Canada is James F. Brown. Brown fled Maryland in 1827 and lived first in New York City and later in upstate New York. Like Johnson, Brown was recognized as an escapee while working in the North and obtained his legal release through payment made to his Maryland owner.130 The route through Princeton was a popular one for escaping slaves, likely because of the presence of “favorable conditions” in the form of “a continuous chain of Quaker families, many free negroes, swampy lands and pine forests.”131 Quakers were well-established members of the Princeton community in Johnson’s time, as evidenced by the fact that one of the jurors at his fugitive slave trial, Josiah S. Worth, was a Quaker. Worth, a descendant of one of the first settlers of the town of Princeton, was a prominent Princeton citizen and served in many capacities, including as a member of local and state government.132

Unlike many other Maryland fugitives, Johnson did not continue on to New York or points north. This may have been because Princeton held additional allure for Johnson. The town was believed to have been a stop on the Underground Railroad; at least one account indicates that Princeton was part of a network of stops in southern and central New Jersey.133 According to one account, before 1840 the towns of Trenton and Princeton worked together to secure freedom for runaway slaves.134 One significant source of assistance for slaves fleeing north through New Jersey and other northern states was the African Methodist Episcopal (AME) Church, one of the best-known and most active institutional leaders in aiding slave escapees.135 Princeton had an AME church from 1818. Finally, although Johnson apparently maintained throughout his life that his arrival in Princeton was happenstance, there were a large number of Maryland students at the school at the time Johnson arrived. At one point when Johnson was asked about his escape and his presence in Princeton, he suggested that there were some Maryland students who knew of his fugitive status but kept quiet.136 Might one of them have encouraged Johnson, directly or indirectly, in choosing Princeton as his haven?

Princeton opened a world of opportunity for Johnson. Princeton also presented a whole new set of challenges for him.
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Princeton Slavery, Princeton Freedom

I started for New Jersey, where, I had been told, people were free, and nobody would disturb me.

—Alexander Helmsley (Nathan Mead); the alleged Maryland fugitive slave in the case of State v. The Sheriff of Burlington County (1836)

College was then in session, although it was the middle of August, and on the third day after his arrival at Princeton, Jim secured a position in Nassau Hall as janitor and bootblack—for, said he, as he glanced disapprovingly at my shoes, “in dose days, de gen’lemen all had dey boots clean.”

—Andrew C. Imbrie, from his 1895 interview with James Collins Johnson

When James Collins Johnson reached Princeton in the summer of 1839, he found a college that had grown beyond its origins as a small, religiously affiliated school to one that offered a more worldly outlook. Though New Jersey was still nominally a slave state when Johnson arrived in 1839, the population of enslaved New Jersey persons had diminished greatly over the first decades of the nineteenth century. This reduction was so great that many counted it as a free state by the middle of the century.1 By 1840 there were fewer than seven hundred persons in all of New Jersey who were identified as slaves; they constituted less than .02 percent of the total population.2 Only twelve of these enslaved persons were in the town of Princeton. This was in contrast to Maryland, where, in the 1830s, nearly three-quarters of the rural black population was enslaved.3 Much of this reduction was due to an 1804 New Jersey law calling for gradual abolition of slavery that left many people in termlimited servitude. However, as some New Jersey blacks complained, many of these persons were only nominally free.4 Those enslaved for defined terms in New Jersey had no authority over themselves or their minor children and could be sold in much the same way as those who faced lifetime servitude.5 On the surface, Johnson’s 1839 escape to Princeton, New Jersey, from Maryland appears to be a familiar instance of exchanging South for North and thereby trading liberty for servitude. But while Princeton offered Johnson a refuge from Maryland slavery, the specter of slavery and its attendant practices loomed large in New Jersey. This was no less true at the college and in the town of Princeton.
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Lithograph of Nassau Hall, by John H. Buford, 1836. (Nassau Hall Iconography collection [AC 177] box 1.)

Slavery in New Jersey

When James Collins Johnson reached New Jersey in 1839, slavery had been formally eliminated in many parts of the state. An 1804 law provided that children of slaves born after July 4, 1804, were nominally free.6 However, this did not herald an immediate end to slavery, as such children were required to serve their masters or the master’s agent for several years. Because this provision required slaveholders to provide support for slave children during the children’s unproductive early years and then release them just as they became valuable commodities, the law provided that slave children past early infancy could be abandoned to poorhouses and then bound out at state expense. Some formerly enslaved black children thus worked for white families who received state payments for children they had previously owned. Former slave owners were compensated under this provision until an 1811 law drew a halt to the practice.7 That law noted that “in some instances the money drawn for their maintenance amounts to more than they would have brought if sold for life.”8

Despite this process of gradual emancipation, the New Jersey Supreme Court held as late as 1827 that the 1804 law did not ban the sale of enslaved children, even those considered “apprentices.” In Ogden v. Price, a thirteen-year-old girl was assigned to the defendants when her contract as an apprentice was sold. The court found that the 1804 law was not a bar to such sales.9 Drawing on the language of the act that stated that an apprentice was subject to assignment, the supreme court upheld the contract, ruling that the child must continue as “a servant to the first owner or his assigns.”10 The court wrote: “The objection that her [the child’s] services, if offered for sale by the assignees at public auction, will be an outrage upon humanity, if allowed its full weight, would do away slavery itself by an act of the court.”11 An 1846 law freed slave children born after its passage but deemed slaves born before that year to be “apprentices for life.”12 Although this applied to a relatively small group of people, they were effectively condemned to slavery by another name.

The plethora of acts that altered and amended conditions of servitude in New Jersey led to a flurry of litigation through which slaves contested their servitude. Despite the acts that were geared to the abolition of slavery, laws remained in place that were meant prevent slave escapes. One such law was at issue in the 1821 case of Gibbons v. Morse.13 A slaveholder, Isaac Morse, complained that a boat owner, Thomas Gibbons, had conveyed Morse’s slave Harry to New York, causing Morse to lose the value of Harry, some $400. Morse based his claim on a 1798 New Jersey law that provided that anyone who was found guilty of “harbouring, entertaining, or concealing any slave, or conveying or assisting to convey away such slave” under circumstances where the slave “should be lost, die, or be otherwise destroyed, or should be disabled or rendered unserviceable” was liable for the slave’s value.14 After losing at the trial level, Gibbons appealed. Although Gibbons argued that Morse had actually given permission for Harry to board the boat and was seeking to sell Harry in the more lucrative New Orleans market, the appeals court upheld the verdict that found Gibbons liable, noting that in New Jersey, all black men were presumed slaves until evidence to the contrary was presented. This presumption that blacks were slaves prevailed until 1836, when it was reversed in Stoutenborough v. Haviland.15

A number of New Jersey cases in the early and mid–nineteenth century were initiated not to claim ownership of slaves but to avoid being charged as the owner of a slave. As the use of slave labor diminished in the state, this meant that there was less of a market for slaves. The cost of slave owning increased because of revenue acts that placed assessments on certain slaves.16 While some of the legislative provisions exempted owners from paying taxes for slaves who were unable to work or who were very young or old and in cases where the assessment caused the owner to have no profit, these exemptions were not always in place. Moreover, laws meant to discourage slavery made it more difficult to sell slaves outside the state and required those who sought to free slaves under the age of twenty-one or over the age of forty to offer two persons as sureties and to post a bond to avoid having slaves become public charges.17 Thus owners faced increased financial responsibilities for the slaves they freed, especially for those who were aged and/or disabled. Because New Jersey enslavers typically owned relatively few slaves in small agricultural settings, there was little need for the labor of slaves who were unable to perform hard labor. Some owners sought to avoid liability for these infirm slaves by turning them out of their homes, moving out of state and leaving them behind, or, as in one case, refusing to sign the slave on again after a leasehold on the slave had expired.

For example, a Middlesex County slave owner named Henry Force sold the custody and services of his adult slave Minna to Elizabeth Haines from September 1822 until June 1826, when Minna was to be returned to Force.18 At the expiration of that time, Haines attempted to return Minna to Force. Minna was said to be partially blind and ill-tempered. Force refused to receive Minna or to be responsible for her maintenance. Haines maintained Minna for about two years, then turned her out. After six months, Minna returned to Haines, who maintained her for about seven more years. Haines filed an action to recover the cost of maintaining Minna from Force. Though Haines won at the trial court level, the decision was reversed on appeal. The appeals court held that Haines could not recover costs because her actions had been done voluntarily and not at the owner’s request.19

Several cases involved towns that sought to recover the costs of maintaining abandoned slaves from owners.20 In an 1833 case, Overseers of the Poor of Upper Freehold v. Overseers of the Poor of Hillsborough, the court upheld an order of a justice of the peace that a black girl named Jenny who had been found begging in Hillsborough Township, Somerset County, should be sent to Upper Freehold Township for a determination of her residence on the basis of her statement that she lived in that township.21 Jenny was about fifteen years old and had lived the last ten years (as far back as she could remember) in Upper Freehold in the family of David Hay. There was a possibility she owed service to him and was to have support from him. This possibility became a probability based on the deposition of a witness who indicated that Hay was under contract to keep Jenny until she reached the age of twenty-one in exchange for her services. Although Jenny first maintained that she had walked from Upper Freehold Township to Hillsborough (at least ten miles), evidence in the case suggested that her owner had carted her from Upper Freehold into Somerset County, set her down in the highway, and left her to beg. The court held that the girl should be sent to Upper Freehold Township, where Hay was liable for her support.

In an 1842 case, Overseers of Poor of Perth Amboy v. Oversees of Poor of Piscataway, two New Jersey towns disputed their liability for a black pauper named James Bruen.22 Bruen was the former slave of Joseph Stille of Piscataway. Stille had sold him as a slave to Isaac Stille Jr., also of Piscataway, in April 1816. Sometime in 1825, Isaac Stille Jr. had sold Bruen either as a slave for life or for a term of years to M. Bruen of Perth Amboy. Whether this sale was for life or only for a term of years was a fact in dispute. The court held that there was no valid deed of manumission and that the owner of the slave, whoever that was determined to be, was liable to pay for Bruen’s maintenance, not the towns where he had lived.

By many indications it appeared that for blacks in New Jersey in the nineteenth century, even near the time of James Collins Johnson’s arrival, freedom was not entirely free. A group of free blacks in Patterson, New Jersey, in the north of the state asserted this in 1841 when they submitted an address to the New Jersey legislature. They decried the “disabilities, privations, and sufferings under which the colored population of our state labor.”23 In many parts of the state, including the northern part near New York City, abolitionism was frowned upon.24 In Newark, New Jersey, just a few miles from New York City, newspapers often carried editorials expressing sympathy for slave owners.25 Many Newark businesses in the antebellum period served a largely slaveholding southern clientele and helped provide food, clothing, and equipment for both master and slave.26 Hence, despite legislative moves intended to gradually end slavery over several decades, slavery and slavery-related practices were rife in New Jersey until the Thirteenth Amendment was ratified in 1865.

Slavery at Princeton in the 1830s and 1840s

Much as was true in the rest of the state, slavery was part of the day-today experience at Princeton in the early years after its founding. Enslaved people served faculty, administrators, and trustees of the institution.27 The explicit practice of campus slavery had, however, largely disappeared by Johnson’s arrival at Princeton in 1839; at least fifteen years had passed since the last known enslaved person had lived there.28

But even before its disappearance from the campus, relatively little had been written about Princeton’s role in slavery. There were few direct accounts of college figures and students owning slaves at Princeton. This silence on the topic of slaves and slavery may have been in keeping with the growth of an Enlightenment culture that began in the eighteenth century. This new educational vision moved beyond the bounds of the didactic moral treatises that formed the basis of much of the typical college education of the period. At the same time as the culture of colleges and universities broadened to embrace a life of the mind and belles lettres, it also grappled with the brutalities of slavery that made such a lifestyle possible.29 Nowhere was this more evident than at Princeton, both on the campus and in the areas surrounding the campus.

But while slavery has largely been on the margins of recorded Princeton college history, its practice was never very far away from matters concerning faculty, administrators, and students. Part of the reason for how slavery was historically treated in and around the Princeton campus may lie in the school’s religious origins. During the decades leading up to the Civil War, Princeton was the intellectual center of the American Presbyterian Church. As a result of its traditional affiliations, both the college and the theological seminary firmly but quietly aligned themselves on the conservative side of the growing religious, social, and political breach over abolitionism, slavery, and race relations.30 This moderate view on slavery and emancipation was often expressed as support for the American Colonization Society.

The American Colonization Society (ACS), an organization whose principal mission was to transport free blacks from the United States and resettle them in Africa, is believed to have been formally founded in Washington, D.C., in 1817.31 However, Archibald Alexander, one of the first professors at Princeton Theological Seminary and the father of William Cowper Alexander (later a lawyer for James Collins Johnson), asserted that the first public meeting of the ACS took place in Princeton, New Jersey, at the Presbyterian Church and that the meeting was attended by most of the professors of the college and the seminary.32 The tenets of the ACS called for the gradual emancipation of slaves and their removal from the United States to African colonies that had been founded to support freed slaves. Some, like Archibald Alexander, believed that if the choice was between immediate abolition and allowing freed blacks to remain in the United States, the latter was preferable. Alexander wrote: “Painful as it is to express the opinion, I have no doubt that it would be unwise to emancipate them.”33 Views such as these, combined with the number of slave-owning southerners who supported the organization, caused many observers to view the ACS as an organization whose goals were less religiously inspired and more motivated by racial bias, support for the continuation of slavery in the United States, and ill feeling toward blacks.34 Despite conflicting claims about its origins, Princeton faculty were at the center of the ACS from its founding. By the time of Johnson’s arrival, the ACS shaped much campus thinking on slavery.

Princeton Administrators and Faculty in the 1830s and 1840s

By the 1840s Princeton boasted a world-class curriculum, thanks largely to skilled leaders and a renowned faculty.35 Many of these figures had ties to the practice of slavery or were participants in public or private efforts to shape the practice of slavery. James Carnahan, who served as president of Princeton from 1823 until 1854, held office at the time of Johnson’s arrival. Carnahan was born in Cumberland County, Pennsylvania, in 1775, and was a member of the Princeton class of 1800. He was ordained as a Presbyterian minister, and after ordination he accepted a post in Washington, D.C. During his almost dozen years in Washington, Carnahan owned at least two slaves.36 In 1820 two enslaved children under fourteen were recorded as part of his household.37 After moving to New Jersey, Carnahan listed no enslaved people in his household, but census reports in 1830 and 1840 show the presence of “free colored” adults, one or more of whom may have been those same enslaved children. Like many of the faculty members he led, Carnahan was active in the ACS.38 Several months before Johnson’s arrival in Princeton, Carnahan made a pledge to the Princeton chapter of the ACS to help fund the transit of freed blacks to Liberia.39
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Portrait of Betsey Stockton, circa 1865, who was enslaved by Princeton president Ashbel Green and lived on the Princeton campus during her enslavement. (Hawaiian Mission Children’s Society, Portraits of American Protestant Missionaries to Hawaii [Honolulu: Hawaiian Gazette Company, 1901].)

Princeton professor Albert Baldwin Dod, an accomplished theologian and mathematician, was one of the few remaining faculty slaveholders in 1840.40 Dod, though born in New Jersey in 1805, was from a family with Virginia roots.41 A member of the class of 1822, Dod was ordained a Presbyterian minister and immediately thereafter spent four years as a tutor in Virginia. He joined the Princeton Theological Seminary in 1826 before being appointed a math professor at the college in 1830.42 Dod held a conservative position on slavery and objected to abolitionist criticisms of slaveholders,43 opinions likely influenced by his own role as an enslaver.

Other 1840s faculty luminaries included three professors appointed to serve in the then recently created, and ultimately short-lived, Princeton Law School: Richard Stockton Field, a former U.S. senator; Joseph Coerten Hornblower, who had been chief justice of New Jersey; and James Sproat Green, who served for several years as U.S. attorney for New Jersey.44 As did many of their Princeton colleagues, Field, Hornblower, and Green often had significant involvements with the issue of slavery in New Jersey. And like many other faculty members, they supported African colonization for emancipated blacks. All were believers in gradual emancipation. Hornblower was also noteworthy for the abolitionist leanings he expressed in some judicial opinions.45 Green, however, while in favor of black emancipation for purposes of African colonization, envisioned no place for free blacks in the United States.46 A son of Princeton College president Ashbel Green, James S. Green had grown up and been educated with enslaved woman Betsey Stockton, who was often lauded as one of the most erudite women of her time, either black or white.47 Stockton was enslaved by the Green family until her emancipation as a young woman; a few years thereafter she went abroad as a missionary. One wonders how this direct experience with an enslaved person might have shaped Ashbel Green’s views.

Princeton administrators and professors were not alone in their engagements with slavery. Students, too, frequently found themselves enmeshed in the practice.

Princeton Students in the 1830s and 1840

There were 270 students on campus in 1839, including seven resident graduates of Princeton.48 Students came from several states, and a few even came from outside the country. In the immediate antebellum decades the growing academic reputation of Princeton drew an increasing number of students from both the North and the South and even from abroad.49 But even with this newly diverse student body, a substantial number of the students were wealthy, either slaveholding southerners or northerners whose families had slavery-related business concerns.

Much of the atmosphere on Princeton campus in the 1830s and 1840s was shaped by the growing presence of wealthy students. Though Princeton had long served the sons of the elite, it did not begin its history as a school exclusively for the rich. Before the American Revolution, wrote one scholar, Princeton provided the most economical college education in the colonies. However, during the war, the college lost its endowment of $10,000 and sustained damage caused by the fact that both American rebel troops and the British used the campus.50 After the American Revolution, Princeton “became a college for the rich because it needed the resources that only they could provide. It served the affluent, not because it was wealthy, but because it was poor.”51 At the time Johnson arrived, in 1839, as was true for much of the period after the American Revolution, a number of sons of wealthy and prominent men were attending Princeton. Many of these young men came from slave-owning families or from families whose legacies of wealth grew from slavery. Despite its northern location, many families living in the antebellum southern United States found Princeton a congenial place for training their sons as future leaders and slave owners.52

Because of this historic role in educating southerners, Princeton has sometimes been referred to as the most southern of the Ivy League schools. So many students from the American South enrolled during the first several decades of the college that one observer wrote that one might take Princeton for a “Southern college slipped from its geographical moorings.”53

Southern graduates of Princeton typically returned home to become political and business leaders, physicians, lawyers, and judges, positions they often held dually with their roles as slave-owning plantation heads.58 But these prototypical southern students were not the only source of the slave-owning culture among students on campus. Many northern families that had business interests in the practice of slavery, or histories of wealth built on past slave ownership, also chose Princeton as a training ground for their sons. For example, Eli Whitney Jr. was a student at Princeton when James Collins Johnson arrived in 1839. Whitney Jr. was firmly rooted in the North; his father, cotton gin inventor Eli Whitney, had attended Yale, and the younger Whitney had enrolled there for a year before coming to Princeton.59 Whitney Jr., moreover, was tied to the North by his strong Princeton roots: he was the great-grandson of theologian Jonathan Edwards, the third president of Princeton. But as the son of the man responsible for a device blamed for (or credited with) extending the practice of U.S. slavery by making cotton growing more profitable, Whitney Jr. enjoyed wealth and advantages that grew directly from slavery.

Another northern student with strong ties to slavery attending the college in Johnson’s early years at Princeton was John Potter Stockton, class of 1844, the son of Robert Field Stockton and Harriet Maria Potter.60 John P. Stockton was of old New Jersey stock, and members of his family had been instrumental in the founding of the college and of the town of Princeton. The Stocktons, like many other Princeton-area families, occupied positions on both sides of the slavery divide. Robert Field Stockton was seen as a moderate voice among those who opposed the emancipation of enslaved blacks, and he negotiated the purchase of a large swath of African coastland that became Liberia, an African colony created for U.S. freedmen.61 But the Stocktons owned enslaved people from the early years of New Jersey slavery until the decades just before the Civil War.62 And Robert Field Stockton’s much-lauded involvement in founding Liberia was dimmed by a claim that he had used force to obtain the land from African natives.63 James Potter Stockton’s mother, Harriet Maria Potter Stockton, came from a large-scale slaveholding family in the South, with plantations in South Carolina and Georgia. Members of her family were involved in one of the most contentious fugitive slave cases of the antebellum period.64

While these northern students at Princeton in the 1830s and 1840s contributed to the culture of slavery on campus in sometimes unexpected ways, so, too, did some southern students participate in slavery in less conventional ways. One such student was Allan McFarlane, class of 1844, a native of Scotland. In an interesting parallel to James Collins Johnson, MacFarlane, too, ran away from his Scotland home in 1839, hoping to seek his fortune. There the similarity ends, however. Though MacFarlane grew up in an environment without enslaved labor, he moved to the home of a maternal uncle who owned vast South Carolina estates and hundreds of enslaved workers. MacFarlane’s uncle, John Taylor Jr., paid for his education at Princeton. Later, the bulk of the uncle’s estate, including plantations and enslaved people, fell to McFarlane.65

Other less typical students involved with slavery who were on campus during Johnson’s early years were several sons of high-ranking members of the Cherokee tribe. While their Cherokee heritage set them apart from most of their classmates, Cherokee students at Princeton in the mid-1800s were largely the descendants of mixed-race Cherokee leaders whose intermarriages with Europeans dated back to early colonial times.66 By the beginning of the nineteenth century, many Cherokee leaders were of substantial and in some cases majority white ancestry, and some practiced black enslavement. One such group was the Ross family. The patriarch of the Cherokee Rosses was John Ross (1790–1866), principal chief of the Cherokee from 1826 to 1866. A large-scale land and slave owner, he is often hailed as one of the most important Cherokee political leaders of the nineteenth century.67

Although Princeton did not have an explicit mission to educate Indians (as they were called in the early years of the college), several aboriginal people attended Princeton in the nineteenth century, including some Cherokee Rosses: John McDonald Ross (class of 1841); William Potter Ross (class of 1842), who later became the principal chief of the Cherokee nation; Robert Daniel Ross (class of 1843); Silas D. Ross (class of 1849); and George W. Ross (class of 1850). Two members of the Vann family, another prominent Cherokee family, attended Princeton in the 1850s—Cooey Vann and Clemm Vann. Though many members of the families of these Cherokee students completed a compulsory move to western U.S. territory in the 1830s during the Trail of Tears, these families took their slaves with them.68 Like more typical enslavers, Cherokee also contended with the resistance and flight of enslaved people. One of the largest revolts of persons enslaved by the Cherokee took place in 1842 just months before Johnson was arrested on suspicion of being a fugitive slave.69 If James Collins Johnson served any of the Cherokee students in the course of his early work at the college, he may have found little difference between them and other students regarding their opinions on enslaving blacks.
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Portrait of William Potter Ross, class of 1842, one of several Cherokee students from slave-owning families who attended Princeton in Johnson’s early years on campus. ([WA] WC064, M0365; Department of Rare Books and Special Collections, Princeton University Library. Original housed in the Archives & Manuscripts Division of the Oklahoma Historical Society.)

For many of the southern students, their enrollment at Princeton was the first (and sometimes their only) exposure to northern people and customs. Their proximity to northerners often went on for years without interruption; to avoid what was for some a long and expensive journey, southern students often remained in the North during holiday breaks.70 These southerners, while not denying their families’ roles as slave owners, often kept a low public profile on the matter of slavery. In response, northern students also typically avoided dwelling on the question of slavery. Both northerners and southerners on campus thus avoided obvious conflict on the question of slavery, even up to the period immediately before the Civil War.71 This did not mean that slavery was never discussed on campus. A vibrant strain of slavery debate occurred at two student debating societies, the Cliosophic Society and the American Whig Society.72 As early as 1793, the Cliosophic Society addressed the abolition of African slavery and concluded that it would not be “politic,” and such discussion occurred up to the Civil War.73 However, these campus rhetorical outings belied students’ more muted and restrained practical engagements with slavery at Princeton during their time there. Many students at Princeton in 1830s and 1840s were the white sons of privilege, many of whose families owned slaves, had done so in earlier times, or had significant involvements in shaping the practice of slavery. There was little desire among students to disrupt the slavery status quo.

Given the pervasiveness of slave culture among those on campus, it is not surprising that some students disdained blacks and actively opposed emancipation. Such beliefs sometimes led to student violence against blacks on campus and in the town. One example that was well known in its time involved an 1836 incident in which Princeton Theological Seminary graduate Theodore Sedgwick Wright was assaulted by a Princeton undergraduate.74 Wright maintained a close association with the college community. These ties brought Wright to campus for an alumni lecture at the Princeton chapel on September 20, 1836.75 According to some accounts, when Wright attempted to take a seat in the chapel, the attacker seized and viciously kicked him and yelled, “Out with the nigger! Out with the nigger!”76 In describing the incident, Wright wrote, “I had not the least idea that I was the victim until seized by the collar by a young man who kicked me two or three times in the most ruthless manner—at the same time saying ‘What do you do here? What do you do here? Don’t let me see you again.’ ”77 Wright noted that the attacker said that his name was Ancrum and did so “with an air of conscious self-importance, … as if he had effected some noble exploit.”78
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Theodore Sedgwick Wright, an 1828 graduate of Princeton Theological Seminary. A Princeton student beat Wright for attending chapel in 1836. (Folder 1249, box 50, Randolph Linsly Simpson African-American Collection, Beinecke Rare Book and Manuscript Library, Yale University.)

There were two Ancrums enrolled at Princeton in the 1830s, brothers William Alexander, class of 1836, and Thomas James, class of 1838, both of Camden, South Carolina.79 It is unclear which Ancrum was Wright’s assailant. It could have been William Alexander, since Thomas had apparently withdrawn from the college at the request of his guardian in June 1836 after being suspended in March 1836 for “going to tavern without permission.”80 But the assault on Wright occurred around the time of William Alexander’s graduation, when the younger brother might have attended in September 1836. Moreover, in a letter to the press, Princeton president John Carnahan stated that Wright’s assailant “was not a student,” suggesting that it may well have been Thomas Ancrum.81

Just a year before Wright was assaulted, however, Thomas Ancrum was implicated in a September 1835 incident involving the invasion of a home in the black section of town to “lynch” a white abolitionist.82 The incident was discussed in a letter sent by student John Witherspoon Woods, class of 1837.83 Woods alluded to the matter in a letter to his mother, noting that about sixty students “went down to a negro man’s house, where they heard this Abolitionist was holding a meeting.”84 Woods went on to indicate that the students had dragged the man out of the house and threatened to tar and feather him, but relented after the man begged them to stop. The students, said Woods, burned the man’s papers but allowed the man to leave unharmed after a stern warning never to return.85

This incident was also recounted by Gilbert Rodman McCoy, a member of the class of 1837. McCoy recounted the incident in a letter to a friend in September 1835. McCoy’s letter contained a good deal more violent detail, perhaps owing to the fact that he wrote to a contemporary and not to a parent, as Woods had:

Last Friday evening as some of the fellows were walking out nigger lane [Witherspoon Street] they saw a white man in a nigger house and upon inquiring, found him to be an abolitionist. When they came back they mentioned it to the fellows at the gate, some of whom made a motion, which was seconded, put to the meeting, and carried magnanimously, that they should go down there and Lynch him. It was no sooner said than done, they immediately marched there in a body, called out the black owner of the house, and asked him if there was not a white man within; at first being almost frightened to death he answered no, but upon being more closely questioned said yes. He had scarcely said it before Tommy Ancrum and Judge rushed into the house seized the abolitionist by the throat and dragged him out taking away his papers they found that he was an agent for the Liberator, the Emancipator, and a parcel more of those infernal publications.86

Perhaps one of the most interesting aspects of McCoy’s letter is the casual racism, cruelty, and hooliganism among students that is betrayed. One of the students involved in attacking the abolitionist, Judge, was apparently Hilliard Means Judge of Winnsboro, South Carolina. Originally a member of the class of 1837, Judge was dismissed in April 1837 for pointing a pistol at a college officer, but he was later readmitted and graduated in 1840.87 The letter also suggests that feelings of enmity for abolitionists were not limited to southern students. It seems clear that the writer McCoy opposed abolitionism and was sympathetic to the actions of the students he discusses, and he likely assumed the same sympathy on the part of the recipient of the letter. McCoy, unlike Ancrum and Judge, was from the North: his hometown was Martin’s Creek, Pennsylvania.88 The recipient of the letter, Gilbert Rodman Fox, class of 1835, was a relative of McCoy’s and was also from Pennsylvania.89 These were the students with whom James Collins Johnson and other blacks at the college and in the town of Princeton regularly interacted.

Incidents of student abuse of black residents in the town of Princeton were apparently not infrequent. One student, Westcott Wilkin, a member of the class of 1843, recounted in an 1841 letter to his mother that the college had nearly been closed in the wake of a riot in the dining hall to protest the possible disciplining of a student who went on a “spree” that involved breaking the doors and windows of the home of a black man in town.90 According to Wilkin, students chiefly protested the fact that the case against the student was based on “negro testimony.”91 The protesting students even assaulted the college vice president, whom Wilkins referred to as “Old Johnny McLain” (John Maclean Jr., who later became college president) in the course of their melee. Wilkin’s letter does not give the name of the black man whose home was attacked. While it may not have been Johnson’s home that was attacked, mindful of incidents like this, he was undoubtedly well aware of the potential threat to his own safety.

Yet another incident involving student violence in the black community occurred in 1846 during what was then known as the Riot of 1846. The incident began when Grenville M. Peirce (or Pierce), class of 1846, and his friend Jerry Taylor were falsely (by their account) accused of taking “sundry manual familiarities” on a black Princeton woman on the street.92 A black townsman came to her rescue, hitting Taylor.93 Taylor, armed with a sword cane, attacked the black man, but failed to injure him. Taylor’s efforts were in part thwarted by the presence of several other black residents who had gathered at the scene. The students retreated and, two days later, proceeded to the farm where the black man was employed, bringing with them several other Princeton students.94 The students succeeded in taking the man from his home, but were interrupted by Professor John Maclean, who interceded and ensured, first, that the black man would be taken before a judge and not dealt the summary justice that the students desired, and second, that the judge discharged the man without charges.95

Some students, most of them southerners, grew angry, and refused to free the black man. Maclean and those students wishing for a peaceful ending to the matter entered into a free-for-all with the angry students, who eventually prevailed. The black man was seized and beaten almost to death.96 For James Collins Johnson, the Princeton campus represented freedom, but that freedom was also bound up in norms of slavery, with the ever-present possibility of unprovoked or unjustified white violence on blacks, and the absence of redress for such incursions. This blurred nature of the slavery-freedom continuum was replicated in the town of Princeton for Johnson and other blacks, whose work on the campus placed them in a nether space between town and gown.

Princeton’s Black Workers in the 1830s and 1840s: Between Town and Gown

When he arrived at Princeton from Maryland, James Collins Johnson went from an environment that was populated with large numbers of blacks to one where whites were the clear majority. Besides encountering far fewer blacks in Princeton than had been present in Maryland, Johnson also encountered a different social atmosphere than he knew in Maryland. The presence of the college as a centerpiece in the town created a special social dynamic.

Princeton society in the 1840s was described as having three tiers. There was first the “aristocratic” tier, dominated by wealthy families such as the Stocktons, the Potters, and the Thomsons, most of whom intermarried and were Episcopalians.97 The second tier consisted of professors, doctors, ministers, lawyers, and other members of the learned professions.98 Members of these two upper tiers sometimes intermarried. In the 1840s, Princeton’s elite, who frequently bore the names of their Dutch and English forebears, were at the center of social, economic, and political life in the town. For example, near the time that Johnson arrived in Princeton, several prominent men of the town attended a meeting to form the New Jersey State Agricultural Society. The attendees read like a list of the town’s who’s who: Robert Field Stockton, Robert Stockton Olden, Abraham Cruser, Caleb Green Smith, William Gulick, John S. Van Dyke, George T. Olmstead, Emley Olden, Josiah S. Worth, and Isaac V.Brown.99 Some of these men would play key roles in Johnson’s fugitive slave trial a few years later.100

The third tier of Princeton society was made up of storekeepers and master mechanics. While this third group sometimes interacted with the first two at church, in business, and in politics, there was little social intercourse between this last class and the upper two tiers.101 It typically went without saying that the persons in all three tiers were white. While blacks such as Johnson did not figure in this social scheme, they interacted frequently with whites at all levels of society in the course of their work. Blacks in Princeton were everywhere yet nowhere, frequently crossing town and gown lines and without an acknowledged place in the social array. In the early and mid–nineteenth century, black workers performed much of the manual labor in and around the campus and town of Princeton. Some of these blacks were themselves freed slaves, or the descendants of enslaved persons. They formed communities and alliances with each other as a way to negotiate the liminal space between the college and the town.

When Johnson arrived in Princeton on August 10, 1839, he got off the train at the main terminal for Princeton in an area of town that came to be known as Princeton Basin, with the arrival of the railroad and the canal.102 The neighborhood, a bustling hub of industrial works, offices, and retail shops, was the home of some members of Princeton’s black community.103 It was also a busy node on a rapidly growing transportation network along the East Coast. By early 1839 trains ran continuously along the route from Philadelphia to Jersey City, stopping in Trenton, Princeton, New Brunswick, and Newark along the way.104 The first morning train left Philadelphia at 8:30 on weekdays and at 8:00 on Sundays.105

As he walked from the station after his arrival, Johnson encountered Peter Miller, a black man who worked as a sawyer at the college.106 Miller offered lodgings at his house on Witherspoon Street and said that Johnson could pay once he found work. In 1840, according to the federal census, there were two black men named Peter Miller living in Princeton, both in the same household. Four free colored persons lived in the Miller household, two of whom were male and between the ages of ten and twenty-three, one who was female aged between thirty-six and fifty-four, and another who was a male aged between thirty-six and fifty-four. The elder Miller was apparently born around 1797.107 James Collins Johnson may have been one of the younger men who was living in the Miller household. It is possible that Johnson fortuitously encountered Miller when he first arrived in Princeton. However, it is also possible that Johnson either knew or was put into contact with Miller before arriving in Princeton. Johnson’s new address was in the heart of Princeton’s free black community. Witherspoon Street had long been a part of Princeton’s black community. Since the early nineteenth century (and possibly earlier), Witherspoon Street had been called African Lane, Guinea Lane, or, more pejoratively, Nigger Lane, because of the large number of blacks on the street. According to the U.S. Census, by 1840, blacks constituted almost 21 percent of the population of the town of Princeton.108

When Johnson began work at Princeton in 1839, he followed in the footsteps of many other members of Princeton’s black community who were attached to the college. One black figure on campus in the nineteenth century was Sam Parker, who served as laboratory assistant to Professor Joseph Henry. Parker worked for Henry and his family from 1840 until Henry left Princeton for the Smithsonian Institution in 1846. Although Henry appreciated Parker’s work to some extent, he also betrayed a casual disregard for him; he once referred to Parker as “an article” the college had provided for him.109 Henry was well aware that he depended on Sam Parker; at one point he noted that his work had been disrupted because of Parker’s illness.110 Henry trained Parker to conduct some parts of his experiments, but a significant part of Parker’s work consisted of relieving Henry “from all the dirty work of the laboratory.”111

Parker also served as a general factotum to some of the students and provided food or other items (although apparently not liquor) to students in their rooms after hours.112 According to student Edward Shippen, Parker, who was described as a “supple big yellow man” with light-colored eyes and a red beard (he was said to be mulatto), was both loved and hated by students.113 Parker often played favorites with wealthier students while disregarding students of lesser means. He could be counted on to bring food such as a turkey and trimmings at late hours of the night. Students valued Sam “as an engine” who would and could supply their needs. However, they also hated Sam as a “ginger nigger who owned 100 suits of clothes, and put on airs.” Parker apparently obtained his clothes by bartering his services, for example, by trading a prepared turkey for a suit of clothes.114 Despite the uneasy relationship between Sam and the students, there was an underlying reciprocity: “We wanted Sam, and he wanted us,” claimed Shippen.115

Another longtime black resident of Princeton with a long relationship to the college was the caterer Anthony Simmons. When he died in 1868, Simmons was said to be one of the wealthiest blacks in Princeton.116 He was apparently a large-scale landholder who also did a brisk business in loans to many white residents of the town.117 Simmons also provided wood to the college.118 He was apparently born in New York State.119 Yet another well-known black cook was “Aunt” Clara Voorhees. Voorhees, a twin, was born on May 10, 1793 (or 1795, according to some accounts). Born enslaved, both girls came into the ownership of John Joline of Princeton in 1806.120 Clara Voorhees lived almost a century, and her presence, and that of many other “old time” blacks who had known both Princeton slavery and Princeton freedom, shaped Johnson’s experience.

Shortly after his arrival Johnson found work at Princeton working in Old North, as Nassau Hall was known. Among his principal duties were cleaning rooms in the building, shining shoes, and emptying latrines. There Johnson worked in obscurity until events beyond his control brought him to broad public notice.
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The Betrayal and Arrest of James Collins Johnson

He stood quaking before young Teakle Wallace, a picture of abject misery. Visions of the old days came back to him—careless and happy enough they were, for he had always been kindly treated; but he had tasted liberty since then, and his whole nature revolted at the idea of going back to once more become a slave.

—Andrew C. Imbrie, from his 1895 interview with James Collins Johnson

The best-known written version of Johnson’s story, the one told by Andrew C. Imbrie in 1895, adheres to many of the conventions of a slave narrative. It features an indulgent if not sympathetic and socially well-placed white raconteur whose presence lends veracity to the tale; provides assurances to the reader that the story is plain, unvarnished, and true; offers an emancipatory plot; provides scarce details of the subject’s ancestry; queries the ethical implications of the subject’s resistance and rebellion; offers an engrossing escape adventure; and finally, focuses on Johnson’s happy ending.1 But in one important aspect, the best-told tale of Johnson’s life, and others like it, departs from more conventional slave narratives: it avoids a description of hardships he encountered either during slavery or in the course of escape from slavery. Details of what was one of the greatest crises of Johnson’s young life, his betrayal and arrest in Princeton, are two of the least-discussed aspects of Imbrie’s Johnson story and in all the versions that have been disseminated over the years. This chapter expands, revises, and thereby seeks to reclaim Johnson’s tale of capture by bringing from the shadows details of his betrayal and arrest.

In the telling of Johnson’s tale, whether in the Imbrie account, in contemporaneous journalistic accounts of his arrest and trial, or in the versions repeated by Princeton alumni over the decades, the premise for recounting Johnson’s story was not, as was the case in more typical slave narratives, to tell about the hardships of slavery and to thereby move the reader from spectatorship and sympathy for the enslaved to empathy and supportive action to dismantle slavery.2 As some scholars have noted, a significant turn in the nature of mid-nineteenth-century moral philosophy was the notion that sympathy’s proper role was an impulse to action, especially in the context of slavery. In the 1840s pro- and antislavery students at Princeton often debated over what actions sympathy for the enslaved ought to engender, with proslavery activists arguing that true philanthropy meant the reform of “local abuses” and individual benevolence instead of efforts to reform the entire system.3 Accounts of Johnson’s story supported this proslavery approach to local actions premised on sympathy. These accounts denied any pain that Johnson may have suffered and celebrated the virtue of Johnson’s white folk, both his “kindly” enslavers and those he encountered at Princeton. How Johnson met trouble along the way, along with the precise nature of that trouble, is superseded by interest in the fact of his overcoming that trouble. The typical account of Johnson’s story is a congratulatory paean to white goodness that fails to clearly assign responsibility for Johnson’s enslavement, and especially for attempts to re-enslave him. Hence, the typical Johnson tale, with its eucatastrophic ending, is about maintaining slavery’s status quo.4

Most accounts of Johnson’s betrayal indicate that it was a Princeton student who betrayed Johnson’s whereabouts to his owners. One name frequently mentioned was that of a student named Thomas.5 A review of Princeton University alumni records suggests that this was most likely John Henry Thomas, a member of the class of 1844. A second person named was Simon Weeks, whom Johnson himself named as his betrayer. Other accounts identify student Joseph Augustus Wickes as the betrayer. The truth about who betrayed Johnson may never be known with any certainty. All three of these persons likely played some role, either alone or jointly, in Johnson’s apprehension.

John Henry Thomas is most frequently named in conjunction with the betrayal of Johnson. Thomas was born on July 4, 1824, at the Cremona Plantation in Mechanicsville, Maryland, in the southern part of the state.6 His parents were William Thomas and Eliza Tubman. John Henry’s father, William, was a physician whose ownership of the De La Brooke and Cremona Plantations in St. Mary’s County made him one of the largest landowners in his part of the state. Both De La Brooke and Cremona apparently relied upon slave labor.7 John Henry Thomas did college preparatory work at Charlotte Hall Military Academy in St. Mary’s County and at St. Mary’s Seminary in Baltimore.8 Thomas came early to slave ownership when, in 1839, at the age of fifteen, he became the owner of a large plantation in his own right, Trent Hall in St. Mary’s County, Maryland. Thomas inherited the plantation from his maternal cousin, John Truman Hawkins.9 Thomas was admitted to Princeton a few years later as a sophomore on May 20, 1842.10

There is much evidence to support the conclusion that John Henry Thomas is the Thomas of several accounts of Johnson’s betrayal, including Thomas’s own accounts of the events surrounding Johnson’s arrest. Thomas apparently spoke of his involvement in the case throughout his life.11 In addition, Thomas was employed as a lawyer with Johnson’s owner Severn Teackle Wallis shortly after graduating from Princeton.12 There is some possibility that the Wallis and Thomas families were closely acquainted or related and thus may have interacted before Johnson’s fugitive slave trial in 1843. Thomas and Wallis had both attended St. Mary’s Academy in Baltimore, albeit several years apart. A connection between the Thomas and Wallis families is also suggested by the fact that John Henry Thomas’s sister, Anne M. Thomas Blackiston, named her eighth child, who was born in 1846, Teackle Wallis Blackiston.13 This name may have been a means of honoring Severn Teackle Wallis or other Teackle and Wallis family members or acquaintances.14 In 1850, seven years after Johnson’s fugitive slave trial, Severn Teackle Wallis and John Henry Thomas apparently lived together at Wallis’s Baltimore home, along with a black woman servant named Maria Anderson and a black male servant named Henry Williams.15 Though the John H. Thomas shown in the 1850 census was described as a thirty-five-year-old lawyer, two years older than Severn Teackle Wallis, this was likely a recording error, as the John H. Thomas of Johnson’s story would have just turned twenty-six a few weeks before the time of the 1850 census. Thomas’s actual age is apparently correctly shown in the 1870 census.16 The 1850 census does not list any slaves in the Wallis-Thomas household, despite the fact that the Maryland legislature had passed an act allowing Severn Teackle Wallis to bring into Maryland a “negro slave named Oliver” in 1845.17 While it is possible that Wallis and Thomas, who were eight years apart in age, were acquainted before Johnson’s apprehension and trial, it could also be the case that Thomas’s assistance with the recovery of James Collins Johnson helped forge a new relationship with Johnson’s enslaver Severn Teackle Wallis.

Though Thomas apparently spoke to others about the events surrounding Johnson’s arrest and trial, his comments on his role in the Johnson matter do not provide many details. Thomas discussed his involvement in the case with young lawyers at his Baltimore, Maryland, law firm, including Richard Kelson Cross, a member of the Princeton class of 1863. Cross, born in 1842 to a prominent Baltimore family with substantial Princeton connections, came to Princeton two decades after Johnson’s trial.18 Cross wrote that he had spoken with John Thomas about the matter and that Thomas had indicated that he had recognized Johnson as the escaped slave who belonged to Wallis.19 Another person acquainted with Thomas, Leroy Gresham, Princeton class of 1892, wrote that Thomas had told him much about Johnson’s escape, and that this knowledge was based on the fact that Thomas “was a student in Princeton at the time and took a prominent part in the affair.”20 In all these accounts, Thomas seems to fall just short of acknowledging that he was the person who betrayed Johnson to the Wallises.

It is more likely that Johnson’s betrayer was surnamed Wickes. Perhaps the best evidence of this is Johnson’s own words. Johnson’s interview with Andrew C. Imbrie reveals that the person who betrayed Johnson was Simon Weeks of Chestertown, Maryland.21 Weeks is described in the Imbrie article as a student who was a friend of Johnson’s co-owner, Severn Teackle Wallis. Student catalogs for the period, however, show no Simon Weeks among the students at Princeton. Similarly, presentday alumni indexes for the period show no Simon Weeks for the period 1746 through 1920.22 According to Princeton records, only two students surnamed Weeks enrolled at the college before 1850: William Raymond Weeks, class of 1809, and Samuel Greeley Weeks, class of 1838.23 Of these two, only Samuel was likely resident on campus at the time of Johnson’s betrayal. One year after graduating in 1838 Samuel Weeks returned to the Princeton Theological Seminary, which he attended from 1839 to 1842.24 During this time he also earned an A.M. from the college in 1841. Weeks, the son of Matthias and Mary Bennett Weeks, was from Gilmanton, New Hampshire.25 He was one of the original twelve members of the class of 1838 who arrived on campus in the fall of 1834.26

Samuel Weeks, who was born on April 14, 1809, was something of an oddity among his peers; he was about ten years older than most of his undergraduate classmates. Those classmates described him as a grave, plain, and quiet student who frequently appeared in class in well-worn slippers. After graduating from the seminary, he was called to preach in Michigan and in Indiana. Weeks died in 1846, leaving a wife, Mary.27 Besides the details of some of his pastoral assignments, his Princeton classmates knew little of him after his graduation. His class biographer lamented this paucity of information about Weeks, noting that neither his wife’s maiden name nor whether Weeks had children were known.28

Samuel Weeks roomed with John J. Smith of Baltimore, during part of his undergraduate years.29 It is possible that Smith and the Wallises were somehow connected, given the relatively small size of Baltimore’s upperclass white community. If Smith and the Wallises were connected, perhaps Weeks learned something of Johnson from his roommate Smith. However, there is no known connection between Smith and the Wallises that might have given Smith access to knowledge about Johnson. Moreover, Weeks was studying at the seminary at the time of Johnson’s betrayal and subsequent trial, putting him on the margins of undergraduate activities. In addition, Weeks’s identity as a New Englander and his social outsider status make it unlikely that he would have reached out to betray Johnson to his master.

It is possible that when James Collins Johnson identified “Simon Weeks” as his betrayer, he meant Simon Wickes and not Weeks. Johnson was known to have a pronounced stutter, and Imbrie may have misunderstood Johnson during their interview. While there was no Simon Wickes attending school at Princeton during the time of Johnson’s betrayal and trial (or, apparently, at any time before or after), students surnamed Wickes were on campus during this time. One was Joseph Augustus Wickes, a member of the class of 1845. His brother, Benjamin Chambers Wickes, class of 1843, was also at Princeton during this time. The Wickes brothers were from Chestertown, Maryland.30

J. Jefferson Looney, the editor of an annotated reprint of the 1853 book College as It Is, or The Collegian’s Manual, by James Buchanan Henry and Christian Henry Scharff, identifies Joseph Augustus Wickes as Johnson’s betrayer. College as It Is was a lighthearted 1853 account of the day-to-day lives of students at Princeton written while the authors were seniors at the college. In their book, Henry and Scharff discuss interactions with Johnson. Looney annotates the mention of Johnson, writing that Johnson, “escaped from bondage in 1839 and came to Princeton, where he was recognized and reported in 1843 by Joseph Augustus Wickes, AB 1845.”31 Looney’s assertion thus provides some support for the notion that the surname of Johnson’s accuser was Wickes, not Weeks. Even if Joseph Augustus Wickes was not the betrayer, college records suggest that he and John Henry Thomas may have been acquainted and thus may each have played some part in Johnson’s betrayal. John Henry Thomas, Joseph Wickes, James Buchanan Smith, Alfred H. Colquitt,32 and Henry H. Welles,33 all members of the Princeton classes of 1844 and 1845, took their meals together through a boarding arrangement at the home of Abraham J. Duvant in Princeton for at least part of their time in college.34

But Johnson said that Simon Weeks (or Wickes), not Joseph Wickes, betrayed him. Johnson may have had a sound basis for his claim. It appears that the Princeton-attending Wickes brothers had a young cousin named Simon Wickes.35 The young Simon Wickes was born in October 1818 and thus was about the same age as the Wickes brothers, Severn Teackle Wallis, and James Collins Johnson. Young Simon Wickes’s father, also named Simon Wickes, was born in 1781 and died in 1848. Did either the younger or the elder Simon Wickes betray Johnson? It is certainly possible. The younger Simon’s sister, Anne Rebecca Wickes, married Benjamin Chambers Wickes in 1852. In 1865 Anne Rebecca Wickes married Benjamin’s brother, Joseph Augustus Wickes. The Wickes brothers’ marriages to their cousin Anne, the sister of their cousin Simon Wickes, might signal that there was an earlier close relationship between the younger Simon Wickes and his cousins at Princeton that gave him knowledge of Johnson’s whereabouts. Given that Imbries’s interview of Johnson occurred in the 1890s, some fifty years after Johnson’s arrest and trial, it is, of course, possible that Johnson somehow confused one of the Princeton-attending Wickes brothers with their young cousin Simon Wickes, or that he intentionally misled his interlocutor.

The problems of reliability and accuracy are always endemic to oral recollections, especially those growing out of the trauma of slavery. But to dismiss Johnson as merely forgetful or as a fabricator risks promoting the racist trope of the foggy-brained or deceitful former slave.36 Given how life-changing the arrest and trial were for Johnson, and given his reputation for remembering alumni decades after their student days at the college, it is perhaps all the more likely that Johnson neither forgot nor was confused about the identity of the betrayer whom he named as Simon Weeks.

Philip Wallis, Johnson’s enslaver, wrote in his own account of the case that one of the witnesses who testified as to Johnson’s identity at the trial was “Mr. Wickes” of Kent County.37 This could have described several persons. An 1860 map of Maryland plantations showed several Wickes families living in Kent County.38 It is most likely that the witness was one of two Wickes brothers, Joseph or Benjamin, who were already in Princeton attending school at the time of the trial, or their father, Joseph. It might also, however, have some other Kent County Wickes kinsman who had learned of Johnson’s presence at the college. Johnson’s arrest occurred on July 28, 1843, and his trial took place on August 1, 1843, both times when school was in session.39 However, it is difficult to determine who was the most likely Wickes who revealed Johnson’s whereabouts.

One possibility would be to look for clues to the personalities of the Wickes brothers who were on campus, assuming that someone who would expose Johnson would have a harsh, unyielding, or highly bureaucratic character. However, there is little published information about the personalities of the Wickes brothers. One observation made about Joseph Augustus Wickes near the end of his life noted that he had an “imperious temper” and was quite aloof after leaving the Maryland bench in 1897.40 Even if this brief observation about Joseph Augustus Wickes were true, it does little to suggest whether he was the more likely of two Wickes brothers to expose Johnson.

Though many would have sympathized with how personally damaging the revelation was to Johnson and to his claim to freedom, others might have viewed such a revelation as merely following the law, as more a duty than a betrayal. From this perspective, exposing Johnson could have been viewed not as an act of malice but as an act of sober, heartfelt civic and social duty. Slavery was legal in the South and even to a limited extent in New Jersey during the time of Johnson’s apprehension. The demands of honor for young men raised in the South may have made the compulsion to adhere to legal obligations even more intense. That a Wickes male would have felt it his duty to reveal the whereabouts of a slave belonging to the Wallis family is perhaps therefore understandable. Beyond the broader demands of law and honor, there may have been additional bonds of kinship, family, and business that may have made a young southerner feel honor bound to reveal Johnson’s whereabouts. There appear to have been substantial familial and business ties between the Wallis and Wickes families in Maryland. One of the many properties that Johnson’s enslaver, Philip Wallis, owned at one time was a house in Chesterton in Kent County now known as the Wallis-Wickes house.41 Philip Wallis’s father, Samuel Wallis, had this house built in 1769, and Philip later inherited it. The house, an impressive brick structure with a famed flower garden, later came into the ownership of members of the Wickes family.42 Johnson was likely familiar with a number of the Wickeses, as the Wickes family sent some of its sons to Princeton during the years that Johnson worked there. The Wickeses, like the Wallises, had been in and around Kent County since the mid–seventeenth century and were large landowners and slaveholders for much of the time they lived there.43

Exploring the details of the betrayal and arrest of Johnson creates dissonance with many people’s desire to believe that he was never a victim and always a victor. The identity of his betrayers, and the full nature of his arrest, though known in Johnson’s time, appear to have been obscured in most subsequent accounts, thereby enabling the creation of a sunny slave rescue story that left the broader institution of slavery uninterrogated. But the story of Johnson’s redemption makes sense only by recognizing the harms done to him as well as the benefits he gained.

The Arrest of James Collins Johnson

Johnson’s apprehension began regularly enough. Philip Wallis apparently followed the established procedure for claiming a fugitive slave in New Jersey.44 Slave owners who sought the help of New Jersey courts to recover escaped slaves were required to make application to a judge or justice for an arrest warrant using a very particular format. Procedural manuals offered detailed guidance and sample forms for attorneys acting on behalf of owners.45 First, claimants were required to apply for an arrest warrant for the slave before one of the judges of the Court of Common Pleas in the county where the alleged slave was present. The application required that the claimant or his agent aver that the alleged slave was “held to labour or service: and that he had escaped said service.”46 The claimant then had to prepare an affidavit swearing that he was entitled to the service of the slave, indicating the age of the slave, and swearing that the person sought was in fact a slave under the laws of the state from which the person had fled.47 The affidavit also had to include a physical description of the alleged slave, including unique markings such as scars.48 According to Wallis’s account, once he received word that Johnson was in Princeton, he dispatched a Maryland man to represent him before the New Jersey authorities in compliance with established rules and, assuming success, to bring Johnson back to Maryland. Wallis entrusted these tasks to Madison Jeffers, who is identified in several accounts as a Baltimore policeman.49 Before coming to Baltimore, Jeffers had been a constable in Washington, D.C. Jeffers was known as a slave catcher and slave trader in his off hours, and he engaged in much after-hours work, possibly to satisfy debts.50 Jeffers, however, was no ordinary policeman or slave catcher. Along with his adult son, James Jeffers, he worked as a private slave catcher and political provocateur before and after Johnson’s trial.51

Some have asserted that Jeffers was tied to several politically motivated proslavery prosecutions with Washington, D.C., district attorney Francis Scott Key, who wrote the lyrics to “The Star Spangled Banner.”52 Jeffers continued his work in full force well after his involvement with Johnson. He was involved with political intrigue and political street violence throughout his life. In the 1850s he was closely associated with Henry Gambrill, a member of Baltimore political gang the Plug Uglies.53 Jeffers was also an influential member and operative for the American Party, an alternative name for the nativist Know-Nothing Party.54 Jeffers was an active political operative even after suffering near-death in what was then one of worst railroad accidents in history.55

Born in Baltimore in 1810, Jeffers was likely of fairly modest social origins, judging from the fact that in 1826, when he was sixteen years old, he was apprenticed to Matthew French, a silver plater.56 Most apprentices in the nineteenth-century United States had limited formal education and worked without wages for a fixed period of time in exchange for training, room and board, and a suit of clothes at the end of the apprenticeship.57 The length of such apprenticeships varied, but seven years was typical. For much of the eighteenth century and for the early part of the nineteenth century, silver workers were among the elite of skilled workers and were seen as artists as much as tradesmen.58 It is not clear when or how Jeffers moved from work as a silver plater or when he started his career as a policeman, but his career in silver work was not likely very long given that he was only about twenty-five years old when he came to wide public notice.

In 1835 Jeffers attained national notoriety for his involvement in the arrest of Reuben Crandall, a Washington, D.C., botanist, physician, and alleged abolitionist, on the charge of circulating “dangerous and insurrectionary writings and thereby attempting to incite an insurrection.”59 It was Jeffers who apparently incited a proslavery crowd against Crandall, helping ignite passions by showing abolitionist pamphlets that Crandall owned to several persons. A few days before seizing Crandall, Jeffers had been involved in arresting Arthur Bowen, a runaway slave accused of attempting to assault his mistress with an axe.60 As he did in the Crandall case, Jeffers added to public indignation by spreading exaggerated accounts of Bowen’s actions. The arrests of Crandall and Bowen and Jeffers’s role as agitator were significant factors in inciting the Snow Riot in August 1835, which is believed to be the first race riot in Washington, D.C.61

Madison Jeffers achieved international notoriety after he was removed from public office in 1836 for having improperly seized an alleged fugitive slave from Alabama.62 The alleged fugitive was employed in the house of Charles Bankhead, the secretary of the British delegation to the United States. The British delegation complained of Jeffers’s actions to Secretary of State John Forsyth, who brought the matter before the federal court on an order to show cause as to why Jeffers should not be dismissed for violating diplomatic immunity. Although Jeffers submitted an affidavit indicating that he did not know that the removal of the servant was barred by diplomatic immunity, he was unable to show due cause and was dismissed as a Washington, D.C., constable on June 7, 1836.63

After he was removed from his job in Washington, Jeffers was hired as a constable in Baltimore, where he continued his sideline of slave catching and political machinations. In 1840 Jeffers was implicated in a plot to bring voters from Philadelphia to Baltimore to corrupt an election.64 It was while serving in Baltimore that Jeffers was hired by the Wallises to recover James Collins Johnson. By engaging someone with Jeffers’s reputation for inciting public violence and flouting the law, the Wallises sent a clear message about the lengths to which they would go to recapture Johnson.

There are varying accounts of Johnson’s arrest. Some accounts suggest that when Severn Teackle Wallis confronted Johnson on Nassau Street, Johnson denied knowing him and fled.65 According to these accounts, Johnson was almost immediately seized by southern students, among them Thomas Devereaux Hogg of Raleigh, North Carolina.66 Johnson apparently bit Hogg’s finger to the bone in the struggle.67 Thomas Deveraux Hogg was born in North Carolina and descended from a Scottish father, Gavin Hogg, who was born to a poor Scottish family that had arrived in North Carolina in 1797. Hogg’s mother, Mary Ann Bayard Johnson, was from Stratford, Connecticut, and descended directly from the Bayards, the Livingstons, and other well-established northern families. Hogg’s father, the owner of at least seventeen enslaved peoples, lived between his Raleigh, North Carolina, home and his Bertie County plantation.68 Hogg had attended preparatory school in Connecticut. Because of his northern mother and his early schooling among northern relatives, Hogg’s sensibilities may have been as much northern as southern. Even though he was from a slave-owning family, he may have had some ambivalence about slavery and thus may have been of two minds about Johnson’s emancipation.

Hogg’s possible sympathy for the enslaved is perhaps evident in his handling of a matter concerning slaves given freedom under a will that he executed. In 1857 he became the executor of the estate of John L. Bryan, Hogg’s partner in a Baltimore distillery and the uncle of his wife. In 1853, in a codicil to his will, Bryan wrote: “I give to my Slaves their Freedom.”69 Bryan’s next of kin contested the proviso, which freed fifteen slaves. Hogg was unsure of how to proceed. He did not wish to disobey the command of the testator but feared that because “said negro slaves are all ignorant and uneducated,” it was necessary that “their rights be guarded and protected.”70 Hogg asked the court to determine how the clause should be interpreted and asked that it instruct him on how to fulfill his duty as executor with regard to the slaves. Related documents reveal that the enslaved people were all willing to go to Liberia and were thus freed by a decree of the Supreme Court of North Carolina. Thomas Hogg later reported that “he has heard from them in their home in Liberia” and that he “is gratified that his duty in regard to them is fully and finally discharged.”71

According to one account, when Hogg was approached for money to help purchase Johnson, he called the request impudent but donated nonetheless.72 Other students from the South were also said to have donated to the cause of Johnson’s freedom. Southern students constituted one of the largest geographic groupings of students at the Princeton in the period 1839–48.73

The betrayal and arrest of Johnson, while subject to differing accounts, were pivotal events in Johnson’s story that brought his fugitive status to an end. The end of this status brought Johnson to trial: yet another beginning and another chance at freedom.
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The Fugitive Slave Trial of James Collins Johnson

A jury of good and reputable freeholders was summoned and sworn, and the case was tried at the city hotel, amidst great excitement, caused especially by the southern students, who feared that opposition to the Fugitive Slave law would be so great as to defeat the claim of the owner. They also apprehended that an effort would be made by the colored men of the town to rescue the slave if he should be remanded to the owner.

—John Frelinghuysen Hageman, attorney for the Wallis family

James Collins Johnson’s trial on the charge of being a fugitive slave from Maryland occurred after he was seized and taken into custody on July 28, 1843.1 After four years working in the private obscurity of the campus, Johnson became a figure of public notoriety, as the details of his arrest and trial were disseminated locally and nationally via press accounts. The persons involved in Johnson’s trial were a highly representative cross section of college and town figures, along with noteworthy persons from outside Princeton. The very public interactions of all these figures, along with the fact of the trial and its challenge to slavery, made it an unprecedented undertaking at the college and in the town of Princeton. Moreover, the substantive and procedural standards employed at the trial assailed prevailing legal norms and brought to the fore the college’s, and the town’s, mixed views on slavery.

The Record of the Trial

Johnson’s trial was held on August 1, 1843, in the Inferior Court of Common Pleas of Mercer County, New Jersey.2 It is important to note at the outset that there is no detailed account of the evidence presented in court, of the precise language of the parties, or the words of the court’s ruling. As was the case in a number of legal proceedings conducted at the magistrate level in New Jersey during the early and middle nineteenth century, there was no official written opinion of the case. Contemporary readers of court proceedings may be struck by the absence of an official report in Johnson’s matter given what was at stake. However, as some scholars have remarked, legal case reports in the early national period in the United States were often absent. This was especially true in matters conducted in lower courts as opposed to appellate tribunals. Modern courts also sometimes forgo rendering full opinions in cases, choosing to leave some cases “unpublished,” that is, some decisions are intentionally framed as not constituting a part of legal precedent.3 Most contemporary courts do, however, reduce opinions to writing in at least some cursory, unofficial form. The historic void in official written opinions in many U.S. lower courts created a vernacular legal culture where the oral transmission of legal norms was a central aspect of many local legal regimes. Even though such reports were present, they followed no particular paradigm and were sometimes imprecise renditions of the actual proceedings.4

In the absence of official reports, accounts of many cases were found in popular press and pamphlets or in private writings that sometimes betrayed bias and were laced with inflammatory remarks. Many post–Revolutionary era legal trial accounts were contemporaneously written by lawyers who were involved at various stages of proceedings. These accounts often featured flowery, literary, sensationalist, and, not surprisingly, decidedly one-sided accounts that sometimes switched from first to third person.5 What this meant in practice is that the U.S. jurisprudential idea of stare decisis, basing cases on the precedent set by cases that came before it, was subject to the sometimes unstable foundation of prior legal proceedings. No less an authority than James Kent, one of the early shapers of U.S. law and legal education, opined that “the records of many of the courts in this country are replete with hasty and crude decisions.” Kent understood and frequently stressed the interconnectedness of U.S. law with its English and European antecedents. Nonetheless, Kent hence urged jurists to examine previous cases with a critical eye and a willingness to correct error.6

It is not surprising, then, that much of what is known about Johnson’s trial comes from an account published in newspapers by his enslaver, Philp Wallis, from a brief account in a regional history book written by the attorney for Johnson’s enslaver, John Frelinghuysen Hageman, and from accounts of varying accuracy and limited facts written in newspapers throughout the United States. From these sources a picture may be drawn of the trial’s participants, how it was conducted, and its outcome.

Participants in the Trial

The key participant in the trial was James Collins Johnson himself. In 1843, when Johnson was on trial, most enslaved persons in New Jersey were not permitted to testify in court proceedings.7 Although Johnson’s denial of his enslavement upon his arrest triggered the subsequent legal proceeding, that was the limit of his direct speech in the matter. Johnson’s participation was barred by New Jersey law in effect at the time that, like many states, codified the frequently expressed opposition to “negro testimony.”8 Such laws were based on the ante- and post-bellum concern that blacks had tarnished character and little understanding of or regard for truth.9 While the ability of blacks to testify in court was sometimes premised on slave or free status, concern about black testimony was not diminished by the free status of blacks.10 Rather, the bar on black testimony was often premised on what was believed to be intrinsic racial inferiority and the resultant social exclusion.11 As one legal scholar averred when writing a retrospective compilation of the law of U.S. enslavement of blacks: “That the negro, as a general rule, is mendacious, is a fact too well established to require the production of proof, either from history, travels, or craniology.”12

Ironically, while blacks like Johnson were frequently treated as lacking civic agency and incapable of meeting the demands of citizenship, they were at the same time subject to the legal fiction of “double character,” which attributed to them criminal agency all while denying their civic agency.13 Antebellum legal and political discourses of slavery and resistance tended to ignore, disparage, or mischaracterize black voices. This was true even of abolitionist discourses that purported to “speak for the slave” when, as in Johnson’s case, he could not speak for himself.14 In the case of both enslaved and free blacks, antebellum law, even at times when it offered hope for emancipation, also suppressed the authority and authenticity of the enslaved. Hence law in such matters was often a tool of white oppression and a source of illegitimacy.15

Johnson was apparently a looming but silent presence at a proceeding that centered on him. In the story of the trial told by Hageman, it appears that arguments on Johnson’s behalf were made by his counsel.16 Although popular accounts of Johnson’s life make no mention of how Johnson felt during the trial, it must have been excruciating for Johnson to sit mute and helpless as the greatest dilemma of his young life unfolded before him. Laws that prevented Johnson from testifying in his own behalf at his trial and the absence of an official record in his and many other such cases served to silence and manipulate the voices of enslaved persons like Johnson.17 The construction of happy-go-lucky tales of Johnson’s trial and his subsequent redemption are in part possible because of this gaping chasm of legal silence.

Johnson’s trial was held at the Nassau Inn before Justice of the Peace John Lowrey. Lowrey was a popular figure who had extensive connections in the town and on the Princeton campus. Born in Philadelphia, and a tailor by trade, he came to Princeton as a young man, where he quickly became engaged in the civic life of the town.18 Lowrey, according to one observer, “seems to have been a popular character, possessing the confidence of the entire community, and almost constantly holding official place.”19 He served at various times as a member of the New Jersey militia, a captain in the town militia, known as the “Princeton Blues,” justice of the peace, mayor of the borough, Judge of the Common Pleas, as a member of the New Jersey Assembly, and in other local offices. Lowrey was also active in religious causes, and was especially involved in the Presbyterian Church in Princeton.20 One of the acts for which Lowrey was known was his advocacy on behalf of black Princeton Presbyterians who sought to form their own church in 1840.21 After being presented with evidence that supported the claim of Johnson’s alleged owner Philip Wallis, Lowrey issued a warrant to Princeton constable Ralph Gulick, who supervised the arrest of Johnson and Johnson’s presentation before the court.

Gulick was a Princeton merchant who became sheriff of Mercer County in 1836.22 Like Lowrey, Gulick was prominent in local religious, social, and political affairs. Along with several other prominent men in Princeton, including Hageman, the lawyer for the Wallises, Gulick served as a trustee of the Mt. Lucas Orphan and Guardian Institute, which was founded in 1842 to care for destitute children and youth.23 When the orphan asylum was closed and the property was sold to the town of Princeton, the assets of the institution were transferred to the Ashmun Institute in Pennsylvania, now Lincoln University, a historically black educational institution.24

The lawyers who defended Johnson, William Cowper Alexander and Edward Armstrong, and those who prosecuted the case against him, Hageman and Severn Teackle Wallis, were some of the most socially prominent men of their times. Perhaps foremost among them was William Cowper Alexander. Thirty-seven years old at the time of the trial, Alexander was a well-known lawyer, a graduate of Princeton, and a member of a distinguished local family. Many members of the Alexander family had been students, faculty members, and trustees of Princeton.25 Alexander was the second son of the Reverend Archibald Alexander, the first professor appointed to the Princeton Theological Seminary, and Janetta Waddell, the daughter of esteemed Presbyterian minister James Waddell. Born in 1806 in Prince Edward County, Virginia, William Cowper Alexander came to Princeton in 1812, when his father was appointed to the seminary, and graduated from Princeton in 1824. After reading law with James S. Green, a local attorney who later became a judge, U.S. Supreme Court reporter, and U.S. attorney, Alexander began a law practice after his admission to the New Jersey bar in 1828.26 Alexander later served in the New Jersey State Assembly and in the New Jersey Senate and at one point was a candidate for governor of the state.27

It is not clear how or why Alexander undertook Johnson’s representation. Both the college and the town of Princeton were relatively small in the early and middle nineteenth century, and it is possible that Johnson and Alexander knew each other, although no historical sources indicate this. It is perhaps curious that Alexander chose to defend Johnson in a battle against his enslaver. The Alexander family, like most upper-class southern families of the antebellum period, owned slaves in Virginia. When William Cowper Alexander’s father, Archibald Alexander, left Virginia for the North in 1806, he went first to Philadelphia. The Alexanders brought with them at least one of the family’s Virginia slaves, a woman called Daphne. In the words of Archibald Alexander’s son, James Waddel Alexander, Daphne was “more friend than servant.”28 The descriptions of slaves as friends was not uncommon in settings involving relations between enslaved persons and their enslavers.29 However, as one observer pointed out, even in relations where the enslaved might be momentarily treated as an equal, master-slave relations could never be separated from their social contexts in which enslaved people were subordinate.30

In their travel north the Alexander family also brought with them Daphne’s formerly enslaved husband, John Boatman, who had been owned by another family. Philadelphia Quakers and other sympathetic persons had purchased Boatman from his owner so he could accompany the Alexander family north.31 Eventually Daphne fell ill and was unable to work. After the family’s move to Princeton, she lived in poverty in almshouses.32 She was ultimately sent back to slavery in Virginia, where she resided with Alexander family relatives.33 That Daphne was returned to slavery instead of being freed was perhaps not surprising. Archibald Alexander was one of the stalwart members of the American Colonization Society, and like many members of that group, he believed that it was not in the best interest of freed blacks to live among the general population of the United States. He described the “plan of colonizing the free people of colour in Africa” as “wise and benevolent.”34

Just as the Alexander family’s experience in the South as slave owners may have shaped their early political and legal views on abolition, the move to the North may equally as well have caused the family to question its position on slavery. While in the North, Archibald Alexander joined and became especially active in the ACS. Though the ACS as an organization took a moderate or even conservative position on the question of emancipation, and most if not all its early members owned slaves, later adherents were more progressive in their approaches to emancipation. Alexander, who was at the forefront of the national organization, ultimately came into contact with members whose views covered the spectrum from total and immediate emancipation to cautious and slow emancipation followed by removal to Africa.35

The younger members of the Alexander family may also have been strongly influenced by their move above the Mason-Dixon Line. William Cowper Alexander, along with his brothers James Waddel Alexander and Joseph Addison Alexander, received some of their early education from Princeton Theological Seminary student John Monteith from 1812 to 1816.36 Monteith, who lived with Archibald Alexander and his family, was a community leader and institution builder. Over the course of his life, Monteith served as a professor at Hamilton College in Clinton, New York, organized the City Library of Detroit, and founded and served as first president of what is now the University of Michigan.37 However, Monteith disdained many forms of civic, religious, and institutional authority. During his time at Hamilton College, he became embroiled in a bitter controversy with college president Henry Davis and some faculty members over their opposition to the emotional, evangelical styles of religious revivals that Monteith and some others favored. At one point, Monteith rebuked the Hamilton faculty from the pulpit through a prayer: “Thou knowest, O Lord that the faculty of Hamilton College have sinned in high places: and we pray Thee, O Lord, if they are obstacles to Thy work, that Thou wouldst remove them out of the way.”38

Part of Monteith’s iconoclastic style was his fervent abolitionism. Monteith was a founding member of the American Anti-Slavery Society.39 Thus, Monteith, who apparently maintained contact with the Alexander family later in his life, may have exerted a powerful influence on William Cowper Alexander, first in the latter’s childhood and later in adulthood. For instance, when Monteith went to Detroit in 1816 as the first Protestant missionary to Michigan, he built up an impressive library partly from purchases and partly from books friends such as Archibald Alexander had given him.40 Although William Cowper Alexander’s father, Archibald Alexander, was opposed to the general and immediate emancipation of blacks, given the younger Alexander’s early exposure to Monteith and his family’s long interaction with him, William Cowper Alexander may have chosen to defend James Collins Johnson because of Monteith’s abolitionist influence.

Alexander’s co-counsel, Edward Armstrong, was a Philadelphia lawyer and amateur historian.41 Armstrong was a member of the University of Pennsylvania class of 1832 and had been admitted to the Pennsylvania bar in 1838.42 He was one of the founders of the Pennsylvania Historical Society and served as its recording secretary from 1843, the year of Johnson’s fugitive slave trial, until 1853. It is not clear how Armstrong came to be associated with Johnson’s case. One possibility was Armstrong’s connections to people in and around the town of Princeton. For instance, a few years after Johnson’s trial, in 1847, Princeton awarded Armstrong an honorary degree.43 This could have been, at least in part, a grateful nod to Armstrong’s involvement in Johnson’s trial. Armstrong also had family connections in the area; he married Elizabeth Harrison Gulick of nearby Kingston, New Jersey, the daughter of William Gulick, a businessman with extensive interests in and near the town of Princeton.44 Elizabeth’s branch of the Gulick family, like many socially prominent New Jersey residents, apparently owned slaves at one point; in 1809 Elizabeth’s father, William Gulick, purchased a slave named Tom from John Maclean Sr.45 The Gulick family’s position on slavery at the time of Johnson’s arrest and trial is unclear. There was also at least one Gulick among the students at the college during the time of Johnson’s arrest and trial, William Beekman Gulick, class of 1844, who was born in New Jersey and later relocated to North Carolina.46 The constable who arrested Johnson, Ralph Gulick, was also a member of this large and well-known Princeton-area family.47

One possible reason for Armstrong’s participation in Johnson’s case was the notoriety he had gained from his involvement in a nationally known case shortly before Johnson’s trial: the prosecution in United States v. Holmes of one of the crewman of the ship William Brown after it sank in 1841.48 Sixteen passengers were forced out of an overloaded lifeboat before the survivors were rescued. The ship, which was carrying seventeen crewmen and sixty-five passengers (mostly Scots and Irish emigrants), was en route to Philadelphia from Liverpool, England. On the night of April 19, 1841, while 250 miles from Newfoundland, the William Brown struck an iceberg and began to sink rapidly. There were two lifeboats, one small and one large. The captain and most of the crew took the small lifeboat, and the passengers crowded aboard the large lifeboat. There was not enough space on the large lifeboat for all the passengers, and thirty-one died on board the William Brown when it sank. Alexander Holmes, who was the only crew member then in the city, was arrested and charged with the murder of Frank Askin, one of the men thrown overboard. Before trial, the charge was reduced to voluntary manslaughter after the grand jury refused to indict Holmes for murder.49 Edward Armstrong was part of a team that also included David Paul Brown, a criminal defense attorney who was well known in abolitionist circles and litigated frequently on behalf of fugitive enslaved persons.50 Historical records do not indicate whether Armstrong was also part of the Philadelphia abolitionist bar. However, his association with Brown, along with involvement in Johnson’s case, suggests that he may have been. Throughout his legal and political career Armstrong was noted as a gifted orator. These gifts were apparently on display in Johnson’s trial. Philip Wallis complained that Armstrong “forgot himself so far” as to resort to presenting in his comments “a picture of the horrors of slavery, and the blessings of freedom.”51

Opposite Johnson’s legal team was Hageman, a lawyer and historian whose wife was descended from one of the early presidents of the College of New Jersey.52 Hageman argued the case alongside Johnson’s co-owner, Severn Teackle Wallis. Hageman, who was twenty-seven at the time of the trial, belonged to a family that had lived in central New Jersey in and around Princeton for well over one hundred years by the time of the trial. He had studied at Rutgers University, graduated in 1836, and had been admitted to the bar in November 1839. Hageman received the designation counselor at law in February 1843, a few months before Johnson’s trial.53

Hageman was involved in the professional and social life of the town and of the college throughout his adult life. Though neither Hageman nor any of his direct ancestors had attended the college, Hageman seemed deeply enamored of the college and its traditions and history. Hageman’s sons John F. Frelinghuysen Jr. and Samuel Miller Frelinghuysen attended the College of New Jersey, graduating in the classes of 1868 and 1869, respectively.54 Hageman’s wife, Sarah Sergeant Miller Hageman, had numerous associations with Princeton. Her father was the Reverend Samuel Miller, a professor at Princeton Theological Seminary for over thirty years. Her brother, Samuel Miller Jr., was a member of the class of 1833. Sarah Hageman’s maternal grandfather, Jonathan Dickinson Sergeant, was a member of the Princeton class of 1762 and a member of the Continental Congress. Her maternal great-great grandfather was Jonathan Dickinson, a cofounder and the first president of Princeton.

Hageman produced a number of writings during his life. Many were legal process manuals. Other works, however, were local histories. Like his opposing counsel, Edward Armstrong, Hageman was a historian and a member of his local historical society. The work for which he is perhaps best known is his multivolume work The History of Princeton and Its Institutions, in which he chronicles many of the events of the college and the town, and includes one of the only firsthand accounts of the trial of James Collins Johnson. Hageman’s mention of Johnson’s trial, besides its historical significance as part of the history of the town of Princeton, was also important as a form of case report. For many decades into the nineteenth century, the reporting of state and federal judicial decisions was not the responsibility of any public authority.55 Although beginning in 1806, New Jersey legislatively mandated official law reports, not all opinions were subject to the requirement.56 Often outcomes of cases in lower courts were unavailable in written form. Independent entrepreneurs who undertook the reporting of both state and federal decisions sometimes compensated for these gaps.57 As a result, some cases were reported only in brief, were haphazardly reported, and were sometimes published years after a decision had been made.58 Hageman, while endeavoring to maintain formal language, clearly evinces a bias for the Wallises, describing the evidence as “clear and irresistible” and extolling the verdict in favor of the enslavers, asserting that it was “homage to law—to the constitution of the United States, and not a want of sympathy for a poor slave seeking his liberty.”59

Of all the lawyers involved in Johnson’s trial, Severn Teackle Wallis stands out as the most famous and most accomplished. As an enslaver of James Collins Johnson and as a practicing lawyer, it is clear why he would have served as one of the lawyers in his effort to reenslave Johnson. Wallis attended St. Mary’s College in Baltimore, graduating with a B.A. in 1832 and an M.A. in 1834.60 He studied law with John Glenn and William Wirt. Glenn was a prominent attorney and large-scale plantation owner, and Wirt was a man of tremendous influence and legal renown, having served, among other roles, as the prosecutor in Aaron Burr Jr.’s treason trial in 1807.61 Severn Teackle Wallis finished his legal studies in 1835 at the age of nineteen but was unable to begin practicing law until he reached his majority in 1837.

Wallis championed several political and social causes during his career. However, he was a political pragmatist, and thus, even after winning the case involving Johnson, he accepted the monetary settlement that freed Johnson after the trial. While his father, Philip Wallis, Johnson’s coenslaver, wrote and spoke widely about his anger about having to accept what he felt was a reduced value for Johnson, Severn Teackle Wallis, who was a prolific writer and public speaker, seems to have left no recorded references to Johnson’s escape, recapture, and trial. This apparent forgetting of the matter may be a result of bitterness, but it may also have been an example of Severn Teackle Wallis’s pragmatic approach to the questions of slavery and race. For instance, although he was aligned with Confederate interests in Maryland out of loyalty and sentiment, he opposed the Civil War and wanted to maintain the Union.62

Another example of Severn Teackle Wallis’s pragmatism was seen decades later in his advocacy on behalf of two black men who sought to enter the University of Maryland Law School in 1887, Harry Sythe Cummings63 and Charles W. Johnson.64 Wallis, then provost of the University of Maryland, sided with a law faculty member in admitting the men to law school. Both Cummings and Johnson completed the three-year law course in two years. Some observers have suggested that Wallis, a former enslaver and an apologist for the Confederacy, backed the men chiefly to help bolster black loyalty to the Republican Party, which Wallis supported. Wallis’s actions suggest that both later in his life and at the time of Johnson’s trial, he was focused on reaching an achievable goal and not a dramatic win. As Wallis wrote decades after Johnson’s trial: “Law undoubtedly has more of the stimulus which comes from personal collision and triumph. But the triumph dies almost with the struggle.65

The Conduct of Johnson’s Trial

Before Johnson’s trial began, Severn Teackle Wallis offered a preliminary motion that argued that the New Jersey law allowing for a jury trial was unconstitutional. He supported his motion by citing Prigg v. Pennsylvania. Ignoring Prigg, the magistrate ruled in favor of Alexander and allowed Johnson a jury trial.66

The trial, held under the Fugitive Slave Act of 1793, occurred just months after Prigg v. Pennsylvania was decided in March 1842.67 In Prigg, the court held that most state-enacted protections for alleged fugitive slaves, such as the jury trials called for under New Jersey law, were violations of the 1793 act. Although Johnson’s case should have been conducted under the standard enunciated in that case, the New Jersey judge declined to apply Prigg, as Johnson’s owners wanted, and instead adopted the argument of Johnson’s lawyers, applying a New Jersey law that afforded Johnson greater procedural protection.

Johnson’s trial put into sharp relief what has been described as the moral-formalist dilemma: the conflict between the personal sentiments of judges and other legal actors and the need to adhere to existing legal norms.68 Most of these conflicts in the context of slavery litigation were resolved in favor of legal rules.69 Judges often avoided innovations in legal doctrine that might have resulted in alternative legal formulations in the slavery context.70 For many slavery-era legal decision makers, following the law was the sine qua non of the legal enterprise and of the structure of justice itself. However, even where there was close fidelity to the rule of law, those who adhered sometimes did so not for the mere fact of avoiding change but for politically instrumental reasons.71 Johnson’s trial occurred at an especially volatile time when both federal and state rules about fugitive slaves were undergoing vast change. These changes coincided with a time of renewed focus on slavery as an economic institution in both the North and the South. In this dynamic environment, even long-established and well-defended legal norms sometimes gave way to or combined with social and political perspectives embraced by legal actors in the cases of fugitive slaves. This potent mix was at work in Johnson’s trial.

Prigg concerned the case of Margaret Morgan, who was born in Maryland to parents who had been allowed to live as though they were free on the estate of their enslavers, John and Margaret Ashmore.72 The Ashmores made no claim to Margaret, and during the life of her parents John Ashmore regularly declared that he had set them free.73 She eventually married a man named Jerry Morgan and had children with him. After the death of Margaret’s parents, the Morgans moved to Pennsylvania, where Margaret gave birth to other children.74 In 1837 John Ashmore died, leaving a will that was silent on the matter of Margaret Morgan, her children, and her parents. Ashmore’s widow, Margaret Ashmore, sent four residents of Hartford County, Maryland, to Pennsylvania to capture Margaret Morgan: her son-in-law, Nathan Bemis and neighboring slave owners Edward Prigg, Jacob Forwood, and Stephen Lewis.75 Prigg obtained an arrest warrant in Pennsylvania and had Margaret and her children seized. Prigg took them to Maryland, where a Maryland court declared Morgan to be a fugitive slave. Morgan and her children, including the child who was born in Pennsylvania and who should thus have been free under prevailing laws, were all sold south.76

In the aftermath of the case, the state of Pennsylvania charged Edward Prigg and the other men with kidnapping under an 1826 Pennsylvania statute that forbade the forcible removal of blacks in Pennsylvania to other states with the object of enslaving them or selling them as slaves. After first resisting extradition of the charged men, Maryland eventually allowed the extradition of Edward Prigg. He was convicted by the special verdict of a York County, Pennsylvania, court. He appealed his case to the U.S. Supreme Court, which overturned his conviction in 1842. The Court found that the Fugitive Slave Act of 1793 was constitutional and that no state could impede its implementation by enacting state laws that added additional requirements. It also found that no allegedly fugitive slave was entitled to any due process or trial beyond a summary proceeding to determine his or her identity.

Justice Joseph Story, who wrote for the Court in Prigg, stated that the Fugitive Slave Clause of the U.S. Constitution “manifestly contemplates the existence of a positive unqualified right on the part of the owner of the fugitive slave, which no state law or regulation can in any way qualify, regulate, control, or restrain.”77 This language and other unambiguous statements of the powerlessness of the states to hinder federal norms of slavery came as a surprise to some. Before Prigg, Justice Story had a reputation among some legal observers as being opposed to slavery.78 This reputation was greatly enhanced by his decisions opposing slave trafficking in cases involving the ships La Jeune Eugenie and La Amistad.79

Story had been the justice in La Jeune Eugenie, an 1822 case before the U.S. Circuit Court for Massachusetts. The case involved a U.S. revenue cutter that seized a French ship suspected of slave trafficking off the coast of West Africa and transported the cutter to Boston.80 The U.S. government confiscated the ship, asserting that slave trafficking from Africa to a foreign port violated the law of nations and that seizure of the ship was the appropriate remedy. The court upheld the argument of the government and refused to order return of the vessel to its owners. Story is remembered for his impassioned rhetoric about the nature of slave traf ficking in the case. For example, he wrote: “It cannot admit of serious question that [such exploitation] is founded in a violation of some of the first principles which ought to govern nations. It is repugnant to the great principles of Christian duty, the dictates of natural religion, the obligations of good faith and morality, and the eternal maxims of social justice.”81 However, while Story turned to natural law in support of his decision, he was also mindful of the limits of his judicial role, which gave him only the authority to enforce the law of nations where it had not been “relaxed or waived by the consent of nations” as seen in their “general practice[s] and customs.”82

In La Amistad, Story rendered a decision that freed African captives who had seized a ship at sea and entered the United States. While Justice Story’s decision favored the captured Africans and while he may have condemned slavery, he also opposed abolitionism more broadly.83 Story respected property rights and the rule of law. In finding for the allegedly enslaved Africans of the Amistad, Story concluded that when the ship entered U.S. waters, it was in the possession of blacks asserting their freedom.84 These blacks did not intend “to import themselves here, as slaves, or for sale as slaves.”85 Since they had never been property, they could not, under existing legal norms, become property. In his later decision in Prigg, Story continued in this vein of close adherence to the letter of formal law.

In Prigg, Story may also have been motivated by a desire to respect the constitutional bargain the North and the South had made regarding slavery and to thus preserve the Union.86 While this bargain forbade further imports of Africans after 1808, it also required that property rights in enslaved people be respected. One of the key features of Prigg is that it made slavery an issue of national import and was a vital step in the move toward the 1850 Fugitive Slave Law and the decision in Dred Scott v. Sanford.87 In Prigg, both proslavery and antislavery forces looked to government intervention to protect their interests. Prigg is also an inversion of how many have come to characterize northern and southern approaches to slavery and race, as it involved the South’s invocation of federal supremacy over the rights of northern states to enact state laws to impede slavery.

With Prigg, slavery became part of federal common law that made blacks subject to seizure anywhere in the country when a white person alleged that they were enslaved.88 Some observers have suggested that although the Prigg decision authorized the interstate seizure of an enslaved woman and her children, the decision had wider implications for disrupting slavery because the decision removed the power to implement the Fugitive Slave Clause from states, thereby making it more difficult for slave owners to recover slaves.89 However, this assertion likely attributes too much antislavery feeling to Justice Story. The decision in Prigg v. Pennsylvania was not simply the victory of a humane federalism framed in legal and judicial technicality; Prigg can also be seen as the height of politics and an example of statecraft used to tamp down a burgeoning regionalism. Even if Justice Story’s opinion in Prigg should have been viewed, as he and his son claimed, as a “triumph of freedom” because of the limits Prigg placed on state legislatures in the arena of slavery, the case ended badly for Margaret Morgan and family.90 Margaret Morgan and her children disappeared into the abyss of slavery, never to be heard of again, and her husband, Jerry Morgan, died while trying to free them.91

Given this chilling end for the Morgans, the judge in James Collins Johnson’s case may have been especially sympathetic to the arguments of Johnson’s lawyers that the norms of New Jersey state law should be applied in Johnson’s case. The Wallises’ employment of Madison Jeffers, a notorious slave catcher with a reputation for lawlessness and brutality, signaled a hardened and unbridled determination to retake Johnson. Moreover, Philip Wallis’s Mississippi residency and his straitened circumstances compared with his earlier life in genteel Maryland surroundings did not bode well for Johnson’s future if he were to be reenslaved. Hence, although Prigg essentially eliminated most state-enacted protections for allegedly fugitive slaves, Johnson was given full access to procedures under New Jersey’s 1837 personal liberty laws. One of the most important of these rights was a jury trial. It can be inferred from accounts of Johnson’s trial that his attorney-enslaver Severn Teackle Wallis and Wallis’s co-counsel, Hageman, argued vigorously that jury trials were not legally permitted in fugitive slave trials after Prigg. Their defeat on this procedural issue was a significant legal achievement for Johnson.

Efforts to suppress the new federal procedural norm for slave recapture in Prigg was not limited to single fugitive slave cases such as Johnson’s. This practice occurred often in New Jersey, so often that when the state revised its statutes in 1846 it kept the 1837 personal liberty law on its books. In New Jersey, as in other ostensibly free northern states, social, political, and legal norms worked together to govern conditions for blacks inside and outside the courtroom, and fugitive slave trials were no exception. While this sometimes meant that blacks such as Johnson enjoyed the benefit of positive outcomes in their legal matters, more often it did not. As one commentator wrote when describing Pennsylvania before the Civil War, even if the courts did not “sustain the exclusion of the negro from legal rights, public opinion and individual rights were able to put beyond his reach many of the privileges in which he might have shared.”92

An editor at the National Anti-Slavery Standard, the newspaper of the American Anti-Slavery Society, remarked that Johnson’s case was the first time that a fugitive slave case had been put before a jury.93 While the presence of a jury represented a victory for Johnson, it was a pyrrhic victory—the jury deliberated for thirty minutes before consigning him to slavery.94 The chief juror in Johnson’s case was Josiah S. Worth, a fifty-six-year-old farmer and miller from the Stony Brook section of Princeton.95 Worth was involved in civic and political activities in and around the town of Princeton and was active in the local banking establishment.96 From 1838 to 1839, he had served as the delegate to the New Jersey state legislature from Mercer County.97 In 1837, he was a presidential elector from New Jersey.98 Worth was descended from one of the original Quaker families to settle in Princeton in 1696, and some of his ancestors were instrumental in helping build the College of New Jersey. Though no record of their names survives, there were apparently several Quakers who served on Johnson’s jury.99

Worth’s identity as a Quaker caused some people to view the proceedings as more fair than they might otherwise have been.100 Worth may also have had some sympathy for Johnson beyond that engendered by his religious practices. Worth, who had no children, had designated one of the nephews of his wife, Joseph H. Bruere, as his heir. Bruere was a member of the Princeton class of 1841.101 Bruere lived at home until his senior year, when he lived at Old North, as Nassau Hall (then a dormitory and classroom building) was sometimes called.102 Old North was Johnson’s workplace for most of his early years at the college. Thus, via his nephew, Worth may have had a particular interest in, knowledge of, and even sympathy for James Collins Johnson.

Much of the reason for Johnson’s courtroom loss appears to be the witnesses who testified against him. Key among these were Johnson’s enslavers Philip Wallis and Severn Teackle Wallis.103 A “Mr. Wickes” and his son also apparently also offered testimony about Johnson’s identity, though which members of the Wickes family is unclear.104 A majority of the argument turned on Johnson’s identity and whether Johnson was in fact the slave James Collins who was owned by the Wallises.105 Severn Teackle Wallis was said to have stated that he knew Johnson as well as he knew his own father.106 The irony of this statement cannot be lost on contemporary readers, as it is a reminder of the almost perverse assertion by some enslavers that their enslaved workers were like members of the family.

The atmosphere at Johnson’s trial was made even more contentious by the presence of persons outside the court proceeding. Local blacks apparently came to support Johnson, and southern students supported Wallis’s claim.107 Before, during, and after Johnson’s trial local blacks and proslavery students of the college were in conflict, so much so that Wallis and his lawyer feared that Johnson would be released by an assault on the place where he was jailed. While southern students may have been chivalrous about addressing Johnson’s plight after his conviction by supporting his purchase from slavery, some of them had also shown opposition to freeing Johnson and had helped Johnson’s enslavers at the time of his arrest and after he was convicted.

According to a letter Philip Wallis wrote after Johnson was arrested as a fugitive slave in 1843, “strange negroes” appeared in Princeton to prevent Johnson’s removal to Maryland.108 The Wallises may have accepted payment to redeem Johnson largely to pacify this “gang of blacks” who made “every demonstration toward an immediate rescue.”109 When the mayor of Princeton was unable to control the rioters, Wallis wrote, “Southern students of Princeton” bearing arms helped hold off the black would-be rescuers.”110 Some reports noted that there was “some attempt to rescue” Johnson and that “Princeton college students from the South took part, and dirks and knives were drawn.”111

The presence of antislavery protesters at the fugitive slave trials of alleged slaves was not unusual. Neither were more general antislavery protests. In the antebellum years, groups of antislavery protesters appeared frequently in parts of the North and were especially prevalent in New Jersey and Pennsylvania.112 Blacks in northern states were especially active in staging public protests, such as at an 1837 demonstration in Newark, New Jersey, in response to a fugitive slave trial being held there.113 Johnson apparently made an effort to escape after his conviction, and according to some accounts, southern students wielded weapons in the “fracas that ensued.”114 But it is unclear whether that “fracas” also involved would-be black rescuers threatening violence. If there was such a crowd of black supporters, the Wallises had every reason to fear that they might rescue Johnson, thereby depriving them of their slave and of the monetary value of that slave.

Help did come for Johnson, but not as he and others might have envisioned. Rather than redemption via the court system or by rescuing protesters, aid came in the form of what looked to be a lone woman.
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The Rescue of James Collins Johnson

It was at this juncture that a kind-hearted woman of Princeton came to his rescue, bought him of his master for the sum of $550, and set him free. But the students were not to be outdone in generosity, and they made up a purse of $l00 (a great deal of money in those days) and presented it to Jim. And Jim—honest fellow that he is—assured me that he eventually paid back every dollar of the money with which his freedom had been bought.

—Andrew C. Imbrie, from his 1895 interview with James Collins Johnson

All accounts agree that James Collins Johnson was rescued from slavery via purchase. There is widespread accord in these stories that Johnson’s enslaver agreed to accept a sum of money in exchange for not reclaiming him and conveying him back to slavery after he was deemed a fugitive slave in his Princeton trial. Where these accounts sometimes disagree is about who paid Johnson’s slave price. Most accounts identify Theodosia Ann Mary Prevost as Johnson’s redeemer. Even in the few accounts that suggest that others helped, Prevost is named as a key figure in Johnson’s release. Though Theodosia Prevost figures as a heroine in most stories about Johnson, she is a heroine without apparent cause. Just as most renditions of Johnson’s story obscure the details of his betrayal, arrest, and trial, those accounts frame Theodosia Prevost as a little-known gentlewoman whose actions in favor of Johnson neither had, nor needed, any clear or full explanation. This chapter first offers some sense of who Prevost was by considering her in the context of her family life and the places where she lived. It then explores the conditions under which Prevost redeemed Johnson. Finally, this chapter considers whether Theodosia Prevost’s 1843 rescue of Johnson was the source of freedom and security for Johnson that it has been represented to be.

Although Theodosia Prevost was a white woman with family ties to some of the most prominent families in the United States, like many women of her times, she existed at the margins of history. Fortunately for posterity, her relationships to better-known male figures such as her father, John Bartow Prevost; her step-grandfather, Aaron Burr Jr., with whom she apparently had a close relationship; and her more distant ancestor, John Witherspoon, provide ways to gain insight into her life. Theodosia Prevost’s connections to Princeton, her social and economic standing in the local community, and her gender likely all contributed to making her an ideal savior for James Collins Johnson. With her action to liberate Johnson, she played a major role in a slave rescue that in its time captured nationwide attention. Thus Theodosia Prevost stood out as a public figure at a time when women were typically relegated to home and hearth.

Some accounts suggest that Theodosia Prevost was a woman of modest means who lived a quiet, Spartan life and had a particular abhorrence of slavery that grew from her years of residence in Louisiana as a child and young woman. Other accounts suggest that Theodosia Prevost was a socially active woman who was known as a wealthy philanthropist.1 It is clear, however, that Theodosia Prevost descended from a pedigreed family closely tied to Princeton, and with claims of distant royal ancestry.2

Theodosia Ann Mary Prevost was born on January 10, 1801, in New York City to Frances Anna Smith and John Bartow Prevost. At the time of her birth the family lived at 86 Greenwich Street in Lower Manhattan.3 The street was part of a neighborhood that was popular among New York City’s elite during the late colonial period and the early years of the republic.4 Among the Prevost family’s neighbors at the time of Theodosia’s birth was Dewitt Clinton, who lived a few houses away at 82 Greenwich Street.5 Clinton was soon to become a luminary in New York State politics; the year after Prevost’s birth he became a U.S. senator, launching a career that culminated in his governorship of the state. Clinton was also a famous political rival of Prevost’s step-grandfather, Aaron Burr Jr., who lived not far away on his Richmond Hill estate in Manhattan. Another of the Prevost family’s neighbors was John Jacob Astor, the founder of the renowned Astor family in the United States.6 John Bartow Prevost apparently had business dealings involving both Astor and Clinton.7

Two enslaved persons lived at the Prevosts’ New York home.8 The Prevosts were not unusual in this regard. Though most enslavers held few enslaved people in New York City, slavery was relatively widespread during the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries.9 Between 1790 and 1800, the number of slaves in New York City grew by 25 percent.10 Many New York City enslavers at the beginning of the nineteenth century were owners who, like Theodosia Prevost’s lawyer father, were professional men.11 John Bartow Prevost appears to have sold his Greenwich Street house sometime around 1804 to Henry Kermit, a sea captain.12 Kermit, like John Bartow Prevost and many other New Yorkers, also owned slaves.13 Kermit is described as having worked in “the West Indies trade,” a generalized term often describing commerce in slave-made or slave-harvested products and goods made or produced in the United States to supply the West Indies. It also frequently referred to the sale and transport of slaves.14

Theodosia Prevost was the eldest of four children; her younger siblings were James Marcus Prevost, Samuel Stanhope Prevost, and Frances Caroline Prevost.15 Her mother, Frances Anna Smith, was the daughter of Samuel Stanhope Smith and Anne Witherspoon. Samuel Stanhope Smith was the founding president of Hampden-Sydney College in Virginia, which was, like Princeton, an all-male Presbyterian-affiliated college.16 Smith was also the seventh president of Princeton (1795–1812); he was the first alumnus to fill the position of president. His wife, Anne Witherspoon, was the daughter of John Witherspoon, the sixth president of Princeton (1768–1794) and a signer of the Declaration of Independence. Theodosia Prevost’s brothers, James Marcus Prevost and Samuel Stanhope Prevost, were both members of the Princeton class of 1818.17 Theodosia Prevost’s immediate and extended family, like many historic Princetonians, were linked by their ties to the college, their biological and marital kinships with each other, and their religious faith.18

Theodosia Prevost’s early life in New York came to an end when in 1804, three years after her birth in New York City, President Thomas Jefferson appointed her father as one of the first judges in the Territory of Orleans; he took office shortly after the Louisiana Purchase was concluded in 1803.19 John Bartow Prevost moved to Louisiana, taking with him his wife, his daughter Theodosia, and his two sons. The family’s youngest child, Frances Caroline Prevost, was born on August 24, 1806, in New Orleans. Later that same year, John Bartow Prevost left the bench and began private law practice. Prevost, who was born in 1766 in Paramus, New Jersey, spent much of his career in public service, mostly as a civil servant; in 1794–1796, he was secretary to James Monroe while Monroe was minister to France, and from 1801 to 1804, he served as recorder of New York City.20 While serving as a judge in Louisiana, Prevost was involved in the Garcia and Bollman cases, two noteworthy cases in New Orleans, the latter of which had national implications.21

Prevost was highly learned and was one of the few attorneys in the country who was fluent in English, French, and Spanish.22 Though it is not clear whether he took the enslaved persons he had owned in New York with him to Louisiana, eight months after he arrived there, he bought a plantation near New Orleans with thirty-five enslaved laborers and a large sugar works.23 In this respect Prevost was like the large number of lawyers who took up residence in the lower South during the antebellum period. Many of these southern lawyers and judges either were or aspired to be slave owners and planters.24 However, Prevost’s status as a well-educated plantation owner descended from a prominent family was belied by his financial standing; he had little money of his own.25 Prevost often struggled financially from his early adulthood.26 He was said to have left the Louisiana bench because the salary was low and he required more money to support his family.27 By some accounts, he was in debt to creditors at the time he left the bench.28 Among his debts were mortgages on his real property in New York29 and a large mortgage on his plantation.30

Prevost practiced law in Louisiana for several years after he retired from the bench in 1806. On October 31, 1807, just over a year after the birth of her last child, Frances Anna Prevost died.31 In 1817 President James Monroe appointed Prevost as a special agent to Peru, Buenos Aires, and Chile.32 Prevost sailed from New York on October 18, 1817.33 He likely won the position because of the political influence of his stepfather, Aaron Burr Jr.34 Prevost moved to Peru and was apparently shortly thereafter followed by his sons, Samuel Stanhope (often called Stanhope) and James Marcus.35 He left his daughters Theodosia and Frances behind in the United States, perhaps deciding that the remote South American posting offered little opportunity for regular visits to the United States and was thus unsuited to two motherless, unmarried girls.

Prevost may have been correct in his assessment of the move. Although his two sons traveled to the United States on some occasions, they lived in Peru until their deaths decades later.36 The Prevost men likely had not intended to make their permanent residence in Peru. This is suggested in an August 1822 letter Stanhope Prevost wrote to John Maclean Jr. of Princeton about five years after he moved to Peru. Stanhope Prevost described chaotic social conditions in Peru and detailed the prejudices against non-Catholics. Prevost also wrote that only Catholics could receive a regular burial and that in order to marry, non-Catholics had to convert to Catholicism and renounce their original religions. Prevost wrote, “As I hope neither to marry or die in this country I don’t care much about it.”37 Stanhope Prevost, contrary to the hopes he had expressed early in life, married a Peruvian woman, Maria Mauricia Moreyra Abella-Fuertes Querejazu, in 1841 and eventually had eight children with her.38 He remained in Peru for the next several decades and served as U.S. consul to Peru from 1843 until 1851.39 Stanhope Prevost, his father, John Bartow Prevost, and his brother, James Marcus Prevost, all died in Peru. Stanhope’s father and brother died a few years after he wrote the 1822 letter.40

Judging from the importance that many members of her family gave to education, it is likely that Theodosia Prevost would have been as well educated as any of the women of her day. Her namesake and maternal grandmother, Theodosia Stillwell Bartow Prevost Burr, the wife of Aaron Burr Jr., was said to have been one of the most intelligent and well-educated women of her time; Burr was said to have been attracted to his wife chiefly because of her intelligence and erudition.41 Aaron Burr Jr. closely guided the education of his stepsons, Augustine Frederick Prevost and John Bartow Prevost, Theodosia’s father.42 Burr also gave careful attention to the education of his own daughter Theodosia Burr and provided her with a classical education typically reserved for boys, along with an education in more feminine pursuits.43 Like her father, brothers, and paternal aunt Theodosia Burr, Theodosia Prevost appears also to have had strong early education; her aunt Theodosia Burr remarked in a March 10, 1810, letter to John Bartow Prevost that she took pride in then-nine-year-old Theodosia Prevost’s progress and that the child’s letters “did her honor.”44

It is not clear what became of Theodosia Prevost after the death of her mother in 1807 or after her father and brothers left for Peru a decade later. Theodosia Burr remarked in her March 10, 1810, letter that she had received several letters from young Theodosia Prevost, but there is no indication of where Theodosia Prevost resided when the letters were dispatched to her aunt.45 It is possible that she was sent to the relatives closest at hand and that she joined the New Orleans household of her maternal uncle, John Witherspoon Smith, and his wife, Sarah Henrietta Livingston Duer Smith.46 John Witherspoon Smith had served as a clerk of the Supreme Court in Louisiana. Smith, his wife, and their several children lived on Melpomene Street in New Orleans in gracious surroundings.47 Given this lifestyle of apparent luxury, Smith and his wife might easily have been able to afford to support their young niece Theodosia. Theodosia might also have been sent to live with her maternal aunt, Mary Clay Smith Breckinridge, and her aunt’s husband, Joseph Cabell Breckinridge, in Kentucky.48 Theodosia’s sister, Frances, apparently went to live with these Kentucky relatives, and while still in her teens she married William Lewis Breckinridge, the brother of her aunt Mary’s husband. However, though some records suggest that Theodosia’s younger sister may have attended Lafayette Female Academy in Kentucky while in the care of her maternal aunt, there seems to be no evidence of Theodosia Prevost’s presence in Kentucky or of her formal education.49

Certainly if Theodosia Prevost did spend time among the Breckinridges, this may have been one of the influences that helped shape her position on slavery and cause her to intercede to help James Collins Johnson gain freedom. There was a significant strain of antislavery activism among the Kentucky Breckinridges.50 For instance, Prevost’s uncle Joseph Cabell Breckinridge developed a reputation for abolitionist thought, a reputation that may have been first fostered by his close friendship with Princeton roommate James G. Birney, later an ardent abolitionist.51 Prevost’s brother-in-law, William Lewis Breckinridge, though he was himself a large-scale enslaver, became a prominent Presbyterian minister and antislavery activist.52 Later in life when Theodosia Prevost lived in Princeton as a woman of independent means, she housed two of William and Frances’s sons while they were students at Princeton. One of these nephews, John Bartow Breckinridge, was a member of the Princeton class of 1843 and thus was on campus during Johnson’s trial.53 The other nephew, Marcus Prevost Breckinridge, was a member of the class of 1848.54

One source suggests that Theodosia Prevost and her brothers were sent to Princeton shortly after the 1807 death of their mother, Frances Anna Smith.55 However, the first clear indication of Theodosia’s residence after the death of her mother is not seen until 1818.56 There is evidence that Theodosia Prevost came to Princeton for at least a long-term visit around May 1818, several months after her father departed the United States for his appointment in Peru. A “Miss Prevost” arrived in nearby Philadelphia on a ship from New Orleans on May 15, 1818.57 This could have been Theodosia Prevost. There is also what appears to be a reference to her presence in Princeton in a June 22, 1818, letter written by a relative, John Pintard, who also lived in Princeton.58 In the letter Pintard noted seeing “Miss Prevost” and asked, “What has caused her return? Her father has not yet got back, nor will not probably.”59 In that letter Pintard disparages Theodosia Prevost’s father, John Bartow Prevost, suggesting that although he was talented, he lacked industry and was “too proud” to work.60

It is likely that one of the younger adults among Theodosia Prevost’s Princeton kin would have taken charge of the teenaged girl once she reached Princeton in 1818. Theodosia’s grandmother Anne Witherspoon Smith had died on April 1, 1817, just over a year before Theodosia arrived in Princeton.61 Her grandfather Samuel Stanhope Smith had resigned as president of the college in 1812 due to illness and pressure from the trustees; he died on August 21, 1819, just over a year after she arrived.62 One of Theodosia’s caretakers in Princeton may have been Susan French Smith Salomons, a maternal aunt.63 However, Salomons apparently lived in somewhat narrow financial circumstances much of her adult life.64 This might have limited Salomons’s ability to care for Theodosia Prevost. Another of Theodosia Prevost’s aunts, Elizabeth Smith Pintard, also lived in Princeton at that time, and she might equally as well have provided a home for young Theodosia.65 There is some evidence that both Susan Salomons and Elizabeth Pintard had lived with Samuel Stanhope Smith at his home, which the college provided.66 It is not clear where Salomons and Pintard lived after the housing provided by the college was no longer available.

While Theodosia Prevost was known as a wealthy woman throughout much of her adult life, the source of her money is not clear. One possible source may have been her father, John Bartow Prevost. Prevost’s parents described him as industrious, hardworking, and bright, even in his youth and early career as a lawyer. In letters Aaron Burr Jr. exchanged with his wife, Theodosia, they often described Prevost’s hard work.67 However, views of Prevost’s character and industry were sometimes less sanguine outside the gaze of his admiring parents. Prevost seems to have been short on funds for large parts of his career.68 His fortunes may have changed during his residence in Peru; according to one source he was earning $4,500 per year by 1823, immediately before leaving his position in Peru and about a year before his death.69 This was more than double what he had earned in Louisiana only a few years before when serving as a judge.70

Another possible source of Theodosia Prevost’s money was her step-grandfather Aaron Burr Jr., who served as the third vice president of the United States under Thomas Jefferson. Burr was made infamous as the killer of Alexander Hamilton in a duel in 1804, and came into further disrepute as a result of his trial for treason in 1807.71 According to some accounts, Burr was close to his step-granddaughter Theodosia Prevost, perhaps in part because she was named after Burr’s beloved late wife and daughter, both of whom were also named Theodosia.72 Burr was apparently a strong believer in women’s independence and would likely have wanted to advance Theodosia Prevost’s independent lifestyle were he able to do so.73

Though Aaron Burr Jr. was often magnanimous, he was likely not the source of Theodosia Prevost’s money.74 Perhaps in part because of his generosity, Burr was continuously embarrassed by debts. In one instance, for example, his stepson Augustine James Frederick Prevost pledged his farm as security for money that Burr owed. Upon Burr’s failure to pay, the farm was advertised for sale to satisfy the debt, causing Burr’s daughter Theodosia Burr to write to her brother John Bartow Prevost expressing fear that their brother might lose his property due to Burr’s failure to pay.75 Burr’s debts extended beyond business dealings and even touched on charitable pledges. At one point, Burr was asked to pay an overdue gift subscription that he had pledged to Princeton while serving as vice president of the United States.76 Burr owed large amounts to creditors, and he spent lavishly. There was always a shortage of money, and negotiations for loans and adjustments of debt consumed no small portion of his time. Burr was apparently in difficult financial circumstances even at the end of his life; one source suggests that Theodosia Prevost may have arranged and paid for Burr’s funeral. Although Burr died leaving few assets, over twenty years after his death in 1836, real estate holdings valued at many thousands of dollars came into Burr’s estate.77 However, Theodosia Prevost appears not to have received any money from this windfall. Frances Ann Watson Tompkins, whom Burr left as a residuary legatee in his will and whom he identified as his daughter, inherited this property.78 Burr also named another daughter, Elizabeth, as an heir in his will. Theodosia Prevost seems to have been left only a very small legacy in Burr’s will: a cup bearing the likeness of Burr’s daughter, Theodosia Burr Alston.79

Just as Theodosia Prevost’s paternal grandparents appear not to have been the source of her wealth, neither is it likely that Prevost’s money came from her maternal grandfather, Samuel Stanhope Smith. For one thing, several children and grandchildren survived Smith, and it seems most likely that he would have left any monetary legacy to his children rather than his grandchildren. In addition, Samuel Stanhope Smith may not have had much of a financial legacy to leave behind. In a letter discussing the death of Smith’s wife, Anne Witherspoon Smith, John Pintard wrote that although the death was “a privation to the good man, still under existing circumstances it must be a consolation that his friend and partner is better provided for than by outliving him to have fallen a pensioner on the charity of Princeton College, or to have become burthensome on their children.”80 This quote suggests that Samuel Stanhope had little to leave his wife, much less to his grandchild Theodosia Prevost. A similar conclusion may be drawn from Pintard’s reference to the generosity of the college in providing an additional quarter of salary to Smith’s surviving family members and allowing use of the college-granted house until two of Smith’s adult daughters could find other accommodations.81

Though looking at the movements and actions of her family members provides some sense of the early life of Theodosia Prevost from the time of her birth until her involvement in James Collins Johnson’s case, very little is known directly of her. Theodosia Prevost apparently settled in her own household in Princeton sometime between 1830 and 1840.82 One hint of the life that Theodosia Prevost may have led is seen in a letter written by Princeton professor Joseph Henry. On April 11, 1833, he wrote a letter to his wife, Harriet Henry, describing a trip to and from New York City. Theodosia Prevost accompanied him.83 Henry described her as “very sociable” and referred to the large Greek revival house she owned in Princeton that was then known as the Parthenon.84 Prevost had bought the house lot from a local builder, John Pattison, for $200 on September 24, 1832.85 It is not clear whether Prevost herself or others named the house. It might have been Prevost; the name may have been her tribute to her status as an unmarried woman without immediate family encumbrances. “Parthenon” in Greek refers to either unmarried women’s apartments or a place where virgin, unmarried women dwell.86 This described Prevost, at least in that she was apparently never formally married. Prevost lived at one time with a companion. This may have been the Eleanor Prevost, whom, census records show, she lived with later in her life.87 It might also have been Helen Hughes, whom Prevost described as a “trusty friend” and to whom she left some of her property after her death.

Prevost’s Parthenon was located in the Jugtown section of Princeton at what is now 302 Nassau Street, Princeton.88 The house was described as one of the grandest in town.89 It originally featured an imposing six-pillared portico.90 Prevost sold the Parthenon and its surrounding grounds to Alexander M. Cumming for $3,500 on July 27, 1836.91 She also apparently built and lived in a house at what is now 7–8 Evelyn Place in Princeton. In Prevost’s time and for several decades thereafter the house was known as the Red House. Prevost likely lived in the Red House in 1843 at the time of Johnson’s trial.92
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Contemporary photo of the Parthenon, home of Theodosia Ann Mary Prevost, 302 Nassau Street, Princeton, New Jersey. (Photo credit: Adrian Colarusso.)

It is not clear when or why Theodosia Prevost left Princeton. She was likely there as late as 1849; there is a house marked “Miss Prevost” in the area where her house was known to be on an 1849 map of Mercer County, New Jersey.93 Prevost likely departed sometime in the early to middle 1850s, judging from letters she wrote to John Maclean Jr. while he served as president of the College of New Jersey.94 The letters are among Maclean’s correspondence for the period 1852–1855. These letters are the only examples, other than her last will and testament, of Prevost’s voice in direct communications to others. In one letter Theodosia Prevost gave Maclean an introduction to a Mr. Dellenbusch, whom she described as a “friend” who was “much respected among her friends in Jersey City,” and noted that she had become acquainted with Dellenbusch through these friends.95 In the letter Prevost said that she relied on Maclean’s “goodness and friendship” to give attention to Dellenbusch.96 Dellenbusch was apparently the leader of a vocational training school.97

In a letter to Maclean dated November 24, 1855, Theodosia Prevost wrote that her brother had taken a Mr. McCord to “the city” (presumably New York) to retrieve her brother’s eldest sons. Prevost added that she had been entrusted with her brother’s two youngest sons, aged six and seven, for at least the upcoming winter.98 Prevost was referring to her brother Samuel Stanhope Prevost, the only one of her two brothers to marry and have children, and the only one still alive in 1855.99 Prevost asked Maclean if he knew of someone who could teach her brother’s children for four hours per day, offering to pay an instructor on the basis of a salary of $200 per year.100 Prevost also stated that she would not like to engage such a person beyond winter, as her brother might remove the children thereafter. She added that there was a possibility that her brother might leave the youngest child with her, and she asked Maclean to answer her letter quickly, since Prevost did not like “to take anyone into [her] house who is unknown to a friend.”101

These letters suggest that Theodosia Prevost had an influential and close relationship with Maclean. The 1822 letter from Stanhope Prevost to Maclean supports this interpretation, as that earlier letter indicates a broader familial link between the Macleans and the Prevosts. Maclean was a contemporary of Theodosia and her siblings. The Prevost brothers had ample opportunity to form a relationship with Maclean in young adulthood; Maclean was just two years behind them during their studies at Princeton. This apparent closeness between Theodosia Prevost and Maclean may suggest that Prevost’s involvement in Johnson’s redemption was part of the college’s involvement in Johnson’s redemption.

Theodosia Prevost never married. She is shown in the 1860 census as a fifty-nine-year-old living in Hackensack (which was at that time known as New Barbadoes Township), New Jersey. It is not clear when Prevost bought the house in which she lived, but the 1860 census indicated that her real property was worth $15,000.102 Prevost is shown in residence with someone named Eleanor Prevost, a fifty-five-year-old whose relationship to Prevost is not shown. The census taker listed the occupations of both Theodosia and Eleanor as “lady.”103 It is possible that Eleanor was a relative. There were a number of Prevost kinfolk in the region; Eleanor could have been a cousin.

In December 1861 Prevost made a will naming her “trusty friend” Helen Hughes as co-executor.104 Prevost also named another friend as co-executor, James N. Platt.105 While Prevost gave Hughes the use and occupancy of her house and farm or anyplace where she might live at the time of her death, Prevost willed the rest of her estate to her brother Stanhope Prevost of Lima, Peru.106 Stanhope Prevost was likely chosen in light of the fact that her only other living sibling besides Stanhope at the time, Frances Caroline Prevost Breckinridge, had adult children and was apparently already well situated with her husband in Kentucky.107 In contrast, Stanhope Prevost had married relatively late in life and had several young children in Peru for whom to provide.108

Why Did Prevost Act, and Did She Act Alone?

Perhaps one of the largest puzzles about Theodosia Prevost is why she was involved in the redemption of Johnson. It is, of course, possible that she simply wanted to help, and that though her family had owned enslaved people in her youth, she had also seen and may have been more strongly persuaded by examples of abolitionism. Prevost’s reason for interceding may not have been tied to any antislavery fervor at all; she may simply have become acquainted with Johnson and, seeing him in need, decided to help. Both the college and the town of Princeton were relatively small in 1843; Prevost might easily have met Johnson in some prior dealing. Another clue may lie in the fact that one of Prevost’s nephews, the son of Prevost’s sister Frances Caroline Prevost Breckinridge, John Bartow Breckinridge, born in Kentucky in 1826, was a member of the undergraduate class of 1843.109 Breckinridge was a senior at the college when Johnson was arrested and lived with Prevost in the academic year 1842–1843.110 John Bartow Breckinridge likely knew Johnson from campus and may have told his aunt about Johnson’s case, or even made her acquainted with him.

Even given these possible reasons for Prevost’s involvement in Johnson’s case, it is striking that at a male-only institution filled with sons of some of the most powerful men in nineteenth-century America, many of whom claimed sympathy for Johnson’s plight, a woman was chiefly responsible for securing Johnson’s release. Many scholars have suggested that white women were rarely engaged in the busisness of buying, selling, and hiring enslaved people.111 The “nasty and unseemly business” of transacting for human beings was considered by some people behavior that was ill-suited to white women.112 It is perhaps for this reason that while some of the accounts of Johnson’s release give Prevost the entire credit for arranging the purchase, other accounts suggest that a man named Thomas Lavender “aided and facilitated” the purchase of Johnson’s liberty.113

Thomas Lavender was a Quaker who lived at a plantation at the northeast of Princeton called Castle Howard.114 Born in about 1789 in Hastings, England, into a Roman Catholic family, Lavender was orphaned at an early age and eventually taken into the care of a wealthy American sea captain, Joseph King.115 King was a Quaker who had opposed slavery, although his farm in Queens, New York, had employed slave labor when his father-in-law, Charles Doughty, owned it. Doughty, also a Quaker, later became a leader in opposing slavery.116 King was said to have employed some fugitive slaves at the farm during his ownership. With the help of King, Lavender eventually became captain of a ship, and through trade with China he became a wealthy merchant.

At age forty-five, Lavender retired from sailing and purchased a large farm in Princeton in 1839.117 Lavender had a widespread reputation for philanthropy.118 He was also closely associated with antislavery activism chiefly related to his association with Princeton-area Quakers. Though never formally admitted to Quaker membership, Lavender is said to have been among the last Quakers to worship at the Stony Brook Friends meeting place in Princeton.119 Lavender served in many civic capacities in Princeton. He was, for instance, a New Jersey state commissioner for the development of a house of refuge.120 Lavender also served as one of the first officers of the Princeton Mutual Fire Insurance in 1856.121 Lavender was, in many instances, the proverbial and ever ready friend in need of many persons. Of him it was said: “The young, the destitute and the struggling, in whatever rank or profession, has strong claims on his sympathy; with his purse and voice he was ever ready to cheer and encourage them.”122 Lavender died on January 16, 1869.123

Theodosia Prevost’s life in some ways paralleled that of Thomas Lavender. Though not engaged in some of the very public, official charitable pursuits that filled Lavender’s time, Prevost apparently led a life of quiet yet equally focused philanthropy. Ironically, because Prevost was an unmarried, mature woman, she was freed from some of the constraints that might have faced a man who chose to act in Johnson’s favor. Though a member of the community in high standing, she was not engaged in business or any other endeavor that depended on the goodwill of the community. She could, therefore, disregard any opposition by proslavery voices in the town or at the college. Prevost’s act was popularly depicted as the kind act of a benevolent woman of independent wealth. However, Prevost’s payment on Johnson’s behalf, whether or not it had initially been intended as a gift, was not a gift. Many popular accounts indicate that Johnson painstakingly repaid the funds over several years. While these stories hail Johnson’s thrift and virtue on this score, Theodosia Prevost’s generosity in providing the money stand out as the crucial detail in Johnson’s rescue.

Johnson’s Repayment to Prevost

Many accounts of Johnson’s story noted that he repaid his benefactor Prevost. According to some of these accounts, especially those most contemporaneous with the incident, Johnson was required to repay the funds and/ or to serve Prevost as compensation for her payment on his behalf. It is not clear where the claim that Johnson was compelled to repay Prevost originated. The most likely source of the claim is Philip Wallis, Johnson’s enslaver. Wallis asserted, in a bitter letter penned shortly after the trial, that Johnson was made to “serve” Prevost in order to pay her back. Wallis indicated that the term of service was for five years, and at the rate of $100 per year.124 This would seem a direct contradiction to the most typical story told about Johnson, which is that he repaid Prevost only out of a sense of integrity and gratitude. This claim of compulsory repayment was repeated in other news accounts. One newspaper account noted: “The negro agreed to serve the lady five years, at the rate of $100 a year, in consideration of the five-hundred dollars she advanced him.”125 Other papers of the period carried similarly worded stories of the requirement of repayment.126

Because Philip Wallis was an enslaver bereft of his slave, he may have been particularly angry at Johnson’s avoidance of slavery. Whether he had actual knowledge of such a forced repayment scheme, Wallis might easily have imagined that Prevost could only have helped Johnson under circumstances that involved Johnson’s ongoing servitude or debt to his benefactor. However, the truth of Johnson’s repayment may have been somewhere in between compulsory repayment and a gratitude-inspired, noncompulsory action. In describing Johnson’s future repayment of the sum advanced by Prevost, the physicist Joseph Henry noted in a letter to his wife, Harriet Alexander Henry, that Prevost had given Johnson “a liberal opportunity offer of working out his time. Such is the rumor of the day.”127 It is not clear what Henry was trying to signal with this emphasis on the word opportunity. The fact that Henry mentioned the incident in his letter to his wife, Harriet, who was away with one of their children visiting relatives, suggests that the matter was of broad community interest. Henry indicated that his information has come from “rumor.” The nature of the mention also suggests that the matter is one well within the knowledge of the Henrys and of ongoing interest to them: Joseph Henry says that “Miss Prevost has purchased ‘the black slave’ ” in one communication to his wife without giving a lengthy description of either Prevost or Johnson.128 The fact that Henry mentioned the outcome of Johnson’s trial and Prevost’s rescue in his letters to his wife most likely indicates how critical an event Johnson’s trial and rescue was in the town and on the campus rather than any personal interest that Henry had in Johnson or black liberation. Though he was apparently not in favor of slavery, neither was Joseph Henry a supporter of black equality.129 Henry decried the violence wrought by the Civil War but believed that servitude was the proper position of blacks.130

It is possible that Johnson was required to repay or felt obliged to repay the funds advanced because of the way Prevost obtained them. One article published in a Baltimore paper around the time of Johnson’s redemption said this: “We learn that a female, that was much interested in [Johnson’s] welfare, mortgaged some property and raised the sum of $550, which she paid to the claimant for his release.”131 Indeed, if Johnson was compelled to repay the funds, either by an actual threat of return to slavery or by immense social pressure, this could have been the genesis of a comment that was attributed to Johnson in his later life. In one of the most detailed interviews of Johnson, he evidenced bitterness when complaining about a white Civil War veteran who had been given a campus vending permit, hence invading into Johnson’s fiefdom. When he was told that his anger was misplaced and that the white veteran had fought for Johnson’s freedom, Johnson stated: “I never got no free papers. Princeton College bought me; Princeton College owns me; and Princeton College has got to give me my living.”132

This moving quote points up a central but unacknowledged fact about Johnson’s redemption from slavery: it was much less of a clear victory than most accounts suggest. In New Jersey, as in other ostensibly free northern states, both social and legal norms worked hand in hand to govern day-to-day conditions for blacks. As one commentator wrote when describing Pennsylvania before the Civil War, even if the courts did not “sustain the exclusion of the negro from legal rights, public opinion and individual rights were able to put beyond his reach many of the privileges in which he might have shared.”133 This was nowhere more true than in New Jersey in the 1830s and 1840s. While Johnson’s arrival in New Jersey offered the promise of freedom, it was a promise that was circumscribed by a social and legal history of enslavement that in many ways belied New Jersey’s label as a free state.

Both the town of Princeton and the college were particular strongholds of pro-slavery feeling in a state that was greatly divided on the issue. Johnson’s arrest and fugitive slave trial are reminders of this fracture. Al though Johnson’s life in New Jersey in the two decades after his redemption and before the Emancipation Proclamation offered much greater possibilities than his enslavement in Maryland would have, his life following redemption from slavery remained riddled with uncertainty and limitations as he lived among a community of whites who had mixed opinions on slavery and on the rights of blacks. In this fraught and tense political and social environment, Johnson’s unclear legal status left him vulnerable and circumscribed the choices he could make. Although Johnson remained in Princeton in the decades after his fugitive slave trial and made a life that was likely better than what he would have faced as an enslaved person in Maryland, the seemingly happy portrait of his abiding presence may have had somber undertones. It is unlikely that he could have left Princeton, for example, because he had no papers documenting his status as a free man. Still, an ambiguous and circumscribed rescue was better than no rescue at all.
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Johnson’s Princeton Life after the Trial

The business of janitor and boot-black had not proved particularly lucrative, and now that his second wife (whom he had married in 1852) demanded more luxurious apartments than he was able to furnish, Jim established his famous second-hand clothing store on the spot since desecrated by the erection of University Hall.

—Andrew C. Imbrie, from his 1895 interview with James Collins Johnson

Once James Collins Johnson was released after his fugitive slave trial in 1843, his life resumed a more steady pace. Johnson continued his work as a college servant during this period; at least one source shows him listed among persons paid for doing student laundry.1 The next decades of his life, however, were not without challenges. These difficulties were due in part to a persistent racial gulf between blacks and whites on the Princeton campus and in the town community. Johnson, however, often bridged this gap by carrying on a dynamic, seemingly carefree public life that hid a quieter and more purposive private life.

It is not surprising that there were strained racial relations between town and gown in the years after Johnson’s trial. While life in the antebellum North was often markedly better for blacks than life in the southern states, many racial problems persisted for blacks even in the North. It was true that blacks who migrated to the North often enjoyed greater economic freedom than they had experienced in the antebellum South. The crucial fact of being a wage-earning campus worker rather than an enslaved person made manifest the amelioration in Johnson’s position. However, this clearly improved economic status did not necessarily herald substantially better social conditions for Johnson.

While there had been much popular support on campus and beyond for freeing Johnson during his trial, this did not mean that Johnson and other blacks in Princeton enjoyed a life free of all the limitations of bondage. Many of those who rallied to free Johnson were themselves slaveholding Princeton students or town residents who opposed the full and equal participation of blacks in civic and social life. For a large number of northern whites, including many of those on the Princeton campus and in the town of Princeton, blacks were barely tolerated, often disdained, and largely invisible outside their roles as servants. For the most part, in the antebellum period free blacks in rural and suburban New Jersey served whites as common laborers or in domestic capacities, though many blacks managed to supplement their jobs with some amount of private enterprise. In the years immediately after his fugitive slave trial in 1843, Johnson followed this path of merging domestic service with entrepreneurial endeavors, continuing to work as a servant at Princeton while working on his own account. But Johnson’s work at the college was for many years all-consuming and demeaning.

Given his narrow escape from slavery, Johnson was likely grateful for his job as a campus servant. It was not an easy job, however. During most of the years of Johnson’s employment at Princeton, students were not allowed to keep personal servants (the word slave was never employed in campus rule compilations) on campus.2 This proscription ostensibly included slaves.3 Many students therefore relied on Johnson and other servants the college employed for their personal needs. Each college building typically had only one servant to attend to all the rooms and to the students in those rooms.4 Johnson and the other servants cleaned rooms and outer hallways, helped maintain and organize students’ belongings, delivered and retrieved clothing from town laundry services (or cleaned laundry themselves for an additional fee), obtained fuel for lamps,5 and fetched wood for fireplaces and woodstoves. Servicing woodstoves was an onerous task for servants such as Johnson, as the pipe connecting the stove to the chimney often filled with smoke or became disconnected, leaving the floors covered in soot.6 Soot was an especially chronic problem in the rooms in Nassau Hall, where Johnson worked.7

Students sometimes complained that servants did shoddy or abbreviated work. Some students even claimed that in order to ensure that their beds were made or their floors swept, they needed to muss their covers or dirty their floors.8 However, if servants were inattentive to some of their assigned tasks, it may have been due to the sheer volume of the work. Each servant’s workday typically lasted well into the evening, as students often kept late hours, and their rooms required heating for much of the day. And servants’ days began very early, since in the morning each building servant was required fill the water pitchers students had placed outside their doors.9 Students also left their shoes outside their doors for cleaning.10 Once water pitchers had been filled and shoes cleaned, each servant would walk into the entry of the dormitory for which he was responsible, blowing a horn to wake students for morning prayers by 7 a.m.

Although white and black servants often shared some of the same duties, cleaning and polishing shoes was left to black servants such as James Collins Johnson. As one student noted, referring to Johnson and other black servants at the college, “The blacking department is entrusted to darkies, who black every morning the boots and shoes which are put in the entries at the risk of the owner.”11 One of the most disagreeable duties that befell servants was the emptying of chamber pots. The Princeton campus featured no indoor plumbing in the 1840s and for many decades thereafter. Thus servants such as Johnson had to empty chamber pots into nearby wooden outhouses, or “back campus buildings,” as they were euphemistically called.12

These wooden outhouses were frequently burned down, blown up, vandalized, and otherwise ravaged by the students, making heavy work for the servants in addition to their regular daily tasks.13 Servants on the Princeton campus carried night soil buckets to outhouses long after a large, multistalled latrine, nicknamed “cloaca maximus” (after a Roman sewer system), was installed between the Whig and Clio buildings on campus in 1861. From this unpleasant work Johnson is said to have obtained the nickname “Jim Stink” or “James Odoriferous” not long after his arrival.14 Some stories say that Johnson was so named because of an 1879 incident in which he was paid to retrieve a gold watch from a Nassau Hall privy.15 However, references to Johnson diving into privies or other waste water to retrieve student belongings were made as early as the 1850s.16 There is some suggestion that Johnson chose work in the latrines rather than being compelled to undertake the work and that Johnson’s willingness to do any task accounted for some of his popularity.17 If this was Johnson’s attitude, it was an attitude also demonstrated by scores of blacks even decades after Johnson reached the North. As W. E. B. Du Bois explored in his 1899 book The Philadelphia Negro, even near the end of the nineteenth century, many northern white employers believed that black workers were “more willing and obliging” than white servants.18 However, Johnson’s options were likely constrained by his hesitancy to offend patrons. His willingness to do unpleasant work may have been shaped by a context where frequently the only jobs available were those that white workmen disdained.19 Northern blacks like Johnson were often able to make a living only by performing these disagreeable tasks.20

Johnson’s derisive nickname, while cruel, was emblematic of Princeton students’ treatment of those in their midst whom they deemed social inferiors, and this included both blacks and whites. However, cruelty to subordinate whites was considered bad form for gentlemen.21 As one student in the class of 1852 noted about white servants, “Some of the boys cuff them [Irish servants] about a little, but this is entirely beneath gentlemen, and argues too little of self-respect and good breeding to be prevalent even to a limited extent.”22 Judging from some of the types of abuse recorded against blacks on and near the Princeton campus in the antebellum period, there seem to have been fewer social prohibitions against causing them harm.

Incidents of abuse of black residents in the town of Princeton were apparently not infrequent. Indeed, in the late antebellum period of the 1840s and 1850s and in the period shortly before the Civil War, Johnson faced almost as much adversity as he had when he was a fugitive slave. Although Johnson and other formerly enslaved persons who had escaped to the North were ostensibly free people, they still faced the challenge of claiming economic, legal, and political rights, not to mention social rights. During the period leading up to the Civil War and shortly afterward, whites in both the North and the South became increasingly uneasy about the social changes that freedom for former slaves would bring.23 Blacks and whites remained separated both before and after the Civil War. In the years before the war, blacks and whites in many communities lived in relative proximity.24 After the war, residential segregation became the norm.25 When workplaces such as Princeton chose to hire both blacks and whites, they carefully separated the races in ways that maintained existing racial hierarchies. Although blacks and whites sometimes performed the same duties at Princeton and at other workplaces, employers were careful to preserve racial distinctions that placed blacks at the bottom. Even so, blacks in northern communities sometimes suffered threats of violence in connection with their work, especially as growing numbers of white immigrant workers competed with them for jobs on canals and railroads and in other industries.26 Violence also sometimes erupted when whites confronted blacks who worked on shared job sites or who were otherwise perceived as threats to white immigrant success.27

In addition to threatened and actual white violence related to work, blacks in New Jersey often suffered near penury as a result of almost slave-like systems of employment in the period immediately before the Civil War. Some of Johnson’s black New Jersey contemporaries did not have access to wage-paying labor. In some cases, they were paid in food, shelter, or clothing instead of cash. An 1853 New York Daily Times article described the conditions of blacks in the Ramapo Valley of northwestern New Jersey, noting that they were paid in food and clothing so they could not use cash to purchase alcohol.28 “They are free; can come and go when they please, but they do not often receive wages,” stated the article.29 The writer, seemingly a slavery sympathizer, added gratuitously that the blacks of the Ramapo Valley were ignorant, licentious, and neglectful of their children.30 Even decades after the Civil War and the passage of the Thirteenth Amendment, there were sporadic complaints of slavery-like conditions for black workers in New Jersey.31

Amid these harsh economic conditions and disquieting social relations between blacks and whites, Johnson and other members of the Princeton black community struggled to survive in Princeton. Johnson, not unlike many other blacks in town, addressed these difficulties with efforts launched from two distinct strands of his life, one private and the other public.

Johnson’s Private Life

Documents suggest that it was not until sometime after his arrival in Princeton that James Collins began calling himself James Collins Johnson. In the 1850 census, there is no James Johnson in Princeton, only a James Collins, a black man from Maryland born around 1819 who lived with a woman named Phillis and a child, Thomas Collins, born around 1843, both of whom were also born in Maryland.32 This is likely the entry for James Collins Johnson, his wife, and his son. It indicates that Johnson may have traveled back to Maryland between 1839 and the date of his fugitive slave trial in order for Phillis to become pregnant and give birth to the couple’s child in Maryland. Or Phillis may have joined Johnson in Princeton before the trial and traveled back to Maryland for the birth. It is also possible that Thomas was not Johnson’s biological child and that he claimed the child as his own. Although Johnson made a brief reference to his first wife in his 1895 interview with Andrew C. Imbrie, noting his marriage to her and her death, Johnson does not give precise dates for either of those events, and he never mentioned how or when Phillis traveled to join him in New Jersey. It is not surprising that in the limited published materials about Johnson, little is presented about Phillis and other women in his life. Patriarchal norms of the era tended to keep women and minor children outside public accounts; this was true for black women as well as white.33 Hence, much of what is known about Phillis and other Johnson family members must be gleaned from other sources.

If the 1850 entry for James Collins is for James Collins Johnson, it is not clear why he would have given his name as Collins. On the one hand, in 1850, his fugitive trial was well over, and ostensibly he would have been safe using the name Collins once again. On the other hand, he had come to be known as James Collins Johnson in the town of Princeton and at the college. Perhaps he gave the Collins name because of the official nature of the census. Perhaps he did so to obscure or forget his former status as a slave.

Thomas Collins seems to disappear from official records after the 1850 census. One possibility is that he died young. Although precise data on child mortality in the United States are not available until around 1900, it is likely that children died in the middle 1800s at much the same rate, if not at a higher rate, than children in 1900 and thereafter.34 In 1900 almost one out of five children died before the age of five; rates were likely the same or higher in earlier decades because of the absence of widespread sanitary practices and inadequate nutrition.35 The rate of child mortality was substantially higher for blacks in the late nineteenth century, especially for urban blacks.36 Thomas Collins might also have been sent to live with relatives in Maryland, especially given the early death of his mother. The name Thomas Collins appears in several instances in the Maryland census; for instance, an entry for a black Thomas Collins of the same approximate age appears in the 1870 Maryland census. This Thomas was living in Dorchester County, Maryland, a short distance from Easton, Maryland, which James Collins Johnson claimed as his birthplace.37 Although it would seem unlikely that Johnson would send his son back to Maryland, a slave state from which he had fled, his need to find a caretaker for his son might have outweighed this concern, especially given that Thomas’s mother, Phillis, was apparently free, thus likely giving Thomas free status under then-extant laws.

Johnson’s first wife, Phillis, likely died on July 17, 1852, and was buried in Princeton.38 Johnson married his second wife, Catherine McCrea, on December 23, 1852.39 Johnson and his bride, listed as widower and widow, were married by a Reverend Duffield.40 This was probably John Thomas Duffield, a member of the Princeton faculty during this time.41 Duffield graduated Princeton in 1841, so it is likely that he was acquainted with Johnson during Johnson’s earliest years on campus.

The census of 1860 recorded that a woman named Catherine and a child named Emily were living with Johnson, and all were designated by the surname Johnson. Emily was born around 1853.42 Emily is listed as attending school in the 1860 census. It is possible that she was educated in the town of Princeton, as there had been some education for blacks there since the 1830s.43 Ten years later, the 1870 census records that James Collins Johnson was living with Catherine Johnson and a seventeen-year-old named Emily Sorter.44 Sorter is presumably the Emily Johnson seen in the Johnsons’ household in 1860, drawing inferences from the common first name and the residence of the Emilies. If Emily Sorter is Emily Johnson, she may have married between the 1860 and 1870 census; teenage marriage was quite common in this period.45 Emily’s last name, Sorter, or Sortor, as it was spelled by many area blacks, was one that was prominent in the Princeton black community.46 A review of census records shows that there was one young man, Malon Sorter, a mulatto born in 1849, living in the area when both Emily and Malon were small children.47 He might later have been Emily’s husband. However, Malon does not appear in the 1870 census.

Although Emily was still living in the household with James Collins Johnson and Catherine Johnson in 1870, she was no longer attending school. This is not surprising. At seventeen years old, Emily was of an age when some students would have been in high school or undergoing vocational training during the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. However, high school attendance in the late nineteenth century was not common.48 Adding to the difficulties, there was no high school training for blacks in Princeton through the late 1800s. Even near the beginning of the twentieth century, Princeton blacks seeking formal education beyond common (lower) school were largely limited to three choices: they could attend a normal school, they could go to Trenton to attend the public high school in that town, or they could seek private tutoring.49 Moreover, if Emily had married as a teenager, this likely would have triggered the end of her school career, as early marriage was for decades viewed as an alternative to additional schooling for many young women.50

Emily Johnson Sorter, like Thomas Collins and Malon Sorter, seems to disappear from census records after 1880. She may have died young. A substantial alternative possibility is that Emily Johnson Sorter remarried, again changing her surname. Census records leave a trail suggesting that this was the case. In the 1880 census, a Princeton resident black woman named Emily Gordon is age twenty-seven and thus was born around 1853, the year Emily Johnson was likely born. The birthplace of the mother of Emily Gordon is noted as New Jersey; the birthplace of her father is indicated as Maryland. Emily Gordon was living with a husband named William S. Gordon and a boarder named Alexander Sorter. Sorter was likely the surname of Emily Johnson’s first husband, suggesting that Alexander Sorter may have been a relative of her former spouse. Emily and William had two children in 1880: Walter, born in 1878, and Sarah, born in 1879.51 Emily and William also appear to have had one other child. An Emily W. Sortor Gordon born in New Jersey is shown as the mother of a son born in Washington, D.C., on June 4, 1887.52 The father of the child was William S. Gordon, also born in New Jersey.53

William S. Gordon, who was born around 1843 in Princeton, was a sailor during the Civil War.54 William’s first wife was likely a woman named Annie, also born around 1843.55 William appears to have been a man of some standing in the Princeton black community; he may have been a member of a family of Gordons who were described by one writer as “a large and influential family.”56 Upon his return from the Civil War, he was apparently one of a group of black men who sought greater political power for blacks in Princeton.57 William’s heightened social standing may have been part of what allowed William and Emily to relocate to Washington, D.C., where William worked as a clerk. Records show that William S. Gordon, a married Washington, D.C., clerk born in New Jersey, died on August 16, 1891, and was buried in Princeton, New Jersey.58 On September 7, 1891, a widow’s claim was filed under William S. Gordon’s Civil War pension.59 A widowed woman named Emily W. Gordon died August 9, 1895, in Princeton, New Jersey.60 It appears that one or more of William Gordon’s children filed a claim under William’s pension after the death of Emily.61 The U.S. government awarded pensions to Union veterans of the Civil War, and to their widows, minor children, and dependent fathers and mothers.62 These details all tend to suggest that Emily Johnson became Emily Sorter and then Emily Gordon.

Emily’s mother, Catherine McCrea Johnson, died on June 22, 1880, in Princeton.63 Her death certificate, signed by Dr. A. K. Macdonald, indicates that she died of cardiac dropsy.64 A. K. Macdonald was likely Arthur Kendrick Macdonald, a prominent Princeton physician.65 Macdonald had begun private practice in Princeton in December 1877, just a few years before Catherine Johnson died.66 He apparently had close ties to prominent figures during his career. For example, he was the personal physician of former president Grover Cleveland during Cleveland’s residence in Princeton, and he served as medical supervisor for athletics at the College of New Jersey.67 Given Johnson’s unofficial role as college mascot, Macdonald almost certainly knew him through his role as physician to Princeton’s athletic teams. It is not clear whether Macdonald served as a regular physician for Catherine Johnson or her husband. He was likely one of few physicians in Princeton during this period.68 Catherine Johnson was ill for at least a few weeks before her death, as the 1880 census record, which was made on June 6, 1880, noted that she was suffering from dropsy, a nineteenth-century term for edema.69

Another major change in Johnson’s post-trial life was his purchase of a home in 1851. Johnson bought the house at what is now 32 Witherspoon Street at auction from the estate of Joseph Scott for $187.70 It is not clear how Johnson raised the funds for the purchase. According to several accounts, Johnson spent the years immediately after his fugitive slave trial repaying the money that Theodosia Prevost had advanced to pay Johnson’s owner. How difficult this schedule of payment might have been is related to Johnson’s wages and to other expenses he might have faced.

Johnson is described as a laborer, as are most of the black male residents of Princeton who appear in the 1850 census.71 In the early 1850s Johnson apparently still worked as a campus servant. Although a number of enrollment brochures for the period from 1840 to 1850 indicate that students generally paid the college from two to three dollars per academic year for servants, it is not clear what the college paid the servants. It is possible to speculate based on wages of the day: in 1840 a general laborer in a large brewery in New York received 62 cents per day, while skilled workers such as carpenters earned over one dollar per day.72 However, blacks often earned lower than average wages for whites. Another factor that complicates estimates of Johnson’s income is the fact that workers in service industries may have earned tips. Johnson was the frequent recipient of gratuities, some of which were perhaps given because of his role as campus mascot and good fellow. In one account, for example, Johnson is described as currying favor with graduates to induce them to “come down” with a quarter.73 The price of student largesse at times involved subjecting himself to mockery.

Johnson provided meals for students, such as the oyster suppers recalled fondly by one former student. He sometimes accepted not only cash but also used clothes to be sold in his shop, and as one former student wrote, “Many a good pair of trousers has passed into his shop to square an account for a feast already eaten.”74 Johnson also purchased furniture from departing students and resold it to new students.75 One account from the 1850s describes a student bargaining with Johnson for the purchase of a table.76 Campus servants apparently sold the furniture students left behind as a way of supplementing their incomes. Johnson also extended credit for the purchase of some of his wares and made loans to students.77 Some of Johnson’s loans to students were at what one student described as “enormous interest rates.”78

Still, even assuming that Johnson sold used items, received a wage of as much as one dollar per day (which was on the high side), and obtained gratuities and proceeds from loans to students, it might have been difficult for him to amass the capital needed to repay Theodosia Prevost for the money she had advanced to his slave owner, pay his day-to-day expenses, and at the same time save the money needed to buy a house outright. It is possible that Johnson might have received bonus work pay or extra assignments from the college in order to save some of the money he needed to buy a house. There are, for instance, receipts from James Collins Johnson for funds the college paid to him for laundry services in the 1840s where he is among the highest payees.79 In other cases the receipts from the college do not specify what the money was for or what period of time they covered. These sums ranged from five dollars to fifty dollars. In one case, for example, five dollars was paid to Johnson “on account.”80 Some of Johnson’s financial footing may have been because Johnson may have been a particular favorite of college officials. In one instance, on December 19, 1852, Johnson received fifty dollars from Princeton “for services rendered.”81 This was just a few days before his marriage to Catherine McCrea on December 23, 1852.82 It is conceivable that this money, a relatively large sum that would seem to be well beyond wages of that period, was provided to help pay for the nuptials.

Given Johnson’s financial relationship to the college, it is also possible to surmise that the college was involved in Johnson’s land purchase. One clue may be the fact that Johnson’s lot was immediately adjacent to the home of James Carnahan, then the president of the college. Moreover, the original recorded deed to Johnson’s lot is contained in the files of Princeton University in a folder labeled “College Lands.”83 Accompanying the deed with a recording date of December 25, 1851, is a pencil sketch of the property showing Johnson’s land relative to Carnahan’s and another neighbor.84 The date of December 23, 1851, is written on the sketch along with several calculations of dollar amounts. There is no indication of who made the pencil sketch; perhaps it was Johnson, who then gave the deed and the sketch to the college for safekeeping. Or perhaps a college official was the creator of the sketch and Johnson’s home was considered, in some respect, college land.

Johnson was not the only black person in the town of Princeton to own his own home, to be immersed in the community, or to have a satisfying family life. There were several others, as entries indicate in an 1855 diary belonging to Ann Maria Davison, a white antislavery advocate.85 Some Princeton blacks, she noted, owned their own homes or were in process of buying them. Others rented their homes but had a decent standard of living. Davison was a New Jersey native who had lived in Louisiana for several years.86 Her abolitionist leanings, and her insistence on teaching black children to read, raised the ire of her white Louisiana neighbors.87 Besides teaching blacks, Davison also closely studied the living conditions of blacks in Louisiana and in places she visited. When she traveled to Princeton, her curiosity was piqued by the dignified bearing of the blacks she encountered at her hotel:

I had observed my washerwoman at the Hotel to be respectable in her deportment, neat and clean in her appearance—also the waiter at the Hotel where I was staying, was polite and civil, and altogether a very decent man. I saw a seamstress of much intelligence and propriety of behavior, and in the street one day a group of some five or six colored children, as if just out of school dressed well, deporting themselves as well as white children, with their school bags on their arms, seeming to contain a goodly number of books.88

Davison visited the black community in Princeton and interviewed several people, but before doing so, she was discouraged by students at the college and others, as she noted in this entry:

I have been frequently in Princeton and always remarked the black people that seem’d to cluster around the College; wait in public houses &c—I inquired about the manner of their living—in what way they supported themselves, and what were their character generally? The answers were from Students and such persons as chance through in the way of passing travelers; that they were a poor miserable degraded set of beings, improvident, living from hand to mouth, all congregated together in what they called Negro Town.89

Davison persisted nonetheless. On May 26, 1855, before departing for Philadelphia, Davison visited the homes of fourteen black families. What she found apparently surprised her. She first stopped at the home of William Simpson, who sold confections.90 When she asked him how he made a living selling items with such little value, Simpson told her that he not only owned his home and confectionery but also owned another, better house that he rented out for income.91

Davison noted that when she asked for pencil and paper with which to write down Simpson’s name and the names of other interviewees, “a very well looking woman,” likely Simpson’s wife, told her: “I guess Madam you will not go into any of the houses of the colored people that you will not find pen, and ink, or paper and pencil.”92 Although the families she visited exhibited varying degrees of comfort and wealth, all, Davison observed, had pen, pencil, ink, and paper.93 At the conclusion of her visits, Davison wondered “how it could, truthfully be said, that they were so wretched and destitute.”94 She concluded by writing: “The only satisfactory explanation I could make to myself, was, the comparison I supposed to the white population must be constantly making, between their own spacious Mansions, and the humble homes of the poor black man.”95 It is not clear whether Davison met James Collins Johnson during her time in Princeton, as he is not mentioned by name in her writings. However, she may well have encountered him, as Johnson and William Simpson were neighbors in what Davison called “Negro town,” and their 1860 census listings appear in proximity to each other on the same census reporting sheet.96

Johnson’s own entrepreneurial enterprises expanded greatly when Nassau Hall burned down in 1855. After this event, Johnson obtained a license to work almost full time in a business that he had only previously dabbled in—selling food and used clothing to students.97 The used clothing business grew out of informal loans that Johnson sometimes made to students. To help encourage repayment, Johnson often requested security in the form of pieces of clothing. In the 1860 census Johnson is listed as working in a clothing store, and this was shown as his main occupation until 1880.98

Johnson’s move from being a servant to being a vendor represented a substantial life change. He went from being a little-remarked figure in student writings and other publications to being regularly called out in print as a noteworthy part of life in town and on campus. His entrepreneurship placed him among a small but vibrant group of business-minded Princeton blacks that had captured Davison’s attention.

Besides changes in his work life, the years after Johnson’s trial also yielded changes in his personal life. One source notes that Johnson married four times.99 However, after the 1880 death of Catherine, records are silent about his marital status until 1895. Johnson married again in 1895, when he was almost seventy-nine, and his new wife, Anetta Webb Warden, was apparently in her fifties.100 The 1900 census record for Anetta Johnson shows her as having been born about 1851.101 But tracing Anetta Johnson back through census records shows that she was likely born Anetta Webb in Maryland on April 8, 1844.102 Her parents were Harrison Holmes Webb Sr. and Ann Webb, who were living in Columbia, Pennsylvania, in 1850. Some sources indicate that Harrison Holmes Webb Sr. was born in Pennsylvania in 1805, but the 1850 manuscript census lists Maryland as the birthplace of both Harrison and Ann Webb.103 Ann Webb was born in 1815.104 It is not clear whether they were born enslaved or free or whether they had attained the status of free blacks in Pennsylvania. While Pennsylvania began gradual emancipation of slavery in 1780, some blacks remained enslaved there until as late as 1847.105
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James Collins Johnson and a young man believed by some to be Archibald Campbell “Spader” Seruby circa 1895. Others suggest that this photo may have been of Johnson’s nephew, Alexander “Ting” Taylor. (Princeton University Mudd Archives, Historical Photograph Collection, Individuals Series [AC67], Box MP4.)

The Webbs lived in an independent household in Maryland, a slave state, in 1860, a fact that suggests that the family was free by that time.106 Harrison H. Webb was granted a license as a reader in the Episcopal Church in 1841 and was ordained as an Episcopal minister in 1854. He became the rector of St. James Church in Baltimore in that year.107 Webb was lauded as a self-made man who was a “fine scholar” and eminent theologian.108 By 1860 the Webb family was living in Baltimore.109 The Reverend Harrison Webb was listed in an 1872 Baltimore city directory as an assistant cashier at the National Freedmen’s Savings Bank.110 Harrison Webb apparently had some wealth at the end of his life; at his death in 1878 he left each of his three children $400 and each of his two grandchildren $100.111

The Webbs, or at least some of them, were apparently light-skinned mulattos. Although Harrison H. Webb Sr. and his wife and children were designated mulattos in the 1850 census, Anetta Johnson’s brother Harrison H. Webb Jr. and his wife and children are listed as white in the 1880 Baltimore census. Webb Jr. is listed as a music teacher or professor of music in the various census reports.

In the 1870s Anetta was married to Jordan Warden.112 He likely died sometime between 1880 and 1885. Anetta may have had no children with Jordan, as none are listed in her household in either 1870 or 1880. Although the 1900 census indicates that James Collins Johnson married Anetta in 1881, this is likely an error (or possibly Johnson’s mistaken reference to his marriage to an unidentified and unverified third wife). According to an 1885 Baltimore city directory, Anetta was living at 812 Low Street, listed as the widow of Jordan Warden.113 A dressmaker named Annette Warden was shown living at 812 Low Street in Baltimore as late as 1894.114 James Waddel Alexander, a brother of Johnson’s fugitive trial attorney, William Cowper Alexander, noted that Johnson “was married for the fourth [sic] time in 1895, at the age of seventy-eight, the bride being a resident of Baltimore.”115 A Baltimore Sun article indicates that Johnson was present in Baltimore in August 1895 for the first time since his escape from Maryland in 1839; he may have traveled there for his wedding to Anetta.116 In marrying so often, and in marrying at all, Johnson was like many other late nineteenth-century blacks who showed a high propensity for formal wedlock, despite having lived under the shadow of slavery and its often brutal aftermath.117 While Johnson’s last marriage likely signaled a high point in his private life, this was also a time of loss: his daughter Emily Johnson Sorter Gordon died on August 9, 1895, possibly while her father was away for his wedding.118

Johnson’s Public and Campus Life

Much of what was known about the public and campus life of James Collins Johnson and his interactions on campus in the years after his fugitive slave trial comes from students. Many of them saw him as a source of humor and frequently mocked him and framed him as the butt of jokes. Many student and alumni of Princeton spoke of “Jimmy” or “Jim_____” (leaving out the word stink) in their school scrapbooks, their letters home, and in recollections offered years after they graduated. Ridicule of Johnson even appeared in campus publications, such as in fictitious dialogues and cartoons published by an off-color student humor journal, the Nassau Rake. The Nassau Rake made fun of students, faculty, and staff alike, but found particular humor in mocking black staffers and envisioning them in embarrassing associations with students. For instance, in a June 1854 issue, a dialogue imagines Johnson being asked to dive into a latrine for the belongings of a student, with the accompanying cartoon showing a shirtless black man kneeling to well-dressed white men and tendering something, while the white men hold their noses.119 The cartoon is captioned: “Returns from fishing and presents Gans. with what he has caught.”120 An 1859 Nassau Rake article imagines that James Collins Johnson (called “Mr. Stink” in the article) is the partner of a Mr. Dimon, likely a student named David Foster Dimon, class of 1860.121 The pair are said to be engaged in a used clothing business, which was Johnson’s real life work, and they seek to “call the attention of the public generally, and the niggers especially” to their secondhand goods.122 Another student, Charles William Petrie, class of 1862, is referred to as the mulatto errand boy of Johnson.123

It was the practice of some Princeton students to prepare elaborate scrapbooks and essay collections memorializing their time at the college that included mementos of academic life such as exam notices, clippings from campus newspapers, personal notes, signatures, and drawings. Although such recollections were sometimes warm, other times they were derisive, especially when it came to Johnson and his habit of stuttering.124 There were also joking recollections of cheating Johnson, such as a jest titled “Stahl’s Speculation” aimed at Nicholas Frederick Stahl and A. A. Speer, members of the class of 1869:
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James Collins Johnson with student Babcock, circa 1892–1893. (Historical Photograph Collection: Individuals series, box AC067.SP001, folder 050.001; Princeton University Archives, Department of Rare Books and Special Collections, Princeton University Library.)

The immaculate Stahl, who always sports a white necktie in the coldest season, achieved the greatest triumph in economy this last winter that Nassau Hall has ever witnessed. Being in Speer’s room one day he picked up an old stove-pipe hat and asked Speer why he didn’t wear it. O, says he, I’ve just sold it to Jim Stink, for ten cents. “Thunder!” says he. “I’d have given you fifteen for it.” Speer, with his usual avarice, immediately closed with him, having no more manliness than to cheat a negro, and Stahl became the happy possessor of a fifteen cent hat.125

Another jest that featured parodies of want ads took aim at David John Ross Milligan of Philadelphia, a member of the class of 1871: Wanted—by Milligan—a chance to cheat a poor negro out of $25.”126 An asterisk next to the pretend advertisement noted: “Inquire of Jim Stink about that coat.”127
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Cartoon from a student journal, Nassau Rake, depicting James Collins Johnson as having dived into a latrine to retrieve a student’s belonging.

Through it all, Johnson seemed to have maintained an outward appearance of general affability. This may simply have been examples of his guileless, open demeanor. However, his sunny good humor may also have been an ironic subterfuge that Johnson used for pragmatic reasons such as gaining favor with or pacifying members of the heavily southern student body. Or he may have sought to obscure his underlying anger or sadness at the trying circumstances of his day-to-day life. Like countless blacks before and after him, he may have played the buffoon with steely-eyed intentionality. Although such behavior has long been described as playful mimicry carried on by blacks at leisure, closer examination suggests that such behavior frequently was part of an intentionally deployed ritual. The seemingly carefree merrymaking of blacks such as Johnson was sometimes part of a broadly shared but hidden process of transgression. Such transgressive, oppositional black public behavior functioned to obscure and hence protect the individuality of blacks who were constrained by dominant white power structures.128 The need for blacks like Johnson to dissemble regarding their true feelings was especially necessary as sectional tensions grew with the start of the Civil War.

Certainly the key national event in Johnson’s lifetime that affected his public standing was the Civil War and the subsequent emancipation of blacks throughout the country. The start of the Civil War brought substantial changes to the college. Because a large number of students were from the South, Princeton forbade public displays of sympathy among the students. Faculty were guarded about sharing their opinions about the war, and the college remained silent on its position on the war at the start of the conflict.129 This silence did little to quell student tension. Students fought, for example, over the display of the U.S. flag at the start of the Civil War.130 Most southern students supported the Confederate cause and withdrew from the college as the conflict progressed. And there was a good deal of sympathy regarding secession among the northern students.131

One northern student who held publicly pro-Confederate sympathies was seized from his bed by several pro-Union students and doused with water at the college water pump.132 This led to the suspension of the offending students.133 John Maclean, who by 1861 was president of the college, articulated the position of the college in a letter to the Newark Advertiser that the New York Times reprinted. Maclean wrote: “On the one hand, the Faculty will allow of no mobs among the students; and, on the other hand, they will not permit the utterance of sentiments denunciatory of those who are engaged in efforts to maintain the integrity of the National Government; nor will they allow of any public expression of sympathy with those who are endeavoring to destroy that Government.”134 Maclean’s letter aroused the ire of some students and townspeople who were concerned about the college’s failure to clearly state a pro-Union position.

Although the town of Princeton was largely pro-Union in its sympathies, some of its citizens were Confederate sympathizers. In some cases, citizens who were not expressly pro-Confederate became less supportive of Union goals when draft laws made some whites subject to Union military service. Blacks, who were not deemed citizens, were exempt from the draft. In March 1863 a federal draft law subjected all male U.S. citizens between the ages of twenty and thirty-five and all unmarried men between the ages of thirty-five and forty-five to military duty. Draftees could purchase their way out of the federal army by paying $300 for a substitute. One of the first large-scale drafts in the North began in New York City on July 11, 1863. It was conducted by a lottery drawing of the names of white working-class men whom local officials had gathered.135

This first New York City drawing took place without incident. However, on July 13, 1863, white working-class men gathered at the New York City office of the draft and began what was four days of white-on-black violence. Scores of black men, women, and children died as a result of mob and individual violence.136 Antiblack rioting spilled over to other towns and cities, including Staten Island and Jersey City, New Jersey.137 By mid- July 1863 it seemed possible that the draft riots would spread to Princeton. According to one account, some of the Irish workers on a section of the railroad at Penn’s Neck, New Jersey, left their work, gathered in Princeton, and threatened violence against Princeton blacks and local white families whom they believed were in favor of the draft.138 Fearing an assault, town leaders collected muskets stored in a town building and secured them at the College of New Jersey. An observer at the time suggested that large-scale violence was avoided in Princeton for two reasons. First, heavy rain made outdoor gatherings difficult to sustain. Second, and perhaps foremost, a “well-known and courageous colored man” stated that if the Irish began an assault on Princeton blacks, the blacks would in turn set fire to every Irish house in the town.139 Although is not clear who this “courageous colored man” was, it was likely not James Collins Johnson, given the nature of his work and his need to remain in good stead with the white community. But even if Johnson did not actively lead the black community in such matters, his quieter presence likely helped to steady the volatile climate.

Just as Johnson apparently took a more reserved role in town and gown issues between blacks and whites during the Civil War, he similarly held no active role in the war itself. Although even free blacks were not subject to the draft, about fifty Princeton blacks joined the Union Army. At least four of these men died during their service, including one man, Joe Oncque, who died while bearing the flag in battle.140 James Collins Johnson was not a member of the military. He was forty-seven years old when other black men from Princeton began joining the Union army in 1863. This would have made him two years older than the maximum age of forty-five for entering the military.141 It may still have been possible for Johnson to enlist, as recruiters routinely accepted volunteers who were over age or who did not strictly meet other qualifications.142 However, Johnson may have been reluctant to go to war. By the early 1860s he had come into his own in many ways. He and his second wife, Catherine, were the parents of a daughter, and they owned their own home. He no longer did the onerous work of a campus building servant and instead worked selling used clothes and furniture and foodstuffs. While his work was still no doubt rigorous, he had more independence and control over his working conditions than he likely did at any other time in his life.

In addition to the Civil War, there were other events of note in the 1860s in Princeton that may have affected Johnson. One incident involved one of the most sensational murders in the history of the town. On November 13, 1862, Charles Lewis, an itinerant white confidence man, killed James Rowland, a watchmaker and jeweler who kept a shop on Nassau Street near Witherspoon Street, not far from Johnson’s home. On that day, as Rowland headed to his own residence on Witherspoon Street after closing up his shop, Lewis waylaid him and apparently beat him to death, leaving his body in the Princeton Cemetery very near Johnson’s Witherspoon Street home. The inquest featured several “colored” witnesses, all residents of the town of Princeton: Peter Lane, Anna Johnson (apparently no relation to James Collins Johnson), Samuel Little, Charles Wycoff, and Moses Cudjo.143 This incident caused whites and blacks in the town to close ranks against an outside assailant without immediate regard to race. Though it did not eliminate the town’s racial barriers, it was a reminder that all members of the small town depended heavily on each other for safety and well-being.

Even a decade after the Civil War, there remained stark social divides between blacks and whites at the college and in the town of Princeton. For one thing, although Harvard graduated a black student in 1870, and Yale did so in 1857, Princeton was among the last of elite colleges to have blacks as undergraduate students.144 The first known black students to receive an undergraduate degree at Princeton, John Howard and Arthur Jewell Wilson, graduated in 1947.145 Students at the college during the 1860s and 1870s were at times vociferous about their unwillingness to welcome blacks as fellow students even well after the Civil War. In one incident in 1876, a black student from the Princeton Theological Seminary entered the undergraduate philosophy class of college president James McCosh and took a seat.146 The incident, described as “a serious crisis,” caused the students in the class to stand and leave the room.147 The incident gave rise to a poem that was published in the Princetonian newspaper a short time thereafter:

We repeat the remark,

And our language is squ-ah

That a man which is dark

And has kinks in his hai-ah

Isn’t coming to college with “we” “uns”

And “we” “uns” consent to be there.148

The attitude of Princeton on the admission of blacks remained fixed even at the dawn of the twentieth century, near the end of Johnson’s life, and in the years immediately thereafter. As the sociologist W. E. B. Du Bois noted in a study on the education of blacks, Princeton was one of several eastern colleges that had no black undergraduates.149 Du Bois quoted a letter written to him by a Princeton administrator:

We have never had any colored students here, though there is nothing in the university statutes to prevent their admission. It is possible, however, in view of our proximity to the South, and the large number of Southern students here, that negro students would find Princeton less comfortable than some other institutions; but I may be wrong in this, as the trial has never been made. There is, as I say, nothing in the laws of the college to prevent their admission.150

One interesting exception to Princeton’s intolerance of blacks in the classroom at the college was Alexander Dumas Watkins, a black man who served as an instructor in several courses at the college from 1895 until his death in 1903. Watkins’s background is somewhat unclear; according to some sources, he was first employed at the college as an assistant to William Libbey, a professor of physical geography.151 Watkins proved so adept at the work that he was allowed to tutor what one news source described as “the less intelligent students in histology.”152 He eventually became a classroom instructor and served in that capacity for eight years.153 Before arriving in Princeton, it appears that Watkins worked at Bellevue Hospital in New York, where he was described as a “colored servant” whom Libbey took to Princeton.154 Watkins apparently showed himself to be highly capable at Bellevue also. One description of Watkins stated that “the colored servant at Bellevue, Alexander Dumas Watkins, watched Welch inject so many cadavers that, until officially restrained, he sent off notices to undertakers offering instruction in embalming in the manner of Dr. Welch.”155 Watkins was described by one person as “the brightest negro in Princeton.”156 He remained, nonetheless, a rare exception to what was a policy of racial division on campus.

Black-white relations in and near the town of Princeton remained just as polarized as those on campus, even near the end of Johnson’s life. This was seen in April 1887, when twenty-five-year-old Cornelius Van Tilbergh, the white son of a prosperous farmer in nearby Rocky Hill, New Jersey, eloped to Princeton with his twenty-year-old black bride, Lizzie Simmons.157 Interracial marriage was not illegal in New Jersey at the time; New Jersey is one of three of the thirteen original colonies to never have had an antimiscegenation law.158 In the years before interracial marriage was sanctioned in the United States, whites sometimes passed as black or allowed inquirers to assume that they were black in order to avoid the legal and social difficulties involved with marrying blacks. Similarly, some light-skinned people of African ancestry passed as white in some towns or at various times in their lives (as some members of the family of Johnson’s wife, Anetta Webb, had) in order to live in better neighborhoods or obtain better jobs. Although in Princeton and other New Jersey towns black-white intermarriage was not illegal, interracial couples involved in such marriages often faced severe social sanction.

William Drew Robeson, the father of Paul Robeson, apparently performed the marriage ceremony of Tilbergh and Simmons, though he is referred to as a “colored” minister named “Robinson” in some reports. Robeson was the minister of the Witherspoon Presbyterian Church from 1880 until 1901. The church was located near Johnson’s Witherspoon Street house. Some residents of their Rocky Hill community were especially incensed and had threatened to tar and feather Van Tilbergh, but ultimately calm prevailed. In the 1900 federal census, Van Tilbergh, his wife, and all their children are described as black.159 By 1910 Lizzie had died and Van Tilbergh was once again described as white, although his only child then at home was described as mulatto.160

Despite social disapprobation, blacks and whites married and/or produced children together with some frequency in and near Princeton. A substantial number of the persons listed in federal census reports in Princeton in the mid–nineteenth century are described as mulattos. One area near Princeton, Sourland Mountain, much of which is part of what is now Somerset County, New Jersey, was especially noteworthy for the amount of black-white mixing that occurred there.161 Although contemporary histories of Sourland Mountain and surrounding areas often note the presence of early Native Americans, few describe the mixed-race black-white communities in the region that began in the 1700s. Many of these mixed-race persons owned land and conducted businesses that were handed down for decades.

Some observers decried this racial intermingling and alleged that it began when “promiscuous” black women from the Sourland Mountain area who operated as vendors or as domestic workers in Princeton had sexual relations with white men in the town.162 Many Sourland Mountain women lived and worked in Princeton.163 A black resident of Sourland Mountain who was interviewed in the 1880s explained the large number of mixed-race people in the area by stating that Sourland Mountain black women were often impregnated by white men while they worked in Princeton. He suggested that the interactions were not always consensual and that the women’s assailants were “white trash.” Some of them were Princeton students, he asserted.164

Black women were sometimes the butt of Princeton students’ salacious jokes and comments. Some sources suggest that Princeton students sometimes went even further and engaged in sexual relationships with area black women. A cartoon published in an 1853 issue of the Nassau Rake alludes to such interest among the students. In the cartoon, two white male figures compare the looks of (apparently white) women in Alabama with those in New Jersey, and find New Jersey women lacking. One figure comments, as they look at a dark-skinned woman passing: “But I’ll be darned if there ain’t some right good looking niggar [sic] gals here, ain’t they?”165 Members of Johnson’s family were not exempt from such ribaldry. In an 1858 issue of the Nassau Rake, an extended joke article envisions the writer as a white man named James McDougal who is “the brother-in-law of Jim Stink,” meaning that the man is married to a black woman.166 The article goes on to end: “Give my love to my wife, and also to that dear child—Who is a father’s pet and a mother’s joy, a darling little nigger boy.”167

Another incident that cast a pall over the Princeton campus and town, and fractured relations between blacks and whites near the end of Johnson’s life, was the 1895 killing of a Princeton student. In June 1895 John Collins, a young black man from the town of Princeton, killed Frederick Ohl, then a Princeton freshman. Collins was apparently no relation to James Collins Johnson; he was said to have appeared in Princeton in late 1894, and did odd jobs around the town.168 A black man named Stephen Downes, who was not indicted for the killing of Ohl, apparently accompanied Collins during the incident.169

The trial itself and the period leading up to it were a national spectacle, as young, wealthy white women with no connection to the trial made the trip from New York City and Philadelphia to Trenton to attend the proceedings.170 John Collins, who faced threats of lynching in the aftermath of Ohl’s killing, was ultimately convicted of second-degree murder and sentenced to twenty years’ hard labor. The death of Ohl and the subsequent trial of Collins quieted relations between whites and blacks for more than a decade. Students acted to form a boycott of Princeton blacks, with a goal of employing only blacks who had lived in Princeton at least three years. This, it was hoped, would drive many black newcomers from the town.171 Though James Collins Johnson was by this time in no danger of being taken for a newcomer in Princeton, he likely felt the pressure of heightened white enmity against blacks in the town. This ill will stemming from the death of Ohl persisted for decades. Collins was freed in 1909 after serving fourteen years as a model prisoner. Though a news article noted that Collins had been an exemplary prisoner and had learned the shoemaking trade in prison, both of which contributed to his early release, it was also observed that the killing of Ohl was still fresh in the minds of area residents.172
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Cartoon from a student journal, Nassau Rake, depicting two white men commenting on the attractiveness of black women in Princeton.

Johnson Near the End of His Life

Johnson had settled into what appeared to be a steady pattern of entrepreneurial endeavors at the start of the last decade of his life. He and his wife, Anetta, were proprietors of a boarding house on Witherspoon Street in 1892.173 In a letter dated September 16, 1892, Frank Howard Braislin, a member of the Princeton class of 1894, wrote to an unidentified person encouraging him to try Johnson’s establishment at 32 Witherspoon Street.174 Noting that it was his preferred lodging in Princeton, Braislin wrote: “It is a place well known to me, and has a fair man, in desire and principle I think, if not in color, for a landlord and proprietor—and is a good one. His name, on the campus, is ‘Aromatic James’: but his house is a good one, to my knowledge and testatorship.”175 Though Braislin clearly thinks well of Johnson and his wife as business people, he nonetheless manages to include insulting references to Johnson’s race and his old nickname, “Jim Stink.” But while Johnson and his wife were conducting a well-regarded business in 1892, by 1896 Johnson had apparently fallen on hard times. A May 16, 1896, article from the Princeton Press included a plea for charitable contributions that would go to pay Johnson’s rent.176 Three citizens of Princeton, two of whom were graduates of the college, spearheaded the collections: Augustus Macdonald, class of 1862; John Wesley Fielder Jr., class of 1887; and Joseph S. Schank.177 A few years later, the Johnsons were apparently no longer boarding house proprietors; the 1900 census shows that Johnson and Anetta and several members of Anetta’s family were living at 77 Witherspoon Street in Princeton in a rented house.178 It is not clear what became of the property at 32 Witherspoon Street. It is possible that the property was sold or, worse, taken for taxes, a fate that befell at least one other elderly black Princeton resident in the early twentieth century, Richard “Uncle” Dicky Redding.179

With Johnson’s advancing age came infirmity, and this may have meant that money was in short supply. Anetta may have worked to support the family as a dressmaker during this period.180 Still, even in his later years, Johnson remained a vital part of the black community. During the last few years of his life Johnson lived across the street from the young Paul Robeson on Witherspoon Street. Johnson was approaching eighty-two years old at the time of Robeson’s birth in April 1898. The great age difference between the two suggests that Johnson may have had few interactions with Paul Robeson, who became a famed intellectual, activist, actor, and singer. There is, however, documentation showing interactions between members of the Johnson household and members of the Robeson household. Alexander “Ting” Taylor, one of Anetta Johnson’s nephews, who lived in the house at 77 Witherspoon in 1900, indicated that his family was closely acquainted with and knowledgeable about the Robeson household, according to interviews Taylor gave to a Robeson biographer.181 The interactions between the Robeson household and the Johnson household were in keeping with what has been described as the strong cohesiveness of the Princeton black community during the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. The proximity of the households and the fact that William Drew Robeson was the minister of Witherspoon Presbyterian Church, the oldest and largest black church in town, made it likely that there would have been a sustained relationship between the families.182

The boldness and flamboyance that characterized Johnson in his earlier decades in Princeton gave way to a quieter, more humble demeanor. As one student from the class of 1886 recalled, Johnson was by the late 1800s “small, shabby, insignificant, but not deserving of his malodorous sobriquet, Jim Stink.”183 And though Johnson was “always there and in his day a pattern of industry and humility,” by the 1880s some students on campus did not know his real name or where he lived.184 Johnson’s financial struggles and lower profile may have been the result of broader economic woes felt throughout the country and across racial groups. A depression in the 1870s, and a subsequent economic crisis during the 1890s, affected millions of workers.185 While this general environment of financial instability may have contributed to Johnson’s plight near the end of his life, a larger contributing factor was likely that he had grown old and feeble and could no longer work with the same vigor that had characterized his younger days. Although Johnson was ever present on campus until close to the end of his life, he was much reduced in strength in his last years. As one observer wrote, Johnson could be seen:

down at the Varsity grounds when the big games are on, you may see his stooping figure moving slowly through the crowd; and when the game is over, he returns to the campus, his wheelbarrow shamefully despoiled of its wares; and now and then he stops in the dusty road in his characteristic way until he can regain his breath and pluck up the courage to go on.186

Moreover, while Johnson had a younger wife whose labor might have helped support the couple, near the eve of his death he apparently had no living or nearby children, and no grandchildren, who could have assisted him. Formerly enslaved people like Johnson often depended heavily on kinship frameworks for support in their least productive years.187 Exacerbating the problems of a poor economy, old age, and an absence of younger supporting family members were the effects of ongoing racial discrimination on Johnson and other blacks in Princeton.

Life for Princeton blacks near the end of the nineteenth century and at the beginning of the twentieth century differed little from some of the antebellum conditions. As Paul Robeson noted in a speech he made in the 1940s that recalled his early life in Princeton: “Almost every Negro in Princeton lived off the college and accepted the social status that went with it. We lived for all intents and purposes on a Southern plantation. And with no more dignity than that suggests—all the bowing and scraping to the drunken rich, all the vile names, all the Uncle Tomming to earn enough to lead miserable lives.”188 Although public officials boasted that at the beginning of the twentieth century there were no publicly supported paupers in Princeton, the black community often suffered particular economic and social ills.189 James Collins Johnson saw many changes over the sixty years he lived and worked in the town of Princeton. But two things changed little from the 1830s to the early 1900s: blacks and whites rarely worked in conditions of equality, and while they sometimes lived in proximity to one another, they remained separate in virtually every social setting.

An interesting exception to the persistent separation between whites and blacks in town and campus life was the case of Belle Da Costa Greene, a light-skinned black woman who came to Princeton around 1901. Greene, who passed as white, worked at the university library until 1905, when she became librarian to J. P. Morgan. In addition to adopting a white identity at work, Greene lived with white (or apparently white) housemates and socialized extensively with undergraduates and with white town society.190 Later in her life she boasted that had she remained in Princeton, she might have married a Princeton man.191 Born Belle Marion Greener in Washington, D.C., on November 26, 1879, Greene spent much of her childhood there before moving to New York City. She was the child of two mixed-raced parents of social prominence: her mother, Genevieve Ida Fleet, was a member of a well-known family in Washington, while her father, Richard Theodore Greener, was a lawyer. Greener served as dean of the Howard University School of Law and was the first black student at and the first black to graduate from Harvard in 1870.192 After her parents separated, Belle, her mother, and her siblings passed as white, starting with changing their surname to obscure their background. In an effort to feign Dutch ancestry, Genevieve Ida Fleet often claimed that her middle name was Van Vliet.193 Genevieve Fleet also used the maiden name Da Costa; Belle Greener used this as her middle name, claiming Portuguese ancestry.194 This was a common ploy passing blacks used to explain their dark coloring.195 Belle Da Costa Greene, like Johnson, had substantial interaction with white Princeton. But Greene, unlike Johnson, was able to cross the bridge between the two races and dwell permanently on the white side of the breach.

Johnson died on July 22, 1902, leaving a Princeton that, while much different from the town he had encountered in 1839, remained much the same in terms of how the college operated and how social life was conducted in town. Johnson’s death was covered by journals well outside Princeton, in much the same way that his 1843 fugitive slave trial had been covered by publications beyond the small town of Princeton.196 Some alumni offered recollections immediately after Johnson’s death and even for decades thereafter.197 As Anna Bustill Smith wrote, Johnson was “ever affectionately regarded by the students.”198 Some of the students and alumni memorialized that fond feeling with a granite tombstone mounted on his grave in the Princeton Cemetery.199 On the tombstone, Johnson is called “the students’ friend.”200 But however dear Johnson may have been to town and gown, at the time of his death, he and the town’s black community remained outside the mainstream of white life.

Johnson’s wife, Anetta, survived him. She is shown in the 1910 census as a widowed dressmaker living with her sister Clara Webb.201 Anetta retained her social status in Princeton’s black community. Bustill, in her chronicle of some of Princeton’s notable blacks, observed that Johnson’s widow “was a woman of fine presence, cultured and refined.”202 Anetta, apparently the last surviving member of Johnson’s immediate family (neither Bustill nor any other accounts written later in Johnson’s life or after his death reference any direct descendants), died in 1913, bringing to a close Johnson’s private life.203
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Conclusion

His [James Collins Johnson’s] history is part of the history of our country.

—James Waddel Alexander, Princeton—Old and New: Recollections of Undergraduate Life

A key objective of this book is to look at the story of James Collins Johnson in a way that attempts to explore, expose, and ultimately to give a clearer picture of Johnson on his own terms. Johnson lived long, and at times, he lived well. And though Johnson spent more of his life as a free (or ostensibly free) man than he did as an enslaved man, the memory of slavery, with its “pain, loss, silence, denial, and endurance,” likely hung over him for all of his long life.1 There is a tendency to historicize African-ancestored slavery as an institution frozen in time and of limited reach, instead of framing it as a remembrance of a series of ongoing events with very real, harsh consequences for enslaved black people and for their descendants. The treatment of African-ancestored people during slavery and in its aftermath is more than a part of a somber past. African women, children, and men were removed from their homes and introduced into a system of bondage that was violent and capricious and deprived them of the essence of their humanity: freedom in the present and hope for and opportunity in the future. And this deprivation is part of history, memory, presence, and future.

Johnson lived to become a revered figure in his waning years. I have seen photos of a hale and hearty James Collins Johnson (or Jimmy, as I came to think of him fondly) at age forty-five and photos of him in his seventies, looking a bit less hearty but still strong, bemused, and even defiant. I feel as if I am communicating with him through the photos. It is a bit frightening, as many of the old photos seem to capture parts of his very soul—it is no wonder that some “primitive” peoples don’t like photos or like to control how they are taken. (I feel the same way, perhaps for much the same reason—I have to be ready and willing to “give” something of myself to a photo and I don’t like most depictions of myself; I never have.)

Creating a bridge between the history and the memory of slavery poses a number of problems. Perhaps most prominent among those problems is to avoid judging a slave past that in some measures defies critique by its very historicity: the nineteenth century is not the twenty-first century. It is at best facile and misguided to employ the norms that guide us today when assessing the period of slavery. Nonetheless, African-ancestored slavery and its aftermath remain a searing memory that scorches the fabric of modernity, thereby meriting ongoing attention. The notion of people as property makes manifest Pierre Nora’s notion of lieux de mémoires, disparate sites where “memory crystallizes and secretes itself.”2 While Nora envisions such sites as places, concepts, or objects that symbolize the past of a community, in the case of slavery, the bodies of enslaved black men, women, and children are themselves sites of memory. James Collins Johnson is one such compelling site of memory.

This book looks outside the center of what is known about slavery in the town of Princeton and at Princeton University during the antebellum period in much the same way that a viewer of a painting or photograph looks outside the center of the intended visual frame to gain a new perspective on the entire image. James Collins Johnson is a historical figure whose role in making history and shaping memory is perhaps just as large as that of the renowned people he served.

While this book tells a great deal about Johnson, it does so not just by coloring in the faint outline of Johnson that has been left by history and public memory but also by sketching in the background in which Johnson appears: the Maryland enslavement into which he was born and spent his early life; the antebellum New Jersey setting to which he escaped, including the town of Princeton and Princeton University as it neared the end of its centennial; the betrayal of Johnson and the people who played a role in both his capture and redemption; and the many decades of Johnson’s life in Princeton after his trial.

Johnson’s fuller biography offers insight into slavery and social relations between blacks and whites in the United States, in the Mid-Atlantic states and New Jersey, in the town of Princeton, and at the College of New Jersey. Besides offering a social history, an examination of Johnson’s life offers a look at how the laws of slavery sometimes functioned. As some scholars have noted, slavery was a regime of formal and informal governance. Slavery functioned through a dynamic and potent rule regime that was created and maintained through informal social rules that worked in tandem with narrowly prescribed formal legal frames. James Collins Johnson’s early life of allegedly easygoing, casual relations with his enslavers and the stark and harrowing formality of Johnson’s fugitive slave trial exemplify slavery’s dual nature of informality and formality.

James Collins Johnson, like Princeton University, is also a site of memory.3 This book shows Johnson as a vital figure of wider import by exposing many previously unknown details of his life. Johnson carried memories of slavery in the Mid-Atlantic and in the northern United States and memories of justice and law more broadly. Perhaps the most striking memories Johnson carried were the memories of antebellum Princeton, both the town and the university. Johnson is in many respects a symbol of the glorious patrimony of Princeton and of the alumni, some illustrious, some little-known, who interacted with Johnson as students, eagerly sought him out when they returned as alumni, and fondly recalled him even long after his death. In the body of James Collins Johnson, in life and in death, founding myths of the university reside. As one former Princeton student wrote of Johnson: “His history is part of the history of our country.”4

As noted at the beginning of this book, the contemporary Princeton University has made efforts to address historic inequities in the form of efforts at recognition and reconciliation. Nonetheless, a crucial r-word is missing from such efforts: reparations. While a number of colleges and universities, Princeton included, have joined the movement to interrogate their institutions’ engagement with slavery, the move to consider whether and what reparations are due, and to whom, is likely for many a bridge too far. There has been some discussion of apologies and even of forms of reparations at some universities. In October 2018 the University of North Carolina made news when, during an event celebrating its 225th birthday, Chancellor Carol L. Folt offered a formal apology for the university’s involvement in slavery.5 While the chancellor indicated that the University of North Carolina is committed to “facing squarely and working to right the wrongs of history so they are never again inflicted,” there was no indication of what concrete steps would be taken in the future, or if reparations would be included. Alfred Brophy notes that one school, Brown University, discussed reparations in a report on its involvement with slavery, but as yet there has been no concrete action in this regard.6 Perhaps the clearest movement toward actual reparations that any U.S. educational institution has undertaken is seen in Georgetown University’s offer of free tuition for the narrow class descendants of persons enslaved by Georgetown in the nineteenth century.7 George town students also weighed in on the issue. In a nonbinding referendum, undergraduates at Georgetown voted to raise their tuition by $27.20 per student per semester in order to benefit descendants of the 272 enslaved Africans that the Jesuits who ran the school sold in 1838.8 One university outside the United States, the University of Glasgow, has committed to reparatory payments. Glasgow has agreed to pay the University of the West Indies 200 million pounds in view of the wealth that was extracted from Jamaica by Jamaican enslavers and others who made the University of Glasgow their university of choice.9 This type of explicit reparational payment may be, however, difficult for some U.S. administrators, faculty, alumni and students to embrace.

Princeton, like many other colleges and universities, has started a conversation on slavery that in many cases serves as an acknowledgment of culpability for harms to people like James Collins Johnson and others who labored on campuses in slavery or slavery-like conditions. But as Alfred Brophy notes, there has almost grown to be a fashion in admitting involvement with slavery, since schools examining their own engagements with slavery are often those venerable enough to have existed during the period of antebellum enslavement in the United States.10 It is one thing to say mea culpa, I am guilty, to the classes of individuals harmed by Princeton’s and other universities’ involvement with slavery and its aftermath. It is quite another to say debitor sum—I am indebted. For this we must wait.
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